
NOTICE

OF

MEETING

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
will meet on

MONDAY, 9TH NOVEMBER, 2020

At 6.15 pm

by

VIRTUAL MEETING - ONLINE ACCESS ON RBWM YOUTUBE

TO: MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

COUNCILLORS CHRISTINE BATESON (CHAIRMAN), LYNNE JONES (VICE-
CHAIRMAN), JULIAN SHARPE, JOHN STORY AND SIMON WERNER 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS
COUNCILLORS SIMON BOND, JOHN BOWDEN, WISDOM DA COSTA, 
GREG JONES AND SHAMSUL SHELIM

Karen Shepherd – Head of Governance - Issued: 30th October 2020

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 
web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator Mark Beeley 01628 796345 / 

mark.beeley@rbwm.gov.uk

Recording of Meetings – In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the Part I (public) section of the 
virtual meeting will be streamed live and recorded via Zoom. By participating in the meeting by audio and/or video, 
you are giving consent to being recorded and acknowledge that the recording will be in the public domain.

If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to Democratic Services or Legal representative 
at the meeting.

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/WindsorMaidenhead/videos
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
mailto:mark.beeley@rbwm.gov.uk


AGENDA

PART I
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.
 

-

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest.
 

5 - 6

3.  MINUTES

To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 14th September 2020.
 

7 - 14

4.  MID YEAR TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE

To note and approve the Treasury Management Update.
 

15 - 26

5.  DRAFT TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY & PRUDENTIAL 
INDICATOR REPORT 2021/22

To make comments on the above titled item.
 

27 - 46

6.  DRAFT CAPITAL STRATEGY 2021/22 - 2025/26

To note the above titled item.
 

47 - 60

7.  KEY RISK REPORT

To consider the report.
 

To 
Follow

8.  2020/21 INTERIM AUDIT AND INVESTIGATION PROGRESS 
REPORT

To consider the Progress Report for the period up to 30 September 2020.
 

61 - 76

9.  EFFECTIVENESS OF AUDIT COMMITTEES

To consider the CIPFA report on effectiveness of Audit Committees.
 

77 - 164

10.  WORK PROGRAMME

To consider the Committee’s work programme for the remainder of the 
Municipal year.

To include consideration of items scheduled on the Cabinet Forward Plan.
 

165 - 166

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=132&RD=0&bcr=1




This page is intentionally left blank



 
MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS  

 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to 
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.   
 
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not 
take part in the discussion or vote at a meeting. The speaking time allocated for Members to make 
representations is at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting.  In order to avoid any accusations of taking 
part in the discussion or vote, after speaking, Members should move away from the panel table to a public area 
or, if they wish, leave the room.  If the interest declared has not been entered on to a Members’ Register of 
Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in 
carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been 
fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the 
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 
A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx. 
As soon as we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the 
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
 
Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so 
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s 
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.   
 
A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations in the item: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as 
we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the public area for 
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Personal interests 
 
Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a 
Member when making a decision on council matters.  
 

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x 
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, I will take part in the discussion and vote on the 
matter. 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

MONDAY, 14 SEPTEMBER 2020

PRESENT: Councillors Christine Bateson (Chairman), John Bowden, Lynne Jones 
(Vice-Chairman), Julian Sharpe and Simon Werner

Also in attendance: Councillors Gurpreet Bhangra, Simon Bond, Jon Davey, David 
Hilton, Andrew Johnson, Helen Price, Samantha Rayner, Shamsul Shelim and Donna 
Stimson

Officers: Mark Beeley, David Cook, Catherine Hickman, Andrew Moulton, Russell 
O'Keefe, Barbara Richardson, Duncan Sharkey, Adele Taylor and Andrew Vallance

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Councillor Story, Councillor Bowden attended the meeting as 
substitute.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received.

DRAFT STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

Adele Taylor, Director of Resources, explained that the accounts included the period up until 
31st March 2020. The report gave an indication of where RBWM was, while the accounts had 
been published on the website since early August so that the public could inspect them. 
Deloitte, the external auditors, had also provided an update at the end of the report.

Andrew Vallance, Head of Finance, said that RBWM had been rated to provide high quality 
services whilst providing one of the lowest council tax bands outside London. Overspend was 
mainly due to parking shortages and a decline in parking income, while revenue and benefits 
had overspend due to Covid and the need for additional housing benefits. There had been an 
increased cost of temporary accommodation and RBWM had received grants totalling £8 
million, with around £1 million of this being used to cover the costs of Covid. In the general 
fund, money was moved from the budget into the reserves, RBWM had to take money out of 
the reserves last year to balance the budget.

On the expenditure statements, there had been a revaluation as there had been a change in 
the fair value of investment properties. Every three years, the pension fund was reviewed and 
this year the fund had been reviewed; there was a slight improvement as a result. Short term 
borrowing had increased to cover and fund the capital programme while there had been a 
positive increase in cash flow, which had increased to over £7 million.

Councillor L Jones raised a number of points, she said that in the report it was claimed that 
74% residents were satisfied but the last survey was conducted in 2018. There was lot of 
narrative about the 19/20 financial year, but she was interested to know how RBWM would 
have got to this point without Covid. She asked how much the grant was and how this had 
affected cash flow. Councillor Jones noted that RBWM was its own insurer and whether this 
meant that the figures detailing this in the report were a risk. Councillor Jones also queried 
about risk assessments; how each risk was managed, the processes and procedures, and 
how does a risk come about.

7

Agenda Item 3



Adele Taylor said that she would check the date regarding the resident satisfaction survey. 
For Covid, it was about understanding the impact and the need to identify the significant 
effects it would have on future finances. The Medium Term Financial Plan was being revised 
and once this was complete it would form part of the accounts. There were a number of claims 
outstanding on the insurance but RBWM would not necessarily pay out in these areas. An 
item on Risk Management would be coming to the next meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee.

Andrew Vallance said that RBWM had insurance for high value losses, which did defer some 
risk. Ruth Watkins, Chief Accountant, said that the first Covid grant had been received in-year, 
with £1.8 million of that grant being spent.

Adele Taylor said that revaluations happened on a regular basis and that she would be happy 
to do a briefing note on how revaluations worked.

Councillor L Jones asked if it would also be possible to have a note on RBWM waste and also 
if Panel members were able to see the accounts before they were published.

Councillor Sharpe asked what checks were in place to ensure that improvements were 
happening.

He was informed that budget monitoring reports would be going to Cabinet regularly and 
officers would be looking at ways to improve how the accounts were presented as they 
wanted them to be as easy to understand and accessible as possible. Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny would see the progress being made on the CIPFA action plan. Adele Taylor 
passed on her thanks to the team who had put together the Statement of Accounts for all their 
hard work. She also thanked the external auditors for their work and the robust working 
relationship.

Councillor Shape further asked if officers were receiving information in a timely manner and on 
a regular basis. Adele Taylor said that they were and that she hoped that officers would 
providing the information to Members in a good way.

Councillor Werner said that Covid was an issue for the last month of the accounts but formed 
a big part of them. He was interested to know what position the accounts would be in without 
the impact of Covid. The new waste contract had recently been implemented and there had 
been a number of issues, but Councillor Werner did not believe this had been reflected in the 
accounts. Savings were required as there were no reserves after last year’s budget and three 
blank boxes were part of the report, he asked if they would have been negative figures. 
Regarding the budget, he said that it was a ‘big mountain’ to sort and asked if officers felt that 
the levels proposed were achievable.

Adele Taylor said that the blank boxes were due to the Medium Term Financial Strategy being 
revised and that the updated version would be included in the final accounts. It was not going 
to be easy to find savings but a comprehensive spending review would be happening to see 
where these savings could happen. Regarding the waste contract, Adele Taylor said that she 
could not comment on the contract but it fell under the current financial year and the accounts 
that the Committee were looking at were for the previous financial year.

Councillor Bhangra joined the meeting.

Councillor Price said that she understood the RBWM Property Company was not included in 
the accounts as it was its own separate subsidiary. She said that she did not understand why 
investment income from the company was not part of the RBWM accounts.

Adele Taylor explained that the property company was separate and had its own set of 
accounts as a result. Regarding the question of why it was not part of the accounts, she said 

8



that it depended on the size of the company and RBWM Property Company did not have a 
high enough turnover to be part of the accounts.

Councillor Hilton, Lead Member for Finance and Ascot, said that Covid costs had been offset 
at the start of the year. Financial difficulties were mostly associated with the loss of income but 
he believed that without the impact of Covid, the financial positon of RBWM would be better.

Councillor L Jones disagreed with these comments and said that she did not think RBWM 
would have been in a good position, it would be in a better position but she would not regard it 
as good.

The Committee then considered the update from the external auditors on the accounts. 
Jonathan Gooding, Deloitte, explained that the audit was ongoing with the deadline set for 
completion by the end of November. A good proportion of the work had been completed, but 
the pension fund side was less progressed as there had been issues receiving information 
due to the current situation.

Councillor L Jones said that Committee members needed to have training around the pension 
fund as she did not know where to go when she required some answers on this area. Adele 
Taylor said that training or a briefing on the pension fund could be provided.

Councillor Hilton said that a paper would be coming to the next Berkshire Pension Fund 
Panel. Councillor Sharpe, who chaired the Panel, said that it would be good to understand 
more about the pension fund, how it works and also how it was governed.

Councillor Bowden asked if the pension fund was amalgamated. Councillor Hilton explained 
that there were two schemes, with the Berkshire pension fund managed by LPB.

Councillor Rayner, Deputy Leader of the Council and Lead Member for Resident & Leisure 
Services, HR, IT, Legal, Performance Management & Windsor, said that there were 30 to 40 
funds with outstanding queries and asked if this was normal.

Jonathan Gooding said that it was a combination of factors that had caused this, he had 
hoped that progress would be further than what it is but outstanding issues would be 
completed within the next few weeks.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY; That the Audit and Governance Committee noted the 
report.

2019/20 AUDIT AND INVESTIGATION ANNUAL REPORT 

Andrew Moulton, Assistant Director of Governance at Wokingham Borough Council, explained 
that the report would normally come earlier in the year but it was important to consider with the 
accounts. There was a shared audit service between RBWM and WBC, which provided audit 
services across the two councils. Andrew Moulton hoped for a positive relationship with the 
committee so that the service could continually improve.

Catherine Hickman, Lead Specialist Audit and Investigation, explained that the report 
summarised the work of the Shared Audit and Investigation Service (SAIS) for the 2019/20 
financial year. The purpose of the report was for the Head of Internal Audit to report annually 
on the council’s internal control framework. The report summarised the key headlines arising 
from work during the year and Appendix A(I) listed the audits undertaken to form the overall 
opinion, the position of the audits at 31 March, the audit opinions given and with those audits 
falling into the second lowest category of audit opinion being summarised in the main report. 
Catherine Hickman summarised the work of investigations which included a successful 
proactive Business Rate/Exemption Relief exercise where over £174k was identified as being 
billable to the charge payer. A recent Regulation of Investigatory Powers Inspection by the 
Investigatory Power’s Commissioners Office resulted in a positive outcome for the council.  A 

9



review of the SAIS’s conformance with their professional body’s Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS), undertaken by CIPFA in 2018 resulted in the Service achieving the 
highest category of opinion and this had been maintained through annual self-assessments 
against the Standards. The recommendation for members to consider was to note the 
progress that had been made in achieving the 2019/20 Audit and Investigation Plan.

A resident had requested to speak on the item. Mr Hill noted that there had no instances of 
fraud or irregularity but asked what would a member of staff or resident do if they suspected 
fraud.

Catherine Hickman explained that there was a whistleblowing process in place which was 
there to be used if it was needed.

Councillor L Jones asked if there was a timetable for the actions that were outstanding on full 
compliance with the PSIAS. Regarding the audit plan, she asked if it was the right mix and 
also questioned a number of deferments that were stated in the report and the reason for 
them.

Catherine Hickman said that there was an action plan produced each year with regard to the 
PSIAS through an annual self-assessment process, and Andrew Moulton added that the 
Committee may want to consider an item on compliance as part of their Work Programme.

Councillor Price said that one of the key implications of the report was that there was 
confidence that public funds were being used effectively. She believed that this had not 
happened and asked what lessons had been learnt by the shared audit service.

Andrew Moulton said that the team were committed to learning and wanted the service to 
provide reassurance to both members and residents. Adele Taylor said that the new Audit and 
Governance Committee had been created to provide the assurances that members were 
looking for and would allow members to feel like they had the chance to part of the audit plan 
and process.

Councillor Rayner said that it was a robust report and said that as resources had been 
reduced a number of audits had been deferred. Andrew Moulton said that the expectation was 
to have it complete on time but Covid delayed the report. The next item on the agenda looked 
at this year’s audit plan and showed that the teams capacity was being used in the best way 
possible.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY; That the Audit and Governance Committee noted:
i) The SAIS activity for the financial year end 31 March 2020
ii) Progress in achieving the 2019/20 Internal Audit and Investigation Plan

2020/21 AUDIT AND INVESTIGATION PLAN - IN YEAR REVIEW 

Andrew Moulton explained that the committee had an opportunity to shape the work of the 
team as the 2021/22 plan would be coming to the committee for consideration early next year.

Catherine Hickman said that the 2021/21 audit plan was approved by the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel in February 2020. With Covid having an impact this plan had been put 
forward to refocus audit and investigation activity over the remainder of the financial year. The 
report contained the original plan along with the revised areas, and the team were seeking 
approval from the Committee for the revised plan.

Councillor L Jones said that there were deferments of key partners detailed in the plan and 
believed that their viability could be a risk. She wanted to understand the decision making 
process which led to a deferral.

10



Catherine Hickman said that if the Committee felt that the team had not got the right balance 
then this was their opportunity to be involved in the process.

Councillor Sharpe said that the Serco contract needed to be reviewed by internal audit.

Catherine Hickman said that all these areas could be taken into account but if new audits were 
to be added into the plan, then other audits would need to be taken out as the team are 
working within their capacity.

Councillor Hilton said that to him the deferrals made sense, the CIPFA report that was brought 
to Corporate Overview and Scrutiny had an action plan in place.

Adele Taylor said that officers would be able to take away the suggestions from the 
Committee.

A named vote was taken to approve the plan along with the suggestions that the Committee 
had made to officers on the revised plan.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY; That the Audit and Governance Committee approved the 
updated 2020/21 Audit and Investigation Plan.

VALUATION OF THE NICHOLSON'S CENTRE 

Russell O’Keefe, Executive Director – Place, said that members had requested this item on 
the Nicolson’s Shopping Centre valuation was added to the agenda. RBWM owned 
approximately 50% of the freehold on the centre site. In 1985 RBWM let a 150 year lease on 
its freehold, because of the terms of that lease in addition to the poor performance of shopping 
centres over the last few years the ground rent the Council had received on that lease had 
been very poor including as low as zero in recent years. In regards to the lease over the 
Council’s part of the freehold and the freehold on the rest of the site (the other approximately 
50%) that had changed hands a number of times. In February 2019, Tikehau Capital in 
partnership with Areli Real Estate purchased the lease that the Council originally let in 1985 
and the other half of the freehold that the Council does not own from the receivers of the 
previous owners. The lease that was originally let includes the ability for the person who holds 
the lease to redevelop the site without approval being unreasonably withheld by the freeholder 
(the Council on its part of the site). That ability to not unreasonably withhold approval is as the 
Council as a freeholder, that does not affect its ability as a planning authority. The Council 
also owned a building called Central House, which was a vacant 1970s office building, the 
Council bought back the leasehold in 2017 for approximately £2.5 million. This was done to 
facilitate the redevelopment of the car park and regeneration of the surrounding area. 

Following negotiations with Tikehau Capital and Areli Real Estate and the relevant approvals 
the Council entered into a conditional sale agreement with their company called Denhead for 
the sale of its freehold interest in the shopping centre site, (the part they didn’t own as they 
already had a long lease over the Council’s freehold and the other half of the freehold), and 
also Central House. That was for a combined fee of £6 million (£1 million for the Council’s part 
of the freehold for the shopping centre and £5 million for Central House). Those negotiations 
and that decision were informed by an independent valuation, a section 123 report, carried out 
by Lambert Smith Hampton. That was to ensure the Council got best consideration for its 
interests. 

A valuation was carried out by another set of surveyors, called Knight Frank, which was 
referenced in the planning information submitted by Denhead, the company owned by Tikehau 
and Areli, as part of the financial viability assessment. That valuation was an existing use 
valuation that covered the shopping centre as a going concern, the whole site including the 
lease the Council let in 1985 as well as the freehold they had already bought from the 
receivers. In regards to the Council’s interests they were valued by the section 123 report by 
Lambert Smith Hampton which values the Council’s interest not the rest of the site and 

11



interests. From what the Council had seen of the Knight Frank valuation it was in line with the 
Lambert Smith Hampton valuation. The two valuations were valuing different elements, one 
was valuing the whole site as a going concern, the valuation by Knight Frank,  whereas the 
Council’s valuation carried out by Lambert Smith Hampton was just valuing the Council’s 
interest in the site.  

A member of the public had requested to speak on the item. Mr Hill noted that the valuation 
document was not included as part of the report for the meeting and asked if all members 
were given the valuation document at the time, along with the final contract that was entered 
into. He also noted that the original valuation on the freehold was 0.75m to £1 million, but in 
the Council report it expressed a value of £1-2m so therefore asked if Lambert Smith Hampton 
revised their valuation. The life span of Central House was originally listed as ‘at least 50 
years’, but the report referred to 40 years. The decision was not on the Cabinet Forward Plan 
as a key decision. Mr Hill asked whether the different valuations raised the prospect of state 
aid issues. He asked about Denhead Sarl which were not referred to in the public report and 
whether it could have increased risks. Valuations had been requested on the current site and 
future development potential, as this was when the site became very valuable. However, the 
valuator did not include the potential valuation in their report and so how could the Council be 
sure that they had not triggered state aid limits.  He went on to say the rental income on the 
lease the Council received was around £200-300k per year. 

Russell O’Keefe said that the Council’s ground rent that it received under that long lease was 
based on a percentage of the overall income generated by the centre and it had not been at 
the figures Mr Hills was referencing for quite a number of years, with all payments being well 
under £100,000 a year for some years due to terms the Council entered into in 1985 and the 
poor performance of the centre. The section 123 report set out a very poor outlook for this for 
the future. The existing use valuation was carried out by Denhead, RBWM got a market 
valuation which looked at existing use and development potential, a section 123 report. As the 
Council got a section 123 report to ensure it got best consideration for its interest there could 
be no issue with state aid as it was a market value. The report went to Full Council and all 
members got a copy of the section 123 report, it was one of the appendices to the report 
which informed the decision, along with a copy of the head of terms which informed the future 
contract RBWM entered into. The building life span of Central House was 40-50 years.

Mr Hill further asked for clarification on whether LSH asked the Council to change the 
valuation from less than £1 million to between £1-2 million. He was informed that they did not, 
the section 123 report was with the report with the full methodology. 

Councillor L Jones asked if a market valuation considered development potential, and if the 
contract would be made public, with confidential elements redacted, once signed.

Russell O’Keefe confirmed a market valuation considered existing use and development 
potential. Regarding the contract, if the conditional contract was completed and became 
unconditional then some of that information would be able to be published but some of the 
information would remain Part II. 

Councillor Werner asked what alternative strategies were looked at for the site, with RBWM 
having ownership of Central House, and could therefore have been given more control over 
the future of the site.

Russell O’Keefe said that alternative strategies were considered, for example there could 
have been a joint venture which RBWM would have been involved in but this would have likely 
involved the Council putting significant amounts of money at risk. The conditional land sale 
agreement meant that the Council was not exposed to significant risk as a result.

Councillor L Jones asked if RBWM took the offer with best value in mind as people were 
looking for reassurance.

12



Russell O’Keefe confirmed that the Council decision was taken on the basis of a section 123 
report, which was an independent valuation to demonstrate the Council achieved best 
consideration, in line with the legal requirements for property and land sales.

WORK PROGRAMME 

Adele Taylor said that the Redmond Review had been recently published, which was a review 
on local authorities internal and external audit. It had also been suggested that an update on 
the internal audit action plan could be added to the programme. Adele Taylor said that agenda 
balancing would be looked at as the programme for the November had a significant number of 
items.

Councillor Price said that as the RBWM Property Company was only incorporated once it was 
a certain size that it may be something the committee would want to look at later in the year. 
Adele Taylor said that in the CIPFA action plan this was mentioned and was therefore 
something that Corporate Overview and Scrutiny could pick up.

Councillor Sharpe said that the Fraud Policies Refresh item could be moved to February along 
with the Key Risk Report. The Chairman said that officers would go away and look at the 
agenda for November.

The meeting, which began at 6.15 pm, finished at 8.50 pm

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

13



This page is intentionally left blank



Report Title: Mid Year Treasury Management Update
2020/21

Contains Confidential or
Exempt Information?

No - Part I

Lead Member: Councillor Hilton, Lead Member for
Finance and Ascot

Meeting and Date: Audit and Governance Committee – 9
November 2020

Responsible Officer(s): Adele Taylor, Director of Resources
(S151151 Officer)

Wards affected: All

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)

RECOMMENDATION: That the Audit and Governance Committee notes
and approves the mid-year Treasury Management Update Report 2020/21.

REPORT SUMMARY

1. The purpose of this report is to:

a) Update Members on the delivery of the Treasury Management Strategy
approved by Council on 25th February 2020 and allows for any changes
to be made depending on market conditions;

b) This report forms part of the monitoring of the treasury management
function as recommended in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance
and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management Code of Practice
which requires that the Council receives a report on its treasury
management activity at least twice a year;

Specifically this report includes:

a) a review of the Council’s financial investment portfolio for 2020/21 as at
30th September 2020;

b) a review of the Council’s borrowing strategy in 2020/21;

c) a review of compliance with the Council’s Treasury and Prudential limits
for the first 6 months of 2020/21; and

d) an economic update for the first half of the financial year. (Appendix C)

2. The Council has complied with all elements of its Treasury Management
Strategy Statement (TMSS) as agreed by Council in February 2020.

15

Agenda Item 4



2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice
(the CIPFA Code) which requires the Authority to approve treasury management
mid-year and annual reports.

2.2 The Council’s treasury management strategy for 2020/21 was approved at the
Council meeting on 25th February 2020. When borrowing and investing money
the Authority is exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and
the revenue impact of changing interest rates. The successful identification,
monitoring and control of risk remains central to the Council’s treasury
management strategy.

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 A successful treasury management approach will ensure the security of the
Council’s assets whilst meeting the liquidity requirements of the Council and
ensuring an investment return that meets the target set in the table below.

Table 1: Investment return target

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly
Exceeded

Date of
delivery

A return that
exceeds
benchmark (Bank
of England base
rate plus 0.25%)

<0% >0% >0.1% >0.2% 31 March
2021

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY

Half-yearly Review of Treasury Management Activity

4.1.1 This report reviews the period from 1st April 2020 to 30th September 2020.

4.1.2 An economic update for the period provided by the Council’s treasury
management advisors Arlingclose is attached as Appendix C.

4.2 Investments

4.2.1 The Council receives payments from a variety of external sources, including
government grants, council tax and business rates. These funds are invested in
either fixed rate loans, cash deposits or money market funds within Council
approved counterparties. The list of approved counterparties is known as the
“Lending List”. A copy of the current approved Lending List is attached to this
report as Appendix A.

4.2.2 Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to invest its
funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury
investments before seeking the optimum rate of return. The Council’s objective
when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return,

16



minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving
unsuitably low investment income.

4.2.3 Whilst total funds under management varied throughout the period, total funds
under management at the 30th September 2020 were £22,382,000. (£51,726,000
at 31st March 2020).

4.2.4 It should be noted that during the period central government provided government
grant funding in advance to assist with potential cashflow issues arising from
Covid-19 . There was a likelihood of unexpected calls on cash flow to deal with
the impacts of the crisis so the Council has kept more cash available at very short
notice than is normal. Liquid cash was diversified between multiple counterparties
to minimise counterparty risk.

4.2.5 The returns available for liquid cash held in Money Market Funds or call accounts
have moved towards zero over the period which has lowered the overall return on
the Council’s investments.

4.2.6 The allocation of funds under management by counterparty type at 30th September
2020 is as follows:

Lloyds Current Account £3,140,000
Money Market Funds £13,000,000
Loans to partner organisation £6,242,000

Total £22,382,000

4.2.7 The investment return benchmark is 0.25% above Bank of England base rate. The
Bank of England base rate is currently 0.10%.

4.2.8 The investment return for the 6 months to 30th September 2020 was 0.36%
compared to the benchmark of 0.35%.

4.2.9 In 2020/21 we have made an upfront prepayment of Pension Fund contributions
for 2020/21 that has reduced the overall costs by £108,000. This amount is not
included in the investment return reported above but it contributes towards budget
targets.

4.3 Borrowing Requirement & Borrowing Strategy

4.3.1 The table below shows how the level of long and short term borrowing is projected
to change during 2020/21.

Borrowing Type Actual
31/03/2020

Actual
30/09/2020

Projected
31/03/2021

£000 £000 £000

Long Term 57,049 57,049 57,049

Short Term – Local Authority 134,000 82,000 161,000

Short Term – LEP 33,521 68,584 0

Investments (51,726) (22,382) (20,000)

Net Borrowing 172,844 185,251 198,049

17



4.3.2 The above table projects that the Council will need to borrow an additional
£79,000,000 from Local Authorities by 31st March 2021 to finance its capital
investment and to replace internally borrowed funds held on behalf of the LEP
(Local Enterprise Partnership).

4.3.3 This projection is based on the following assumptions:

(i) The capital programme will be implemented in line with current
assumptions – if there is any further slippage within the programme
then the short-term borrowing requirement will be lower.

(ii) The LEP will utilise all of their funding in year which the Council will
need to borrow to replace. If there are any unspent funds retained by
the LEP at the end of March this would reduce the amount of
replacement borrowing required to be taken out with other local
authorities.

4.3.4 The Council’s borrowing requirement has revenue implications for the Council.
Accordingly, the Council has engaged Treasury Management Advisors, Arlingclose
to advise on its Borrowing and Treasury Management Strategy.

4.3.5 Current market conditions are as follows:-

(a) In response to the economic effect of the Covid-19 crisis interest rates
have been reduced to the historic low level of 0.1%.

(b) Pending the outcome of the PWLB consultation the PWLB certainty
borrowing rate remains at its increased rate of 1.8% above gilts making it a
relatively expensive option.

(c) Short term loans remain at a significantly lower rate than long term loans.

4.3.6 On the basis of the above, the Council has continued to take up short term
borrowing when required and continues to review the option to increase the
proportion of long term borrowing with its treasury management advisors.

4.3.7 No new long term borrowing has been taken on since the 1st of April 2020 as the
current PWLB and other market alternative rates are unfavourable compared to
those offered for the short term. This is kept under regular review.

4.3.8 As at 30th September 2020 the Authority’s total long term external borrowing was
£57,049,400, with an average interest rate of 4.97% for the Public Works Loan
Board (PWLB) loans and 4.19% for the Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO)
loans borrowed from Barclays and Dexia. Appendix B shows the breakdown of
this long term borrowing figure. During the course of 2020/21 a total of £2,733,000
will be paid on existing long term loans in the form of interest payments.

4.3.9 The Chancellor’s March 2020 Budget statement included changes to Public Works
Loan Board (PWLB) policy and launched a wide-ranging consultation on the
PWLB’s future direction. It contained proposals to allow authorities that are not

18



involved in “debt for yield” activity to borrow at lower rates as well as stopping local
authorities using PWLB loans to buy commercial assets primarily for yield.

4.3.10 In response to these proposed changes the Council has reviewed its current
capital programme and is satisfied that it is not engaged in any projects that would
lead it to be classified by the PWLB as engaging in debt for yield activity.
Therefore based on the information provided as part of the consultation if lower
rates are introduced the Council would expect to be able to access these. While
this would be expected to give the Council access to long term borrowing at lower
rates than are currently available it likely these will still be significantly higher than
the current short term rates that are available.

4.3.11 The strategy to increase short-term borrowing has exposed the council to the risk
that rates could rise. A 1% increase in interest rates for the current level of short-
term loans could be in the region of £1m.

4.3.12 Officers will therefore keep under review options to increase the proportion of its
borrowing that is fixed long-term during 2020/21 including reviewing options within
the market.

4.4 Treasury Management Strategy

4.4.1 The Treasury Management Strategy approved on 25th February 2020 sets out
parameters that are designed to govern the level of council borrowing.

(i) The operational boundary – sets the maximum level of borrowing that the
Council will incur based on its estimated need to finance its capital investment.
It is recognised that the Council may borrow in excess of this amount for cash
flow purposes i.e. while it waits to receive government grants or other significant
income. The limit for 2020/21 is £252,000,000.

(ii) The authorised limit – is an absolute limit and sets the absolute maximum
level of borrowing that the council can undertake and cannot be exceeded in the
short term. The limit for 2020/21 is £275,000,000.

4.4.2 The Council has remained within these approved borrowing limits during 2020/21.

4.4.3 The Council’s upper limit for the proportion of its borrowing that is exposed to
variable interest rates is 80%. The Council has remained within this limit during
2020/21 with the actual proportion forecast to be 74% at 31st March 2021.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

4.5 In producing and reviewing this report the Council is meeting legal obligations
to properly manage its funds.

19



5. RISK MANAGEMENT

Risks Uncontrolled
Risk

Controls Controlled
Risk

That a counterparty
defaults on
repayment of a loan
resulting in a loss of
capital for the
Council

MEDIUM Loans are only
made to
counterparties on
the approved
lending list. The
credit ratings of
counterparties on
the lending list
are monitored
regularly.

LOW

That funds are
invested in fixed
term deposits and
are not available to
meet the Council’s
commitment to pay
suppliers and
payroll.

MEDIUM A cash flow
forecast is
maintained and
referred to when
investment
decisions are
made to ensure
that funds are
available to meet
the Council’s
commitment to
pay suppliers and
payroll.

LOW

6. POTENTIAL IMPACTS

6.1 Equalities. None identified.

6.2 Climate change/sustainability. None identified.

6.3 Data Protection/GDPR. None identified.,

7. CONSULTATION

7.1 Not applicable

8. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

8.1 This section is not applicable.

9. APPENDICES

This report is supported by three appendices:
 Appendix A – Approved Lending List
 Appendix B – Long Term Borrowing at 30th September 2020
 Appendix C – Economic Update

20



10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

 Not applicable

11. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)

Name of
consultee

Post held Date
sent

Date
returned

Cllr Hilton Lead Member for Finance and
Ascot

23/10/20

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 23/10/20
Russell O’Keefe Director of Place 23/10/20
Adele Taylor Director of Resources and

S151 Officer
23/10/20 27/10/20

Elaine Browne Head of Law 23/10/20 28/10/20
Nikki Craig Head of HR, Corporate

Projects & ICT
23/10/20 27/10/20

Louisa Dean Communications 23/10/20
Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 23/10/20 27/10/20
Hilary Hall Director of Adults,

Commissioning & Health
23/10/20 26/10/20

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 23/10/20 26/10/20
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance 23/10/20 23/10/20
Mary Severin Monitoring Officer 23/10/20 28/10/20

REPORT HISTORY

Decision type:
No

Urgency item?
No

To Follow item?
No

Report Author: Ryan Stone, Accountant

21



APPENDIX A

Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Approved Counterparty Lending List

Fitch Ratings FITCH FITCH FITCH Max. Sum
ShortTerm Long Term Outlook To Be Lent
Rating Rating £m

UK
Government
Debt Management Office F1+ AA- Negative no limit

Banks
Australia and New Zealand Bank F1 A+ Negative 5
Barclays Bank F1 A Negative 5
Clydesdale Bank F2 A- Negative 5
HSBC F1+ AA- Negative 5
Lloyds Banking Group F1 A+ Negative 7.5
National Australia Bank Ltd F1 A+ Negative 5
Royal Bank of Canada F1+ AA Negative 5
Royal Bank of Scotland F1 A Negative 5
Santander UK F2 A- Negative 5
Standard Chartered F1 A Negative 5
Ulster Bank F1 A+ Negative 5

Local Authorities
All UK Local Authorities, with the exception of

those with reported financial irregularities.
5

Money Market Funds
All money market funds with a Fitch AAA long

term credit rating, including:

Federated Short Term Sterling Prime Fund AAA 5
Invesco Sterling Liquidity Fund AAA 5
Aberdeen Sterling Liquidity Fund AAA 5
Insight GBP Liquidity Fund AAA 5
LGIM Sterling Liquidity Fund AAA 5

Revolving Credit Facility
AFC 11.7

Financial Services Companies
Kames Capital 1
Legal & General 1.5

RBWM associated companies
Flexible Home Improvement Loans Ltd 0.5
RBWM Property Company Ltd 1.5

Charitable Trusts
Leisure Focus Trust 0.35

SHORT TERM RATING
Expectation of timely repayment of financial commitments.
F1+ is most likely to repay on time, F1 Highest Credit, F2 Good, F3 Fair, B Speculative, C High Default Risk

LONG TERM RATING
Expectation of credit risk. AAA is the least risky, ie little credit risk. AA Very High Credit, A High, BBB Good.
Below BBB indicates non-investment grade

22



Appendix B - Long Term Borrowing

Long Term Borrowing at 30th September 2020

PWLB Borrowing ANALYSIS OF PWLB RESIDUAL MATURITY
at 30.9.20

Duration/ Repayment Loan Value
Type Date £000s Maturing Amount Average Rate

Within £000s
25yrs/Maturity 25/09/21 785
25yrs/Maturity 08/06/29 7,500 1 Year 785 8.000%
26yrs/Maturity 25/09/29 2,500 1 to 2 Years 0 0.000%
26yrs/Maturity 23/09/30 10,000 2 to 5 Years 0 0.000%
25yrs/Maturity 08/12/30 5,000 5 to 10 Years 20,000 4.950%
30yrs/Maturity 25/09/33 5,000 10 to 15 Years 10,000 4.475%
45yrs/Maturity 08/12/50 5,000 15 to 20 Years 0 0.000%
45yrs/Maturity 08/12/50 5,000 20 to 25 Years 0 0.000%
60yrs/Maturity 25/03/55 1,600 25 to 30 Years 0 0.000%
60yrs/Maturity 25/09/55 1,000 30 to 35 Years 11,600 4.741%
60yrs/Maturity 25/03/56 400 35 to 40 Years 1,665 8.240%
60yrs/Maturity 25/09/56 265 40 to 45 Years 0 0.000%

Total Fixed Term Borowing 44,049 TOTAL 44,049 4.966%

LOBO Borrowing ANALYSIS OF LOBO RESIDUAL MATURITY
at 30.9.20

Duration/ Repayment Loan Value
Type Date £000s Maturing Amount Average Rate

Within £000s
Barclays 60yrs/15yrs fixed, 19-Jul-66 5,000

6mth LOBO 5 to 30 Years 8,000 4.190%
Dexia 35yrs/5yrs fixed, 26-Jan-43 8,000 30 to 55 Years 5,000 4.190%

5yr LOBO

Total Fixed Term Borowing 13,000 TOTAL 13,000 4.190%

23



Appendix C – Economic Update

Mid-year Economic Update from the Authority’s Treasury Management
Advisors Arlingclose

External Context

Economic background: The spread of the coronavirus pandemic dominated during the period as

countries around the world tried to manage the delicate balancing act of containing transmission

of the virus while easing lockdown measures and getting their populations and economies working

again. After a relatively quiet few months of Brexit news it was back in the headlines towards the

end of the period as agreement between the UK and EU on a trade deal was looking difficult and

the government came under fire, both at home and abroad, as it tried to pass the Internal Market

Bill which could override the agreed Brexit deal, potentially breaking international law.

The Bank of England (BoE) maintained Bank Rate at 0.1% and its Quantitative Easing programme at

£745 billion. The potential use of negative interest rates was not ruled in or out by BoE

policymakers, but then a comment in the September Monetary Policy Committee meeting minutes

that the central bank was having a harder look at its potential impact than was previously suggested

took financial markets by surprise.

Government initiatives continued to support the economy, with the furlough (Coronavirus Job

Retention) scheme keeping almost 10 million workers in jobs, grants and loans to businesses and

100 million discounted meals being claimed during the ‘Eat Out to Help Out’ (EOHO) offer.

GDP growth contracted by a massive 19.8% (revised from first estimate -20.4%) in Q2 2020 (Apr-

Jun) according to the Office for National Statistics, pushing the annual growth rate down to -21.5%

(first estimate -21.7%). Construction output fell by 35% over the quarter, services output by almost

20% and production by 16%. Recent monthly estimates of GDP have shown growth recovering, with

the latest rise of almost 7% in July, but even with the two previous monthly gains this still only

makes up half of the lost output.

The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) fell to 0.2% year/year in August, further

below the Bank of England’s 2% target, with the largest downward contribution coming from

restaurants and hotels influenced by the EOHO scheme. The Office for National Statistics’ preferred

measure of CPIH which includes owner-occupied housing was 0.5% y/y.

In the three months to July, labour market data showed the unemployment rate increased from

3.9% to 4.1% while wages fell 1% for total pay in nominal terms (0.2% regular pay) and was down

1.8% in real terms (-0.7% regular pay). Despite only a modest rise in unemployment over the period,

the rate is expected to pick up sharply in the coming months as the furlough scheme ends in

October. On the back of this, the BoE has forecast unemployment could hit a peak of between 8%

and 9%.

The US economy contracted at an annualised rate of 31.7% in Q2 2020 (Apr-Jun). The Federal

Reserve maintained the Fed Funds rate at between 0% and 0.25% but announced a change to its

inflation targeting regime. The move is to a more flexible form of average targeting which will

allow the central bank to maintain interest rates at low levels for an extended period to support

the economy even when inflation is ‘moderately’ above the 2% average target, particularly given

it has been below target for most of the last decade.

The European Central Bank maintained its base rate at 0% and deposit rate at -0.5%.

Financial markets: Equity markets continued their recovery, with the Dow Jones climbing to not

far off its pre-crisis peak, albeit that performance being driven by a handful of technology stocks

24



Appendix C – Economic Update

2

including Apple and Microsoft, with the former up 75% in 2020. The FTSE 100 and 250 have made

up around half of their losses at the height of the pandemic in March. Central bank and government

stimulus packages continue to support asset prices, but volatility remains.

Ultra-low interest rates and the flight to quality continued, keeping gilts yields low but volatile

over the period with the yield on some short-dated UK government bonds remaining negative. The

5-year UK benchmark gilt yield started and ended the June–September period at -0.06% (with much

volatility in between). The 10-year gilt yield also bounced around, starting at 0.21% and ending at

0.23% over the same period, while the 20-year rose from 0.56% to 0.74%. 1-month, 3-month and

12-month bid rates averaged 0.02%, 0.06% and 0.23% respectively over the period.

At the end of September, the yield on 2-year US treasuries was around 0.13% while that on 10-year

treasuries was 0.69%. German bund yields remain negative across most maturities.

Credit review: Credit default swap spreads eased over most of the period but then started to tick

up again through September. In the UK, the spreads between ringfenced and non-ringfenced

entities remains, except for retail bank Santander UK whose CDS spread remained elevated and the

highest of those we monitor at 85bps while Standard Chartered was the lowest at 41bps. The

ringfenced banks are currently trading between 45 and 50bps.

After a busy second quarter of the calendar year, the subsequent period has been relatively quiet

for credit changes for the names on our counterparty list. Fitch assigned a AA- deposit rating to

Netherlands lender Rabobank with a negative outlook and prior to that, while not related to our

counterparty list but quite significant, revised the outlook on the US economy to Negative from

Stable while also affirming its AAA rating.

There continues to remain much uncertainty around the extent of the losses banks and building

societies will suffer due to the impact from the coronavirus pandemic and for the UK institutions

on our list there is the added complication of the end of the Brexit transition period on 31st

December and what a trade deal may or may not look like. The institutions on Arlingclose’s

counterparty list and recommended duration remain under constant review, but at the end of the

period no changes had been made to the names on the list or the recommended maximum duration

of 35 days.

25



This page is intentionally left blank



Report Title: Draft Treasury Management Strategy &
Prudential Indicator Report 2021/22

Contains Confidential or
Exempt Information?

No - Part I

Member reporting: Councillor Hilton, Lead Member for
Finance and Ascot

Meeting and Date: Audit and Governance Committee – 9
November 2020

Responsible Officer(s): Adele Taylor - Section 151 Officer
Wards affected: All

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)

RECOMMENDATION: That Audit and Governance Committee notes and
comments on:

i) The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2021/22 as set out
in section 4 of this report.

ii) The Council’s Prudential Indicators set out in Appendix B.

iii) The Council’s associated counterparty list as set out in Appendix C

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1The Authority has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice
(the CIPFA Code) which requires the Authority to approve a treasury
management strategy before the start of the financial year.

REPORT SUMMARY

1. In accordance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code
of Practice 2017 and the CIPFA Prudential Code, the Council is required to
approve a Treasury Management Strategy before the start of each financial
year. This report fulfils that obligation.

2. The Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22 as set out in section 4 of this
report has been written to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice. It sets
out the parameters for the Council’s planned treasury management activity.

3. The Council’s self-imposed limits on sustainable, affordable and prudent
borrowing and investment, and the Prudential Indicators that need to be
approved by Full Council, are set out in Appendix B.

27

Agenda Item 5



3. KEY IMPLICATIONS

Table 2: Key Implications
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly

Exceeded
Date of
delivery

No. of days
that
counterpart
limits are
exceeded

>0 <=0 N/A N/A May
2022

No of days
that the
operational
boundary
for long-
term debt
is
exceeded

>0 <=0 N/A N/A May
2022

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY

Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22

Introduction

4.1 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2021/22 considers:

(i) the impact of anticipated capital and revenue cash flows,

(ii) the maintenance of existing loan debt,

(iii) the availability and use of internal sources of finance such as reserves,
capital funds and capital receipts unapplied.

(iv) where surplus cash is available the strategy considers the extent to
which these should be invested.

(v) the strategy considers the need for the Council to consider alternative
financing options such as borrowing and reviews the potential trends in
interest rates.

Integral to the strategy is the setting of the various Indicators required by the
Prudential Code that Cabinet will monitor.

4.2 The council has cash balances which are used to fund day to day service
operations and support capital funding through the use of internal resources.
Any surplus funds are invested within constraints set out by the Secretary of
State. The Council also has debt which has built up over time to fund its fixed
assets. The S151 Officer manages both the day to day cash requirements
(including the investment of surplus funds) and the borrowing requirements of
the Council through an in-house treasury management team. Cash investment
earnings are included in the Council’s revenue budget which also reflects the
debt financing implications of the proposed capital programme.

28



4.3 The Council’s investment and borrowing policies are governed by the Local
Government Act 2003 and the Secretary of State’s Investment Code. These
contain regulations backed up by various Codes of Practice. The CIPFA
Treasury Management Code of Practice, which the Council has formally
adopted and the Secretary of State’s Investment Code, both require the S151
Officer, before the beginning of each financial year, to present an Annual
Treasury Management Strategy for the forthcoming year for approval by the
full Council. The Council also implemented the Local Authorities (Capital
Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 requiring
Council to approve an Annual Statement of Minimum Revenue Provision
which is the amount set aside from revenue for the repayment of debt principal
relating to the General Fund only.

4.4 The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities sets out
indicators that are used to support capital expenditure plans and treasury
management decisions. Section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires
the Council to approve an “affordable borrowing limit”. This is the maximum
level of loan debt that may be outstanding at any point in time. The proposed
Prudential Indicators and borrowing limits to be approved by the Council are
set out in Appendix B. These have been set having regard for the overall
treasury management strategy and will be monitored during the year.

4.5 Finally, it is a statutory requirement under S33 of the Local Government and
Finance Act 1992 for the Council to produce a balanced budget, and in
particular this includes the impact of revenue costs flowing from capital
expenditure financing decisions. The S151 Officer confirms that the capital
expenditure plans comply with the statutory requirement to set a balanced
budget.

Capital Financing Strategy

4.6 The current (“Prudential”) System of capital controls allows the Council to
determine its own level of capital investment. However, the Council must
demonstrate that its capital programme is affordable, prudent and sustainable.
In the short-term the proposed capital programme will be financed from
external borrowing. Any delays in receiving cash from anticipated receipts will
be covered through the temporary use of unsupported short-term borrowing.

4.7 Although the capital programme is planned with reference to the total level of
resources available to finance capital expenditure, the method of financing
individual capital schemes will be determined by the S151 Officer at the end of
the financial year. The order of use of sources of finance for the capital
programme is:

1. Capital Grants
2. Capital Contributions from outside bodies e.g. Section 106 / CIL
3. Capital Receipts
4. Direct Revenue Contributions – mainly for short life assets
5. Draw down from accumulated investments (set aside to repay debt)
6. Prudential Borrowing (unsupported) to finance ‘invest to save’
schemes and pending the arrival of future known capital receipts
7. Leasing will also be considered if more cost effective.

29



The unfunded elements of the proposed capital programme will be financed
from external borrowing. Any delays in receiving cash from anticipated
receipts will be covered through the temporary use of unsupported short-term
borrowing.

4.8 Capital Grants and external contributions are likely to have been received for
specific schemes and therefore cannot be used for any other purpose. For
other schemes, capital receipts are to be used in preference to revenue
contributions or borrowing.

4.9 Capital Receipts will be fully applied in the year in which they are received if
possible, to reduce the level of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) i.e. the
monies that the council sets aside for debt repayment.

4.10 The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital
Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are
the underlying resources available for investment. The Authority’s main
objective when borrowing is to strike a balance between securing low interest
rates and achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are required.
This position provides short-term savings with the flexibility to secure longer
dated loans as and when financial forecasts indicate that external borrowing
rates may increase.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy

4.11 Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting)
(England) Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) requires local authorities
to ‘charge to a revenue account a minimum revenue provision (MRP) for that
year’. The minimum revenue provision is an annual amount set aside from the
General Fund to meet the cost of capital expenditure that has not been financed
from available resources, namely: grants, developer contributions (e.g. s.106
and community infrastructure levy) revenue contributions, earmarked reserves
or capital receipts.

4.12 Setting aside MRP is sometimes referred to as setting aside monies for
borrowing, implying that this is setting aside money for repaying external
borrowing. In fact, the requirement for MRP set aside applies even if the capital
expenditure is being financed from the council’s own cash resources and no
external borrowing or new credit arrangement has been entered into.

4.13 Regulation 28 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting)
(England) Regulations 2003, as amended (Statutory Instrument 3146/2003)
requires full Council to approve a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
Statement setting out the policy for making MRP and the amount of MRP to be
calculated which the council considers to be prudent. This statement is
designed to meet that requirement.

4.14 In setting a prudent level of MRP local authorities are required to “have regard”
to guidance issued from time to time by the Secretary of State for Housing,
Communities and Local Government. The latest version of this guidance

30



(version four) was issued by Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG) in February 2018.

4.15 The Guidance states that the broad aim is to ensure that debt is repaid over a
period reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure
provides benefits to the council. It sets out four “possible” options for calculating
MRP, as shown below:

Option Calculation method Applies to

1: Regulatory
method

Formulae set out in 2003
Regulations (later revoked)

Expenditure
incurred before 1

April 2008

2: CFR method 4% of Capital Financing
Requirement

Expenditure
incurred before 1

April 2008

3: Asset life

method

Amortises MRP over the

expected life of the asset

Expenditure

incurred after 1
April 2008

4: Depreciation

method

Charge MRP on the same

basis as depreciation

Expenditure

incurred after 1
April 2008

4.17 Two main variants of Option 3 are set out in the Guidance: (i) the equal
instalment method and (ii) the annuity method. The annuity method weights the
MRP charge towards the later part of the asset’s expected useful life and is
increasingly becoming the most common MRP method for local authorities.

4.18 The Guidance also includes specific recommendations for setting MRP in
respect of finance lease, investment properties and revenue expenditure which
is statutorily defined as capital expenditure under the 2003 Regulations (also
referred to as revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute or
REFCUS). Examples of REFCUS include: capitalised redundancy costs, loans
or grants to third parties for capital purposes, and the purchase of shares in
limited companies.

4.19 Other approaches are not ruled out however they must meet the statutory duty
to make prudent provision each financial year.

4.20 Having regard to current Guidance on MRP issued by MHCLG and the
“options” outlined in that Guidance and to even out the financing costs of assets
over their anticipated life, on 3rd December 2019 Full Council approved the
following MRP Statement to take effect from 1 April 2019:

 for all capital expenditure, MRP will be based on expected useful asset

lives (Option 3 – asset life), calculated using the annuity method;

 asset lives will be arrived at after discussion with the Council’s valuers’,

but on a basis consistent with depreciation policies set out in the
Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts, and will be kept under regular

review;

31



In applying ‘Option 3’:

 MRP should normally begin in the financial year following the one in which

the expenditure was incurred. However, in accordance with the statutory
guidance, commencement of MRP may be deferred until the financial year

following the one in which the asset becomes operational;

 the estimated useful lives of assets used to calculate MRP should not

exceed a maximum of 50 years except as otherwise permitted by the
guidance (and supported by valuer’s advice);

 if no useful life can reasonably be attributed to an asset, such as freehold

land, the estimated useful life should be taken to be a maximum of 50
years;

4.21 The annuity method is a similar approach to a repayment mortgage where the
principal repayments increase through the life of the asset in comparison to a
straight-line method which repays the same amount of principal each year.
This will result in the Council paying less for its capital financing costs over the
short to medium-term than it otherwise would have under the old methodology,
although in the longer term principal repayments will increase as interest rate
payments reduce over the life of the asset. This approach is now being taken by
most large authorities as it more accurately reflects the value of the asset.

4.22 MRP for finance leases and service concession contracts shall be charged over
the primary period of the lease, in line with the Guidance.

4.23 For expenditure capitalised by virtue of a capitalisation direction under section
16(2)(b) of the Local Government Act 2003 or Regulation 25(1) of the 2003
regulations, the ‘asset’ life should equate to the value specified in the statutory
Guidance.

Interest Rate Assumptions
4.24 With the ongoing coronavirus pandemic and economic uncertainty due to

Brexit, the Bank of England Bank Rate is likely to remain at low levels for a
significant time into the future. Arlingclose, the Authority’s treasury
management advisors, are currently forecasting interest rates to remain at
0.1%, however, they do note that further cuts to the Bank Rate to zero or even
into negative territory cannot be ruled out. Our current assumption is that
rates will remain at 0.1% throughout 2021/22.

Borrowing

4.25 The table below shows the Council’s current borrowing projection to the end of
2025/26, with increasing borrowing required to fund the Capital Programme:

Borrow ingT ype
A ctual
31/03/2020

P rojected
31/03/2021

P rojected
31/03/2022

P rojected
31/03/2023

P rojected
31/03/2024

P rojected
31/03/2025

P rojected
31/03/2026

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Long term 57,049 57,049 56,264 56,264 56,264 56,264 56,264

Short term 167,521 161,000 160,363 169,201 184,841 158,480 134,088

Investments (42,104) (10,000) (10,550) (10,550) (10,550) (10,550) (10,550)

32



Loans to partners* (9,622) (9,622) (7,458) (7,458) (7,458) (7,458) (7,458)

N etBorrow ing 172,844 198,427 198,619 207,457 223,097 196,736 172,344
*Cashflow loans to AfC and the Property Company

33



Borrowing Strategy

4.26 The Council has prepared and published a three-year capital expenditure plan
to 2023/24 and will undertake short-term borrowing to ensure the affordability
and delivery of the capital programme.

4.27 The Council’s borrowing levels are due to increase over the next three years
to fund its capital programme and currently a high proportion of its borrowing
is short-term. This has enabled the Council to benefit from the reduction in
interest rates as it has been able to renew this borrowing at lower rates.
However, it does leave the Council exposed to the risk of interest rates rising
in the future. With interest rates expected to remain at low levels for the
foreseeable future the Council will continue its current strategy of using short-
term borrowing to take advantage of these rates. It will continue to carefully
monitor future interest rate projections and in consultation with its treasury
management advisors look at possibilities to take on more long-term
borrowing if this can be sourced at a favourable rate.

4.28 The Council inherited much of its borrowing maturity following the transfer of
ex-Berkshire debt from Reading Borough Council. The S151 Officer will
ensure that future borrowing is arranged to limit the proportion of borrowing
maturing in any one financial year and in doing so safeguard against the
possibility of borrowing at a time of unfavourable interest rates.

4.29 The debt portfolio also consists of two Lenders Option Borrowers Options
(LOBOs) totalling £13 million. The first option is not due for several years. The
lenders for the LOBOs are Barclays and Dexia. Barclays have withdrawn their
option to change the rate, so the Barclays loan is now effectively a fixed
rate/fixed-term loan. Dexia have retained their option which can be taken
every 5 years on the 25 January, with the next option date being 25 January
2023. However, if the current low bank rates continue it is unlikely that Dexia
would exercise their options for repayment. The Council could look to repay
these loans early if it were able to source replacement borrowing at a low
enough rate to compensate for early repayment costs. At present this is not
the case but it will continue to review this possibility. The current assumption
is that these loans will run to maturity.

4.30 With regard to Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) debt, the S151 Officer will
ensure the prudent planning of any new loans taken out. The S151 Officer will
continue to review the potential to restructure the older and more costly debt
and, where it is economic to do so, will recommend implementing debt
restructuring strategies where feasible to reduce refinancing risk and increase
value for money.

4.31 The authorised limit for external borrowing is the highest level of borrowing
expected during the year to cover any exceptional adverse cash flow
movements when payments run ahead of receipts and/ or any changes in
borrowing which could arise to cover capital schemes funded through
prudential borrowing. Once agreed it is a ceiling which should not be
exceeded without further Council approval. The authorised limit is shown in
Appendix B.

34



4.32 The operational boundary is the maximum borrowing that should be required if
there are no exceptional cash flow movements. This is to ensure that in
normal circumstances borrowing is only used to finance capital expenditure.
The operational boundary is shown in Appendix B.

Investment Strategy

4.33 S12 of the Local Government Act 2003 gives a local authority power to invest
for “any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment or for the
prudent management of its financial affairs”. S15(1) of the 2003 Act requires
an authority to “have regard to such guidance as the Secretary of State may
issue”, and the Secretary of State issued an Investments Code in 2004. The
S151 Officer confirms that the strategy set out below complies with these
requirements.

4.34 Since the collapse of the Icelandic banks and the problems experienced by
the banking sector, the S151 Officer has kept the counter party lending list
under constant review having good regard to the balance between risk and
return. The S151 Officer has consulted key Cabinet members in establishing a
revised counter party listing which reflects the level of exposure to investment
risk the council is prepared to support and establish a list of banks, building
societies and banking institutions which minimise the Council’s risk and the
limit of exposure using the Fitch credit rating methodology. The investment
limit of each counter party and the current exposure is shown in Appendix C.

Managing Treasury Management Performance

4.35 The Treasury Management function is provided by a small in-house team and
regular meetings take place with the Chief Accountant and Head of Finance at
which the current situation for investments and borrowing are reviewed and
performance advised to the S151 Officer.

The implications of treasury management activities during the year will be
included in Finance Update reports to the Cabinet and a mid-year
performance report considered by the Audit and Governance committee.

Prudential Indicators

4.36 The objectives of the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local
Authorities are to ensure that local authorities’ capital investment plans are
affordable, prudent and sustainable. In addition, treasury management
decisions must reflect good professional practice and support prudence,
affordability and sustainability. The Code also has the objectives of being
consistent with and supporting local strategic planning, local asset
management planning and proper option appraisal. To demonstrate that the
objectives are being fulfilled, and to support and record local decision-making
councils are required to set specific Prudential Indicators. These are not
designed to be inter-authority comparative performance indicators and each
authority sets its own limits or ratios.

4.37 The proposed indicators over the three year planning period are detailed in
Appendix B.

35



Fixed/Variable Interest Rate Exposure

4.38 This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.

Upper limit on proportion of
borrowing that is fixed rate

100%

Upper limit on proportion of
borrowing that is variable

80%

Fixed rate investments and borrowings are those where the rate of interest is fixed for
at least 12 months, measured from the start of the financial year or the transaction date
if later. All other instruments are classed as variable rate.

Statutory Determinations

4.39 The council must “determine and keep under review” how much money it can
afford to borrow – the Affordable Borrowing Limit. This is the maximum
amount of loan debt that may be outstanding at any point in time and includes
both borrowing for capital purposes and an allowance for temporary revenue
borrowing.

4.40 It is proposed that the Affordable Borrowing Limit should be set at the
maximum estimated borrowing level for each year. These limits are included in
the Prudential Indicators in Appendix B.

Financial Implications

4.42 It is a statutory requirement under S33 of the Local Government and Finance
Act 1992 for the Council to produce a balanced budget, and this includes the
impact of revenue costs flowing from capital expenditure financing decisions in
particular. The S151 Officer confirms that the capital expenditure plans comply
with the statutory requirement to set a balanced budget.

4.43 The strategy for treasury management is to maximise, in a prudent fashion,
investment income and to minimise interest payments on debt.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 This report assists the council in fulfilling its statutory obligation to set out its
Treasury Strategy for borrowing and to prepare an Annual Investment
Strategy for the coming year setting out the council’s policies for managing its
borrowing and investments and giving priority to the security and liquidity of
those investments.

6. RISK MANAGEMENT

36



Risks Uncontrolled
Risk

Controls Controlled
Risk

That a
counterparty
defaults on
repayment of a
loan resulting in a
loss of capital for
the Council

MEDIUM Loans are only
made to
counterparties on
the approved
lending list. The
credit ratings of
counterparties on
the lending list
are monitored
regularly
Counterparty
limits reviewed
and reduced to
limit individual
exposure.

LOW

That funds are
invested in fixed-
term deposits and
are not available
to meet the
council’s
commitment to
pay suppliers and
payroll.

MEDIUM A cashflow
forecast is
maintained and
referred to when
investment
decisions are
made to ensure
that funds are
available to meet
the council’s
commitment to
pay suppliers and
payroll.

LOW

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS

7.1Equalities. None identified.

7.2Climate change/sustainability. None identified

7.3Data Protection/GDPR. None identified.

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 Not applicable

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

9.1 The strategy will be used from 1 April 2021 in line with the commencement of
the 2021/221 budget.

37



10.APPENDICES

10.1 This report is supported by three appendices:
 Appendix A Treasury Management Principles
 Appendix B Prudential Indicators
 Appendix C Counterparty Lending List

11.BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

11.1 None

12.CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)

Name of
consultee

Post held Date
sent

Date
returned

Cllr Hilton Lead Member for Finance 23/10/20
Cllr Johnson Leader of the Council 23/10/20
Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 23/10/20
Russell O’Keefe Director of Place 23/10/20
Adele Taylor Director of Resources and

S151 Officer
23/10/20 27/10/20

Andrew Vallance Head of Finance 23/10/20 23/10/20
Elaine Browne Head of Law 23/10/20 28/10/20
Nikki Craig Head of HR, Corporate

Projects & ICT
23/10/20 27/10/20

Louisa Dean Communications 23/10/20
Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 23/10/20 27/10/20
Hilary Hall Director of Adults,

Commissioning & Health
23/10/20 27/10/20

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 23/10/20 26/10/20
Mary Severin Monitoring Officer 23/10/20 28/10/20

13.REPORT HISTORY

Decision type:
Audit and
Governance
Committee for
Information

Urgency item?
No

To Follow item?
Not applicable

Report Author: Ryan Stone, Accountant.

38



Appendix A Treasury Management Policies

TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICIES

In the preparation of this treasury management strategy a number of key areas are
considered to be fundamental to our treasury management activity. They are listed below
and covered in more detail in the body of this strategy.

 Risk Management

 Performance Measurement

 Decision-making and analysis

 Approved instruments, methods and techniques

 Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, and dealing arrangements

 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements

 Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements

 Cash and cash flow management

 Money laundering

 Training and qualifications

 Use of external service providers

 Corporate governance

SECTION 1 RISK MANAGEMENT

General statement
The S151 Officer will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the identification,
management and control of treasury management risk and will report annually to Cabinet on
their adequacy and suitability. Any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the organisation’s
objectives will be reported to Cabinet in accordance with the procedures set out in Reporting
req u irements and managementinformation arrangements .

Credit and counter party risk management
The Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security
of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counter party lists and limits
reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with whom it trades. It also recognises the
need to have and maintain a formal counter party policy in respect of those organisations
from which it may borrow, or with whom it may enter into other financing arrangements.

Liquidity risk management
The Council will ensure it has adequate cash resources, borrowing arrangements, overdraft
or standby facilities to enable it to have the level of funds available necessary for the
achievement of its business / service objectives.

39



Appendix A Treasury Management Policies

The Council will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business case for
doing so and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance future debt
maturities.

Interest rate risk management
The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to
containing its interest costs in line with the amounts provided in its budget.

It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments,
methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues. At
the same time retaining a degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially
advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates.

Any decision will be subject to the consideration of this strategy and, if required, approval of
Cabinet or Council.

Exchange rate risk management
The Council will manage any exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates, in order to
minimise any detrimental impact on its overseas pensions investments.

Refinancing risk management
The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements
are negotiated, structured and documented. The maturity profile of the monies raised will be
managed with a view to obtaining terms for refinancing, if required, which are competitive
and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of market
conditions prevailing at the time.

It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a
manner as to secure this objective and will avoid overreliance on any one source of funding
if this might jeopardise achievement of the above.

Legal and regulatory risk management
The Council will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with its statutory
powers. It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to all parties with whom it
deals in such activities.

The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its
treasury management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to
minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the organisation.

Fraud, error and corruption, and contingency management
The Council will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the
risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its treasury management
dealings. Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain
effective contingency management arrangements, to these ends.

Market risk management
The Council will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and objectives
will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it
invests and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations.

40



Appendix A Treasury Management Policies

SECTION 2 PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

The Council is committed to the pursuit of value in its treasury management activities, and to
the use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the framework set out in
the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

Accordingly, the treasury management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the
value it adds in support of the organisation’s stated objectives. It will be the subject of regular
examination of alternative methods of service delivery, of the availability of fiscal or other
grant or subsidy incentives, and of the scope for other potential improvements.

SECTION 3 DECISION-MAKING AND ANALYSIS

The Council will maintain full records of its treasury management decisions, and of the
processes and practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of
learning from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable steps were taken to ensure
that all issues relevant to those decisions were taken into account at the time.

SECTION 4 APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND
TECHNIQUES

The Council will undertake its treasury management activities by employing only those
instruments, methods and techniques detailed in the appendices to this document, and
within the limits and parameters defined in S ec tion 1Ris kM anagement.

SECTION 5 ORGANISATION, CLARITY AND SEGREGATION OF
RESPONSIBILITIES, AND DEALING ARRANGEMENTS

The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring of
its treasury management activities, for the reduction of the risk of fraud or error, and for the
pursuit of optimum performance, that these activities are structured and managed in a fully
integrated manner, and that there is at all times a clarity of treasury management
responsibilities.

The principle on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those charged with
setting treasury management policies and those charged with implementing and controlling
these policies, particularly with regard to the execution and transmission of funds, the
recording and administering of treasury management decisions, and the audit and review of
the treasury management function.

If and when the Council intends, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances, to
depart from these principles, the S151 Officer will ensure that the reasons are properly
reported in accordance with S ec tion 6 Reportingreq u irements and managementinformation
arrangements , and the implications properly considered and evaluated.

The S151 Officer will ensure that there are clear written statements of the responsibilities for
each post engaged in treasury management, and the arrangements for absence cover. The
S151 Officer will also ensure that at all times those engaged in treasury management will
follow the policies and procedures set out.

The S151 Officer will ensure there is proper documentation for all deals and transactions,
and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds.

The S151 Officer will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance with the policy statement.

41



Appendix A Treasury Management Policies

SECTION 6 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND MANAGEMENT
INFORMATION ARRANGEMENTS

The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the
implementation of its treasury management policies; on the effects of decisions taken and
transactions executed in pursuit of those policies; on the implications of changes, particularly
budgetary, resulting from regulatory, economic, market or other factors affecting its treasury
management activities; and on the performance of the treasury management function.

As a minimum:

Cabinet will receive:

 An annual report on the strategy and plan to be pursued in the coming year

 A mid-year report on progress against the strategy and plan

 An annual report on the performance of the treasury management function, on the
effects of the decisions taken and the transactions executed in the past year, and on
any circumstances of non-compliance with the organisation’s treasury management
policy statement.

SECTION 7 BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT
ARRANGEMENTS

The S151 Officer will prepare, and the Council will approve and, if necessary, from time to
time will amend, an annual budget for treasury management, which will bring together all of
the costs involved in running the treasury management function, together with associated
income. The matters to be included in the budget will at minimum be those required by
statute or regulation, together with such information as will demonstrate compliance with
S ec tions 1Ris kmanagement,2 P erformanc e meas u rement,and 4 A pproved ins tru ments ,
method s and tec hniqu es .The S151 Officer will exercise effective controls over this budget
and will report upon and recommend any changes required in accordance with S ec tion 6
Reportingreq u irements and managementinformation arrangements .

The Council will account for its treasury management activities, for decisions made and
transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards,
and with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being.

SECTION 8 CASH AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT

Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of
the Council will be under the control of the S151 Officer and will be aggregated for cash flow
and investment management purposes. Cash flow projections will be prepared on a regular
and timely basis, and the S151 Officer will ensure that these are adequate for the purposes
of monitoring compliance with S ec tion 1liqu id ity ris kmanagement.

SECTION 9 MONEY LAUNDERING

The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to involve
it in a transaction involving the laundering of money. Accordingly, it will maintain procedures
for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties and reporting suspicions and will
ensure that staff involved in this are properly trained.

42



Appendix A Treasury Management Policies

SECTION 10 TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS

The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the treasury
management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities
allocated to them. It will therefore seek to appoint individuals who are both capable and
experienced and will provide training for staff to enable them to acquire and maintain an
appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills. The S151 Officer will recommend and
implement the necessary arrangements.

The S151 Officer will ensure that members of the Audit and Governance Commiteee and
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel have access to training relevant to their needs and
responsibilities.

Those charged with governance recognise their individual responsibility to ensure that they
have the necessary skills to complete their role effectively.

SECTION 11 USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS

The Council recognises that the responsibility for treasury management decisions remains
with the Council at all times. It recognises that there may be potential value in employing
external providers of treasury management services, in order to acquire access to specialist
skills and resources. When it employs such service providers, it will ensure that it does so for
reasons which have been submitted to a full evaluation of the costs and benefits. It will also
ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be
assessed are properly agreed and documented and are subjected to regular review. It will
ensure, where feasible and necessary, that a spread of service providers is used, to avoid
overreliance on one or a small number of companies. Where services are subject to formal
tender or re-tender arrangements, legislative requirements will always be observed.

SECTION 12 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout its
businesses and services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can
be achieved. Accordingly, the treasury management function and its activities will be
undertaken with openness and transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability.

The Council has adopted and has implemented the key principles of the Code. This,
together with the other arrangements detailed in the schedule to this document, are
considered vital to the achievement of proper corporate governance in treasury
management. The S151 Officer will monitor and, if and when necessary, report upon the
effectiveness of these arrangements.

43



Appendix B

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2019/20 TO 2023/24

The actual figures for 2019/20 and the estimates for four further years are shown below.

These prudential indicators are prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Prudential Code for

Capital Financing in Local Authorities

The figures set out below include this council's share of the old Berkshire County Council debt that is

now managed by the Royal Borough.

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Capital Expenditure (£m) £68.9m £39.1m £36.4m £28.3m £24.6m

15.2% 16.9% 38.4% 20.2% 8.8%

4.7% 5.2% 5.9% 5.7% 6.0%

Capital Financing Requirement (£m) 209.3 229.8 226.5 232.2 245.0

In respect of its external debt, the Council approves the following authorised limits for its external

debt gross of investments for the next three financial years. 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Authorised limit for external debt (£m) £230m £284m £306m £304m £311m

The Council also approves the following boundary for external debt for the same period.

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Operational boundary for external debt (£m) £208m £261m £282m £279m £284m

The proposed operational boundary for external debt is based on the same estimates as the authorised

limit but reflects the Head of Finance's estimate of the most likely, prudent but not worse case scenario, 

without the additional headroom included within the authorised limit to allow for example for unusual cash 

movements, and equates to the maximum of external debt projected by this estimate. It include both long

and short term (i.e. less than 365 day) borrowing.

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream

 - Loan financed

 - Non-loan financed

44



APPENDIX C

Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Approved Counterparty List

Fitch Ratings FITCH FITCH FITCH Max. Sum
ShortTerm Long Term Outlook To Be Lent
Rating Rating £m

UK
Government
Debt Management Office F1+ AA- Negative no limit

Banks
Australia and New Zealand Bank F1 A+ Negative 5
Barclays Bank F1 A Negative 5
Clydesdale Bank F2 A- Negative 5
HSBC F1+ AA- Negative 5
Lloyds Banking Group F1 A+ Negative 7.5
National Australia Bank Ltd F1 A+ Negative 5
Royal Bank of Canada F1+ AA Negative 5
Royal Bank of Scotland F1 A Negative 5
Santander UK F2 A- Negative 5
Standard Chartered F1 A Negative 5
Ulster Bank F1 A+ Negative 5

Local Authorities
All UK Local Authorities, with the exception of

those with reported financial irregularities.
5

Money Market Funds
All money market funds with a Fitch AAA long

term credit rating, including:

Federated Short Term Sterling Prime Fund AAA 5
Invesco Sterling Liquidity Fund AAA 5
Aberdeen Sterling Liquidity Fund AAA 5
Insight GBP Liquidity Fund AAA 5
LGIM Sterling Liquidity Fund AAA 5

Revolving Credit Facility
AFC 11.7

Financial Services Companies
Kames Capital 1
Legal & General 1.5

RBWM associated companies
Flexible Home Improvement Loans Ltd 0.5
RBWM Property Company Ltd 1.5

Charitable Trusts
Leisure Focus Trust 0.35

SHORT TERM RATING
Expectation of timely repayment of financial commitments.
F1+ is most likely to repay on time, F1 Highest Credit, F2 Good, F3 Fair, B Speculative, C High Default Risk

LONG TERM RATING
Expectation of credit risk. AAA is the least risky, ie little credit risk. AA Very High Credit, A High, BBB Good.
Below BBB indicates non-investment grade

45



This page is intentionally left blank



Report Title: Draft Capital Strategy
2021/22 – 2025/26

Contains Confidential or
Exempt Information?

No - Part I

Member reporting: Councillor Hilton, Lead Member for
Finance and Ascot

Meeting and Date: Audit and Governance Committee - 9
November 2020

Responsible Officer(s): Adele Taylor, Director of Resources &
Section 151 Officer

Wards affected: All
,

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)

RECOMMENDATION: That Audit and Governance Committee notes the report
and comments on:

i) The draft Capital Strategy set out in Appendix A.

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report sets out the draft Capital Strategy for the Royal Borough of
Windsor and Maidenhead

2.2 The final Capital Strategy will be approved as part of the Budget in February
2021.

2.3 The Committee is invited to comment on the draft strategy.

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS

Table 2: Key Implications
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly

Exceeded
Date of
delivery

Capital
expenditure
is agreed
within an

Fails to
meet
Council
objectives
and

Meets
Council
objectives
and

n/a n/a 1 April
2021

REPORT SUMMARY

1. This report sets out the Council’s proposed capital strategy for 2021/22 - 2025/26.

47

Agenda Item 6



Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly
Exceeded

Date of
delivery

approved
strategy

service
needs

service
needs

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY

Capital Strategy

4.1 The draft Capital Strategy for 2021/22 to 2025/26 is attached as Appendix
A.

4.2 The Capital Strategy provides a high level overview of how capital
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to
the provision of services; along with an overview of how associated risk is
managed and the implications for future financial sustainability.

Italigns with the C ou ncil’s interim strategy,med iu m-term financialstrategy and
treasu ry managementstrategy. The C ou ncilalso approved an A ssetM anagement
Review and action plan in Ju ne 2020 and this capitalstrategyalso aligns withthattoo.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 None.

6. RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1 Failure to adopt a Capital Strategy linked to the Medium Term Financial
Strategy and the Treasury Management Strategy could lead to poor
investment decisions, failure to deliver services and Council policies, and
unforeseen revenue consequences.

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS

7.1 Equalities. A full EQIA will be undertaken on the final budget and capital
strategy submitted to Council in February 2021.

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. The potential impact of capital expenditure
recommendations will be considered once details of budget submissions are
published.

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. Not applicable.

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 The draft budget, including capital expenditure plans, approved by Cabinet in
December 2020 will be fully consulted on before final proposals are made to
Cabinet and Council in February 2021. All Scrutiny committees will consider
the areas relevant to their remits.

48



9 APPENDICES

9.1 The table below details the Appendices to this report

Appendix
A Draft Capital Strategy 2021/22 – 2025/26

10 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

10.1 None

11 CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)

Name of
consultee

Post held Date
sent

Date
returned

Cllr Hilton Lead Member for Finance 23/10/20 26/10/20
Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 23/10/20
Russell O’Keefe Executive Director of Place 23/10/20
Mary Severin Monitoring Officer 23/10/20 28/10/20
Elaine Browne Head of Law 23/10/20 28/10/20
Nikki Craig Head of HR, Corporate

Projects & ICT
23/10/20 27/10/20

Adele Taylor Director of Resources, S151
Officer

23/10/20 27/10/20

Louisa Dean Communications 23/10/20
Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 23/10/20 27/10/20
Hilary Hall Director of Adults,

Commissioning & Health
23/10/20 26/10/20

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 23/10/20 26/10/20

12 REPORT HISTORY

Decision type:
Audit and
Governance
Committee for
information

Urgency item?
No

To Follow item?
Not applicable

Report Author: Andrew Vallance, Head of Finance

49



Appendix A

1 | P a g e

Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead
Draft Capital Strategy 2021/22 – 2025/26

1. Introduction

1.1 The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM) has ambitious
plans to invest in the regeneration of the Borough and deliver high quality
facilities to its residents.

1.2 The Capital Strategy provides a high level overview of how capital
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to
the provision of services; along with an overview of how associated risk is
managed and the implications for future financial sustainability.

1.3 It shows how revenue, capital and balance sheet planning are integrated. The
Strategy is informed by the Council’s priorities and links to other key strategy
documents, notably the interim corporate strategy, the Medium Term
Financial Plan and the Treasury Management Strategy as well as the asset
management review and action plan agreed in June 2020.

1.4 The document also provides an overview of the delivery mechanisms and
decision processes that RBWM will use to determine and deliver its future
capital priorities.

2. What is Capital Investment?

2.1 Capital investment can be put into a number of different categories as
follows:-

(i) Major Projects –After option appraisal this can include the
provision of a new school, library or leisure centre, or major
highways investment.

(ii) Invest to Save Schemes – where the Council invests in a project
on the understanding that it will pay for itself over a reasonable
period of time.

(iii) Equipment Replacement – where the Council is required to
replace certain equipment e.g. IT assets when they become
obsolete.

2.2 In some cases projects may be fully funded by Government Grants or partner
contributions.

2.3 The main sources of capital funding are:-

(a) Capital Grants – either general grants or specific grants towards
specific projects e.g. highways and schools.

(b) Developer Contributions – towards the costs of local infrastructure
stemming from new development. This includes S106 & Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

50



Appendix A

2 | P a g e

(c) Partner Contributions – Council partners may make a contribution
towards the cost of capital projects.

(d) Revenue Contributions –where the revenue budget meets the cost of
ongoing capital spending e.g. maintenance of buildings etc.

(e) Capital Receipts –from the disposal of council assets.
(f) Prudential Borrowing –this enables councils to borrow to fund capital

investment provided that it is affordable. This is largely undertaken
through the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). The debt financing costs
are also met by the revenue budget.

2.4 There is a fine dividing line, when deciding whether spending should be
charged as day to day revenue spending or included within the capital
programme.

(i) Spending less than £20,000 is considered to be revenue
spending. This is the de minimis level that the Council sets.

(ii) Annual maintenance is considered to be revenue spending

2.5 Ideally, RBWM aims to cover recurring spending from its revenue budget and
fund short life assets from external income sources. Borrowing is used to fund
spending on longer life assets e.g. buildings and infrastructure.

3. National Financial Context

3.1 Over recent years all unitary authorities have faced significant cuts as a result
of austerity. This has had a significant impact on major investment decisions.
The impact of COVID-19 has further impacted councils at unprecedented
levels.

(i) Government capital grants for funding capital projects have been cut
significantly.

(ii) Material pressures on revenue budgets mean that councils are
finding it harder to meet significant borrowing costs stemming from
capital investment.

3.2 Council budgets have come under significant pressure resulting in some
councils capitalising certain spending. This has allowed them to borrow to
spread the cost of this spending over a number of years and ease the
immediate pressure on the revenue budget e.g. capitalising debt interest.

3.3 Some councils have taken a more commercial approach to their assets. For
example they may have built or expanded car parking to generate additional
ongoing income to support the council budget or purchased property for a
purely financial return.

3.4 Unprecedented low interest rates have enabled councils to borrow cheaply to
fund new capital investment. However, it is expected that changes will be made
to the lending terms of the PWLB in coming months in relation to such
commercial investment following the current central government consultation.

51



Appendix A

3 | P a g e

3.5 Many councils have also benefited from capital receipts from asset sales to
offset the cost of new capital investment and this is an option open to RBWM.

4. Financial Context RBWM

4.1 RBWM has the advantage of substantial and valuable land holdings. It has
been pro-active and innovative in using these land holdings to generate capital
receipts for new investment.

4.2 In some cases the Council has used the capital receipt generated from the
closure of a facility to largely fund its replacement. Unfortunately the disposal
can only take place once the new facility is built, which means that

(i) The Council needs to borrow to fund the new facility initially
(ii) The Council carries the risk of holding and disposing of the previous

asset.

4.3 In other cases RBWM has been able to use s106 & CIL contributions to offset
the cost of certain capital investment, where this is consistent with the terms of
the development agreement.

4.4 RBWM has also invested in its assets to generate income to support its revenue
budget. This has included:-

(i) Converting and investing in council land to generate additional
income from car parking provision.

(ii) Investing in commercial property to maintain a revenue income
stream.

4.5 This has resulted in significant capital investment in recent years. Council
borrowing is projected at £160m for 2021/22.

4.6 When building the capital programme for 2021/22 the cost of borrowing has
been kept as low as possible by investing in essential schemes only. This is in
addition to the schemes approved in previous years by Council. For 2021/22
debt financing costs, including MRP, are estimated at £5.8m. This will reduce
in future years as disposals of council assets are used to repay short term debt.
At the same time the investment will also have generated considerable income
that will help the Council repay this debt.

4.7 Historically, RBWM has sought to keep Council tax levels to a minimum. This
has meant that it has tightly controlled spending within its revenue budget,
which in turn has had consequences for its capital budget, such as needing to:

(i) fund significant spending on maintaining assets from borrowing rather
than funding this from within its revenue budget

(ii) use capital to fund a number of short term asset replacements.
(iii) prioritise spending that generates future income to contribute to its

revenue budget.

52



Appendix A

4 | P a g e

4.8 In the short term this has helped to spread the cost of this investment over a
number of years and reduce the impact on the revenue budget.

4.9 However, in the longer term as borrowing increases, this places more and more
pressure on the revenue budget, through increasing the level of debt financing
costs.

4.10 Currently some £2m of ongoing regular capital investment, normally financed
through the revenue budget, is within the Capital Programme. Over time the
Council needs to return to meeting a larger share of this spending from a
revenue contribution. This will enable it to allocate a larger share of its capital
programme to long term projects and investing in the borough.

4.11 Given the current pressures on the revenue budget, it will take some time to
redress this balance.

5. RBWM Capital Strategy

Developing Capital Plans
5.1 Decisions around future capital investment should not be taken lightly as it often

involves significant sums of money, which has a significant future impact on
council finances.

5.2 The Council faces some tough choices against competing priorities and
therefore always needs to balance the immediate benefit of investing in a new
capital asset against the future financial sustainability of council finances. One
of these tough choices will be whether to borrow to develop council assets to
create long term revenue streams or whether to dispose of assets to help to
reduce borrowing costs.

5.3 To strike this tough balance the Council will:-

(a) Have clear capital investment priorities for all of its key services –
this will allow it to balance the needs of individual services against one
another.

(b) Develop clear business cases for major projects –so that there is a
clear understanding about the benefits that the project will deliver and
whether these are worth the level of investment required.

(c) Set clear objectives – for example it needs to be clear about the
payback period it expects from commercial invest to save schemes.

5.4 This prioritisation will be assisted by having:

(a) Surveys of all council assets that set out maintenance requirements
over time

53



Appendix A

5 | P a g e

(b) Clear replacement strategies – that show when assets need to be
replaced and updated e.g. IT equipment and systems.

5.5 Given the long-term nature of capital investment, the Council should be able to
plan ahead effectively and avoid the need for capital schemes to emerge at the
last minute.

5.6 Above all, there is a need for an effective process to assess competing capital
priorities and develop more long-term capital plans.

6. RBWM Council Priorities

6.1 The Council’s priorities must be at the heart of any capital strategy.

6.2 Finance is both the enabler that allows the Council to deliver these key
priorities and the constraints that the Council needs to work within as it makes
tough decisions between those priorities.

6.3 RBWM has an agreed interim strategy in light of the impact of the pandemic
on the authority. The interim strategy was agreed by Cabinet on 30th July
2020. A refresh of the overall corporate strategy will be undertaken.

6.4 The current agreed interim key priorities for Windsor and Maidenhead are:-

Covid-19
 Immediate response
 Long term recovery
 New service requirements

Interim Focus Objectives
 Service stand up (business continuity)
 Revised service operating plans
 Transformation plan
 Climate strategy
 Governance
 People plan –values, leadership, Diversity and Inclusion

MTFS

 Impact of Covid-19 directly
 Economic downturn
 Government policy

6.5 A number of these priorities involve long term capital investment in the Royal
Borough.

6.6 The Council’s capital programme is prioritised into five key areas: Development,
Investment, Major Strategic Acquisitions, Efficiency and Operational.

54



Appendix A

6 | P a g e

7. Service priorities for investment

7.1 The Council’s service priorities for investment over the lifetime of this strategy
are set out by directorate for ease of reference, see table 1.

Table 1: RBWM service priorities for investment
Directorate Service priorities Link to statutory

or other plan
Link to Council
priority

Adults, Health
and
Commissioning

 New
accommodation
provision for
vulnerable people

 Maintenance and
improvement of
existing
accommodation
provision.

Adult Social Care
Transformation
Programme

Healthy, skilled
and independent
residents

 Investment in
highways
infrastructure,
including bridges
and footpaths

 Investment in
alternative
transport linked to
climate change

 Investment in road
safety

Local Transport
Plan
Asset
Management Plan
Cycling Strategy

Safe and vibrant
communities
Attractive, well
connected
borough

55



Appendix A

7 | P a g e

 One off pump
priming
investment in
digital and
communications
infrastructure.

Council
Transformation
Strategy

Well managed
resources,
delivering value for
money

 Office
accommodation
provision for
commissioned
services

Well managed
resources,
delivering value for
money

Children’s
Services

 Education:
capacity to keep
up with growth in
population in
partnership with
Academy schools

Infrastructure Plan Healthy, skilled
and independent
residents, Well
managed
resources,
delivering value for
money

 Education:
capacity for
children with
additional needs
in mainstream
schools

Inclusion Strategy Healthy, skilled
and independent
residents, Well
managed
resources

 Social Care: 18-25
supported
accommodation
for care leavers
and those with
additional needs

Inclusion Strategy,
Sufficiency
Strategy,
Council
Transformation
Strategy

Healthy, skilled
and independent
residents, Well
managed
resources

 Social Care: 5-10
residential
children’s home
places to
challenge the
marketplace

Sufficiency
Strategy, Council
Transformation
Strategy

Healthy, skilled
and independent
residents, Well
managed
resources,
delivering value for
money

 Office
accommodation
for services

Well managed
resources,
delivering value for
money

 Modern
technology
platform for mobile
and partnership
working

Council
transformation
Strategy

Well managed
resources,
delivering value for
money

56



Appendix A

8 | P a g e

7.2 The Council also needs to be flexible enough to respond to opportunities to
lever in additional external funding or grant that could partially fund an additional
project alongside some capital investment from the Council.

8. Delivering Capital Projects

8.1 All capital projects over £100,000 are subject to a gateway process that
requires them to set out:

(a) A procurement Strategy for the project
(b) A project timetable and delivery plan
(c) An updated financial assessment including the revenue implications
(d) A clear assessment of project benefits and how these will be delivered

and assessed.

8.2 The Council has established a Capital Programme Board (CPB) which
oversees the delivery of the capital programme. CPB is an officer working
group. It is an advisory / monitoring body and takes any decision making power
from the delegated authority of officers attending as set out in the scheme of
delegation and the financial procedure rules within the Council’s Constitution.
It makes decisions where priorities and budgets are already agreed within the
Council’s Policy and Budget Framework. Any proposal that is outside the
approved Policy and Budget framework will be referred to Cabinet and/or
Council in accordance with the Constitution. The following summarises the
terms of reference of the board:

Membership
 Executive Director of Place
 Head of Finance
 Head of HR, Corporate Projects and IT
 Head of Infrastructure and Sustainability
 Head of Commissioning –Infrastructure
 Capital Accountant.

Support to the Board
 Project Manager –Corporate Projects
 Executive Assistant to Executive Director of Place

Frequency
 CPB normally meets every 2 months but more frequently as

required e.g. in the lead up to budget setting.

Overall Responsibilities
 Advise on the Council’s Capital Strategy in line with the Council’s

priorities.
 Ensure the effective development and delivery of the Capital

Programme in line with the Council’s Capital Strategy and Council
priorities.

 Identify and monitor the resources available to fund the Capital
Programme in the most efficient way.

57



Appendix A

9 | P a g e

 Oversee the gateway process for the Capital Programme.
 Monitor the progress of the Capital programme and key variances

between plans and performance.
 Encourage and enable the development of learning, skills and

capacity in the management of capital projects across the
organisation.

Priority Outcomes
 An effective Capital Strategy and Capital Programme that optimises

the resources available to deliver the Council’s priorities.
 Continuous improvement in the development and delivery of the

capital programme and that strategic capital investment is planned
and delivered in the most efficient and effective way.

 Review completed of the previously approved Capital
Programme in light of the ‘new normal’environment the Council will
operate in.

 Better management of capital projects, in line with best practice,
ensuring benefits are realised.

 Effective bidding for external capital funding.
 Enhanced cross-service strategic working and partnerships with

other organisations on the development and management of capital
projects.

 That the Capital Strategy and Programme is funded in the most
efficient way and fully integrated into the Medium
Term Financial Strategy of the Council.

 That lessons are learnt from capital projects undertaken by the
Council.

8.3 The Working Group is able to approve the delivery of all projects up to
£250,000, while projects above this level will be approved by Cabinet.

8.4 Cabinet receives a report on the delivery of capital schemes which is included
within the regular Financial Update.

9. Financial Risks

9.1 Planning for the future can never be an exact science. There are many factors
that the Council cannot control completely, COVID-19 being a prime example,
which can have a significant impact on the viability of future capital plans.

(a) Revenue Budget – ultimately the cost of borrowing to fund capital
investment has to be met by the revenue budget. This means that the
sustainability of the revenue budget as set out within the Budget Strategy
is a key risk factor that impacts on the affordability of capital spending.

(b) Government Grants–although Government Grants have reduced over
time this still makes a significant contribution towards the cost and
viability of major schools and highways schemes. This may improve

58



Appendix A

10 | P a g e

further should the government award additional capital grant for
infrastructure in future years.

(c) Interest Rates – although currently at a very low level, any rise in
interest rates will impact on the affordability and viability of key future
capital projects.

(d) Project Creep - projects delivered over a period of time are inherently
risky. Tight cost control is needed to ensure that the project keeps within
the spending envelope.

(e) Contractual Risk – the cost of major projects can be heavily dependent
on the level of competition that influences bids to deliver the scheme.

9.2 Capital Projects are inherently risky. There are significant risks that the costs
of capital schemes can exceed the original capital programme allocation. There
is also a delivery risk that projects can be late.

9.3 Funding capital investment represents a significant pressure on the revenue
budget. It is essential that the Council understands fully the revenue impact of
capital investment and the extent to which the project:

(i) meets the council’s objectives
(ii) is self-funding
(iii) delivers a realistic pay back in the case of invest to save schemes

10. Summary and Conclusion

10.1 Capital investment decisions involve substantial sums of money and represent
a long term plan, which can extend well beyond the term of the existing Council.

10.2 Decisions on future capital investment therefore need to balance a range of
different long term priorities, often within tight financial constraints.

10.3 The strategy sets out some clear criteria for determining capital spending and
deciding on the competing priorities.

10.4 The strategy also sets out a key delivery mechanism designed to deliver
effective implementation of capital plans.

59



This page is intentionally left blank



Report Title: 2020-21 Audit and Investigation Interim
Report (1 April 2020 – 30 September
2020)

Contains Confidential or
Exempt Information?

No - Part I

Member Reporting: Cllr C. Bateson, Chairman of the Audit and
Governance Committee

Meeting and Date: Audit and Governance Committee 9
November 2020

Responsible Officer(s): Andrew Vallance, Head of Finance and
Deputy S151 Officer

Wards affected: None

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)

RECOMMENDATION: That the Audit and Governance Committee notes
the Shared Audit and Investigation Service activity for the six months
ending 30 September 2020.

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Options

Table 1: Options arising from this report
Option Comments
Note the activity of the SAIS during
the first nine months of the financial
year.

This is the recommended option

This will ensure that the Council
meets its statutory requirements. In
addition, the Audit and Governance
Committee will comply with its
responsibilities as set out within their
ToR and also the requirements of
the Council’s Anti Fraud and Anti
Corruption Strategy.

REPORT SUMMARY

1. This report summarises the Shared Audit and Investigation Service (SAIS)
activity, including progress in achieving the 2020/21 Internal Audit and
Investigation Plan, during the first six months of 2020/21 to 30 September
2020. This report will complement the 2020/21 Annual Audit and
Investigation Report that will be presented to this Committee in June 2021.

2. It recommends that Members note the activity of the SAIS during the first six
months of the 2020/21 financial year and the outcome of the audit reviews
and investigations undertaken.

3. This recommendation is being made to ensure that the Council meets its
legislative requirements, as well as the requirements of the Audit and
Governance Committee’s Terms of Reference and the Council’s Anti Fraud
and Anti Corruption Strategy.

61

Agenda Item 8



Option Comments
This will ensure that the SAIS is
complying with industry best
practice as detailed in the Public
Sector Internal Audit Standards
(PSIAS).

Note this report, proposing
amendments

Members may wish to request that
this report be amended / altered if
they feel that there are material
issues which have not received
sufficient emphasis or if there are
specific issues the report is deficient
in.

This may mean that the SAIS may
not be complying with industry best
practice as stated in the PSIAS.

Not note this report This may expose the Council to
unnecessary risks by not having an
adequate internal control framework
leading to poor performance and
poor outcomes for service
users/residents.

It may result in a qualification in the
External Auditors’ Annual
Management Letter.

The SAIS will not be complying with
industry best practice as detailed in
the PSIAS.

2.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that every local authority
undertakes an effective internal audit of their risk management, internal control
and governance processes.

2.2 In addition, the Director of Resources (Section 151 Officer) has a statutory
duty under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to establish a clear
framework for the proper administration of the authority's financial affairs. To
perform that duty, the Section 151 Officer relies, amongst other things, upon
the work of Internal Audit in reviewing the operation of systems of internal
control and financial management. The SAIS carries out the work required to
satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to
the Audit and Governance Committee.

2.3 The aim of the report attached at Appendix A and the supporting Appendix A(I)
is to cover these legislative requirements and it also provides a summary of
the Council’s investigation activities, as required to be reported on a half yearly
and annual basis to the Audit and Governance Committee in accordance with
the Council’s Anti Fraud and Anti Corruption Strategy.

62



2.4 The 2020/21 Internal Audit and Investigation Plan was approved by the
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 4 February 2020. The emphasis on
developing the Internal Audit Plan was based on mandatory and legislative
requirements and the risks set out in the Corporate Risk Register (CRR) and it
is clearly targeted at assisting the Council in achieving its key objectives.

2.5 Whilst a number of audit reviews are effectively considered as mandatory (key
financial systems, particularly high risk items etc), others enter or leave the
Audit Plan based on the CRR uncontrolled risk rating and the views of officers
and Members. As such, the Plan is fluid and is regularly realigned to
accommodate changes to the CRR, thereby ensuring that it remains current
and focussed on the key risks affecting the Council. An in year review of the
2020/21 Audit and Investigation Plan has been undertaken and this was
presented to this Committee on 14 September 2020. This revised Plan takes
account of the effects of the Covid pandemic in respect of the audit and
investigation work being undertaken during this financial year.

2.6 This recommendation is being made to ensure that industry best practice for
the SAIS is being followed.

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 Table 2: Key Implications
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly

Exceeded
Date of
delivery

SAIS work is
effective and is
on track to
achieve the
2020/21 Internal
Audit and
Investigation
Plan, approved
by the Corporate
Overview and
Scrutiny Panel on
4 February 2020.
In addition, the
Committee is
complying with
the requirements
of its ToR and
the requirements
of the Council’s
Anti Fraud and
Anti Corruption
Strategy.

Failure of the
Council to meet
its statutory
requirements
and failure of
the Audit and
Governance
Committee to
discharge its
responsibilities.

Council meets
its statutory
requirements to
provide an
adequate and
effective
internal audit of
its system of
internal control.
The Audit and
Governance
Committee
discharges its
responsibilities.

n/a n/a 31 March
2021

63



Unqualified
External Audit
Financial
Accounts and
Management
Letter.

Adverse
comment and a
qualified
External Audit
Management
Letter if the
Council fails to
maintain an
adequate
Internal Audit
function.

Unqualified
External Audit
Management
Letter as
Council meets
its requirements
to provide an
adequate and
effective
Internal Audit
function.

n/a n/a 31 March
2021

Residents have
confidence that
public funds are
being used
economically,
efficiently and
effectively and
that Council
assets and
interests are
being
safeguarded from
misappropriation,
loss or fraud.

Loss of
residents’
confidence,
Council assets
and interests
may not be
safeguarded
and the
Council’s
reputation may
be affected if
there are not
effective
Internal Audit
and
Investigation
functions.

Gain residents’
confidence,
Council assets
and interests
are
safeguarded
and the
Council’s
reputation is
protected as
Council
provides an
effective
Internal Audit
and
Investigation
functions.

n/a n/a Ongoing

External Audit
fee kept to a
minimum.

Increase in the
External Audit
fee arising from
them being
required to
undertake
additional audit
work by not
being able to
place reliance
on the work of
Internal Audit.

External Audit
relies on the
work of Internal
Audit keeping
the External
Audit fee to a
minimum.

n/a n/a Ongoing

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY

a) Financial impact on the budget

Revenue - Officer time in dealing with provision of the SAIS
Capital – None.

b) Financial Background – n/a – see 4a) above

64



5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Internal Audit carry out their activities under:-

 Regulations 6 (1), 6(3) and (4) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.
 S151 Local Government Finance Act 1972.
 CIPFA/IIA Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2017.

5.2 Investigatory activities are carried under:-
 Fraud Act 2006
 Criminal Justice Act 1987
 Theft Act 1968
 Forgery and Investigation Act 1981
 Social Security Administration Act 1992.
 Welfare Reform Act 2012.

6 RISK MANAGEMENT

Risks Uncontrolled Controls Controlled
1. Failure of the Council to
adequately plan and
undertake audit reviews
leading to failure to meet its
statutory requirements.
Without an adequate internal
audit function, the Council’s
key systems and services
are consequently at risk of
not achieving their objectives
in the most economic,
efficient and effective way
thus being exposed to
misappropriation / loss.

High Ensure and demonstrate an
adequate internal audit
function.

Provide a regular written
progress report on the work of
internal audit to those charged
with governance for
endorsement.

Low

2. Failure to provide
assurance that the work of
the Internal Audit function
properly supports the
governance framework, the
content of the Annual
Governance Statement and
the requirement for
additional External Audit
work at an enhanced cost to
the Council.

High Internal audit coverage
included as part of the
governance assurance
framework and informing the
Annual Governance
Statement.

Sufficient Internal Audit
coverage for External Audit to
be able to place reliance on
the work.

Low

3. Without an appropriate
internal audit governance
framework in place, which
includes an Internal Audit
Charter, improved
organisational processes
and operations will not be
identified across the Council
which means that value for
money is not achieved.

Medium Approved Internal Audit
Charter in operation and being
followed.

Low

65



7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS

7.1 Equalities. The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council to
ensure that when considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan,
project, service or procedure the impacts on particular groups, including those
within the workforce and customer/public groups, have been considered. This
report is a non decision making report and updates current fraud policies. In
undertaking our investigative work, we ensure we have regard for equalities.

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. We have considered the potential impact of the
recommendations in relation to climate change / sustainability and have
identified no impact.

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. No personal data is being processed for this decision
Data Protection Impact Assessments are a lawful requirement under certain
conditions but do not impact on this report.

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 Consultations were undertaken with both internal stakeholders (Members of
the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel, Corporate Leadership Team,
S151 Officer and the Insurance and Risk Manager) in preparing the 2020/21
Internal Audit and Investigation Plan. It should be noted that a new Audit and
Governance Committee has been set up during 2020/21 and responsibility for
Internal Audit now falls within that Committee.

8.2 Management and staff have been consulted prior to and during the course of
the audit and investigation reviews to ensure that work is timed to suit both
parties, to incorporate managements’ priorities and to agree a course of action
to implement the outcome of those reviews.

8.3 Consultation in respect of investigations work is as set down in the Council’s
Anti Fraud and Anti Corruption Strategy.

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

9.1 The full implementation stages are set out in Table 3.

Table 3: Implementation timetable

Date Details
31 March 2021 2020/21 Internal Audit and Investigation Plan – In Year

Review

10 APPENDICES

10.1 This report is supported by 2 appendices:
 Appendix A – 2020/2021 Audit and Investigation Interim Progress Report

(to 30 September 2020)
 Appendix A(I) – 2020/21 Internal Audit Plan Status (1 April 2020 – 30

September 2020)

66



11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

11.1 This report is supported by 3 background documents:
 2020/21 Audit and Investigation Plan – In Year Review
 Anti Fraud and Anti Corruption Strategy
 CIPFA/IIA Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2017

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)

Name of
consultee

Post held Date
sent

Date
returned

Cllr Bateson Chair of Audit and Governance
Committee

26/10/20

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 26/10/20
Russell O’Keefe Director of Place 26/10/20
Adele Taylor Director of Resources/S151

Officer
26/10/20 29/10/20

Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 26/10/20 27/10/20
Hilary Hall Director of Adults, Health and

Commissioning
26/10/20 28/10/20

Andrew Vallance Head of Finance 26/10/20
Elaine Browne Head of Law 26/10/20 28/10/20
Mary Severin Monitoring Officer 26/10/20
Nikki Craig Head of HR, Corporate

Projects and IT
26/10/20 27/10/20

Louisa Dean Communications 26/10/20
Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 26/10/20 27/10/20

REPORT HISTORY

Decision type:
Audit and
Governance
Committee for
noting

Urgency item?
No

To Follow item?
No

Report Authors:-
Andrew Moulton, Assistant Director Governance; Wokingham Borough
Council for the Shared Audit and Investigation Service and Chief Audit
Executive, Tel no.07747 777298; Catherine Hickman, Lead Specialist, Audit
and Investigation;
Tel no: 07885 983378

67



Appendix A

S haredAuditandInvestigationS ervice

R oyalBoroughofW indsorandM aidenheadP erform anceR eport

2020/21 AuditandInvestigationInterim P rogressR eport

(1 April2020 to30 S eptem ber2020)

1. IN T R O DU CT IO N

1.1 T hisreportsum m arisesthew orkoftheS haredAuditandInvestigationS ervicefrom
1 April2020 to30 S eptem ber2020.T herearethreekey areasoftheservicesw ork;
InternalAudit,GovernanceandInvestigations.

1.2 Internalauditisastatutory functionundertheAccountsand AuditR egulations
2015 anditisanindependent,objectiveassuranceandconsultingactivity designed
toaddvalueandim proveanorganisation’soperations.Ithelpsanorganisation
accom plishitsobjectivesby bringingasystem atic,disciplinedapproachtoevaluate
andim provetheeffectivenessofriskm anagem ent,controlandgovernance
processes.

1.3 A form alannualreportpresentingtheChiefAuditExecutive’sopinionontheoverall
adequacy andeffectivenessoftheCouncil’sfram ew orkofinternalcontrol,risk
m anagem entand governanceisrequiredasstatedintheP ublicS ectorInternal
AuditS tandards.T hepurposeofthisinterim reportistoprovideanupdateonthe
progressm adeagainstthedelivery oftheAuditandInvestigationP lanataninterim
stage(30 S eptem ber2020).T hisreportprovidesdetailsofthestatusofaudits,i.e.
thosecom pletedtodate,atdraftstageorw orkinprogressw iththeassurance
opinionsgiven.Inaddition,itprovidesasum m ary ofinternalauditperform ance,
planningandresourcingissues.

1.4 Investigationw orkinvolvestheproactiveprevention,detectionand investigationof
fraud,corruptionandw rong-doing.T hem ainfocusofthisactivity isfinancialfraud
com m itted againstthecouncil.How ever,theteam canusetheirskillsinother
relevantcasesi.e.disciplinary investigations.

1.5 T heL eadS pecialist,AuditandInvestigation,S haredAuditand InvestigationS ervice
undertheR egulationofInvestigatory P ow ersAct2000 (R IP A)istheCouncil’sR IP A
Co-O rdinatingO fficerresponsibleforoversightandcontroloverR IP A applications.
R IP A regulatesthe w aysthatgovernm entbodies,includingthepolice,areallow ed
tocarry outsurveillance,w hichincludesaccessingany com m unicationsdata,
listeningtophonecalls,follow ingpeople,takingphotographsandinterceptinge-
m ails.

68



2. IN T ER N A L A U DIT

2.1 P erform anceagainsttheInternalAuditandInvestigationP lanto30 S eptem ber
2020 isasfollow s;

 Appendix A(I)presentsprogressm adeagainstthe2020/21 InternalAuditand
InvestigationP lanbetw een1 April2020 to30 S eptem ber2020.

 Auditw orkinQ uarters1 and 2 hasseendelaysw iththecom m encem entof

specificauditw orkbeingputonholdduetoservicesrespondingtothe

im pactsofCovid-19.T hew orkoftheteam hasbeenrefocussed and

reprioritisedandapositiveexam pleisinrespectofsupportprovidedtothe

R evenuesandBenefitsandFinanceteam sinrespectoftheBusinessR ate

Grantsprocessandassociatedriskm itigations.Duetotheim pactoftheCovid-

19 pandem iconthecouncil,andfurthertoconversationsw ithvariousother

HeadsofInternalAudit,andtakingintoaccountotheradvicefrom professional

bodies,w ehavebeencarefully consideringw hatw eneed toachievein

2020/21 w ithregardsInternalAuditand Investigationw orkduringthese

unprecedentedtim es.W earem indfulthataproportionateapproachto

InternalAuditm ustbetakentoallow councilstaffand M em berstofocuson

therecovery from theCovid-19 crisisandcouncilpriorities.A revised2020/21

Auditand InvestigationP lanw aspresented tothisCom m itteeon14

S eptem bertoreflecttheneedtobeflexibletosupporttheorganisationand

respondingtonew and em ergingrisks.

2.2 T able1 below sum m arisesthestatusofauditsagainstthe2020/21 Auditand
InvestigationP lanasat30 S eptem ber2020 andincludesthoseauditscom pleted
from the2019/20 financialyear.

T able1:S tatusofaudits

Audit Status
Number
of audits

W orkinprogressandcarriedforw ardto2020/21 7

DraftR eport

FinalR eport 6

T otal 13

2.3 T able2 below sum m arisestheauditopinionsaw ardedforthoseauditsfinalisedin
theyear2020/21 todate.Itispleasingtonotethatoneauditachievedthehighest
category ofauditopinion.

69



T able2 :S um m ary ofauditopinionsaw arded

O verall

O pinion

S um m ary ofA uditO pinion N oof

A udits

1 Complete and Effective 1

2 Substantially Complete and Generally Effective 3

3
Range of Risk Mitigation Controls is incomplete and risks are not

effectively mitigated
2

4 There is no effective Risk Management process in place 0

T otal 6

2.4 M anagem entisgivenonem onthbetw eenthedraftandfinalreportingstageto
addressany counterm easuresand,w hereapplicable,im provetheoverallaudit
opinion.T herew erenoauditsundertakenduringtheperiodw herethisoptionw as
utilisedby m anagem ent.

2.5 T herearetw oauditreview sreceivingthethirdcategory ofauditopinion(Debtors,
previously reportedandR econciliations)andnoneinthefourthcategory ofaudit
opinion(asshow ninAppendix A(I)– L egend S ection)thathavebeencom pleted to
FinalR eportstagesincethe2019/20 AnnualR eportsubm ittedtothenew Auditand
GovernanceCom m itteeon14 S eptem ber2020 thatw erecom pletedinthe2020/21
financialyear. A sum m ary oftheauditreview receivingthethirdcategory isas
follow s;

Debtors2019/20

 T hecurrentauditopinionisL evel3 – m anagem entresponsestothedraft
reportw erepartially receivedasatend ofS eptem ber2020 andtheS AIS are
currently w orkingw iththerelevantm anagerstofinalisethisreportby theend
ofO ctober2020;

 A revised DebtR ecovery P olicy includingtheEscalationP rocessw asagreedby
m anagem entinAugust2020;

 M anagem entconsiderthattherevisedDebtR ecovery P olicy hasalready had
som eim pact,how ever,greaterandcontinuedsuccessreliesuponservice
areasactively engagingw iththeprocess.

70



 M anagem entresponsestodatehaveprovidedanum berofassurances:
 Financeintendstoreview theapproachtobaddebtprovisionand Debtors

m oregenerally in20-21;
 Considerationw illbegivenastow hetherbad debtsshouldbeallocatedto

S ervicebudgetsratherthanacentralisedprovisionasanincentiveforS ervice
Areastotakegreaterresponsibility fordebtm anagem ent.

 Extensivew orkhasbeenundertakenbetw eentheR evenuesandBenefits
serviceandO ptalistoreview theprocessesanddefinerolesand
responsibilities. T hisw orkw asinitially duetostartinApril2020 butw as
delayedduetoCovid;

 Fullim plem entationoftherevisedprocessesw illberolledoutfrom 1
Decem ber2020.

 T heS AIS w illfollow upprogressw henundertakingtheannualDebtorsaudit
laterinthisfinancialyear.

2019/20 R econciliations(Finalisedin2020/21)

 Key Financialreconciliationshavebeenidentifiedandareauditedatleastbi-
annually by internalaudit.Any om issionsorfailuresarethereforehighlighted
toS eniorM anagem entthroughtheauditreportingprocess.

 T hisaudithasa3rd category opinion,asthecontrolsaroundS erviceArea
identificationofkey reconciliations,andensuringthey aretakingplace,are
lim ited.T hisisnottosay thatkey reconciliationsarenottakingplace,itis
m oreaquestionofnotknow ingw hetherthey areornot.T hisexposesthe
Counciltopotentialfinancialandreputationalrisk.Interm sofratingtherisks
inthefindingsbelow ,forthoseS erviceareasthathavebeenauditedrecently,
and/orw herereconciliationactivity islooked ataspartoftheKey Financial
system saudits,theriskisreducedtom oderate.

 AllS erviceL eadsagreedthatitw ouldbeaw orthw hileexercisetoidentify,
recordandm onitorkey reconciliations.T herew ere,how ever,reservations
abouttheresourceim plicationsofdoingso,asthisw ouldnotbeashorttask,
andtherem ay notbestaffavailabletocarry itout,ortocom pletethe
identifiedreconciliationsonaregularbasis.Inordertofacilitatethisexercise,
m anagem entsuggestedthattherew as:

 acleardefinitionofw hatakey reconciliationis

 aclearandconsistentm essageaboutw hatisexpected

 considerationoftheresourcesnecessary tom eetexpectations.

71



 T herew asnotaconsensusview onw heretheoverallresponsibility shouldsit
forensuringthatallkey reconciliationsareidentified,recordedand
m onitored;acorporateview isthereforesought.

 T hereare10 concernsidentifiedinthisAuditR eport-2 m ajor,8 m oderate

and1 m inorrisk.T hem ajorriskconcernsrelatetothelackof:

form alidentification,recordingandm onitoringofkey reconciliation
activity

adefinitivelistofpropertiesforw hichR BW M isresponsible

GrantCertification

2.6 W hereagrantgivingbody requiresaninternalauditcertificatebeforereleasing
paym ent,theteam carriesoutw orktoverify andcertify am ountsthattheCouncil
canclaim .W ithoutthiscertification,grantsm ay becom erepayable.Grants
certifiedinclude:-

 T roubledFam iliesGrant.

 DisabledFacilitiesGrant.

 L ocalEnterpriseP artnership

2.7 Contingency w orkhasbeenundertakeninrespectofR econciliations,theoutcom e
ofw hichissum m arisedabove.

O utstandingm anagem entresponses

2.8T herearenooutstandingm anagem entresponsestoauditreports.

3. CO R P O R A T EIN VES T IGA T IO N S

3.1 T hew orkundertakenby theS haredS ervicehasincludedre-activeinvestigationsas
w ellasdevelopingpro-activefrauddrives.

CO VID BusinessGrantFraudpostassurance

 T heS haredS ervicehasbeeninvolvedintheCO VID BusinessGrantFraudpost

assurancew hichhasresultedinonecasethatisanattem pted fraudfora

com pany thathasbeenidentifiedasfraudulently claim ingacrossthecountry

andthishasbeenreferredtotheDepartm entforBusiness,Energy and

IndustrialS trategy (BEIS )andreportedtotheappropriateN ationalFraud

bodiessuchastheN ationalAntiFraudN etw orkandtheCabinetO ffice

72



(N ationalFraudInitiative). O thercasesw erefoundtobeeitherlocalauthority

errororapplicanterror.

 Eachapplicationforthesegrantsw ascheckedby arevenuesofficerfor

verificationoneligibility beforepaym entw asm ade. T heS haredS ervicehas

w orkedclosely w iththeHeadofR evenues,Benefits,L ibrary andR esident

S ervicescom pletingtheFraudR iskAssessm entandtheBEIS returns.Asat23rd

July 2020,w esam pletested796 outof1215 paym entsm adeasat

23/7/2020. O fw hich286 w ere£10kand 510 w ere£25k.Q ueriesw ereraised,

investigatedandclearedaspartofthisexercise.

 T heS haredS ervicecontinuestow orkw iththeR evenuesandBenefitssection

w ithregardtothepostassurancerequirem entsofBEIS forappropriateCO VID

grantsm ade.

Em pty P roperty R eview

 W orkhasbeenundertakenduringthefirstpartoftheyeartoinvestigate

CouncilT ax Em pty P roperty R elief.Itshould benotedthattheproperties

identifiedintheCouncilT ax Em pty P roperty R eliefexerciseasoccupiedthat

w erepreviously show nasunoccupiedfeedintotheN ew Hom esBonus

S chem eform ulaand m ay resultinextraincom eintothecouncilthroughliable

chargesbeingraisedforpreviouscounciltax liability.

 T henum berofletterssentoutfortheem pty property review w as880 w ith

694 receivedbackofw hich344 ofthese,reportingchangesincircum stances

w hichcontributetotheabove.

4. R EGU L A T IO N O FIN VES T IGA T O R Y P O W ER S A CT

4.1 N oinvestigationcaseshavebeenundertakenduringthefirstsix m onthsof2020/21
thathaverequiredR IP A surveillanceapprovaltoberequested.

73



Appendix A(I)

2020-21 Inte rim Aud ita nd Inve stig a tionRe port(to30 Se pte m b e r2020) -Appe nd ixA(I) Pa g e 1

2020/21 Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Internal Audit Plan Status
(as at 30 September 2020)

AUDIT TITLE DIRECTORATE STATUS FINAL AUDIT
REPORT OPINION

2020/21 Audits

Key Financial Systems

Payroll Resources WIP

Payroll (AfC) Resources WIP

Creditors Resources WIP

General Ledger Resources WIP

Governance Building Blocks

Risk Management Cross Cutting WIP

Performance Management Cross Cutting WIP

Key Operational Risks

Data Protection & GDPR Compliance
(Follow Up)

Cross Cutting WIP

Servicing the Business

Grant Claims – including Troubled
Families, Local Enterprise Partnership,
Disabled Facilities Grant

C

Contingency

Covid 19 Controls Review

2019/20 Audits completed in 2020/21

Key Financial Systems

Debtors Resources FINAL 3

General Ledger Resources FINAL 1

Cash and Banking Arrangements Resources FINAL 2

Reconciliations Managing Director FINAL 3

Key Operational Risks

Highways Place FINAL 2

Auditor Judgement

Cheapside School Children’s Services FINAL 2

Servicing the Business

PSIAS Annual Self Assessment Cross Cutting FINAL n/a

74



Ja nua ry2020 Inte rna lAud itRe port-Appe nd ixA(I) Pa g e 2

Audit Opinion Definitions

1 Complete and Effective

2 Substantially Complete and Generally Effective

3 Range of Risk Mitigation Controls is incomplete and risks are not effectively mitigated

4 There is no effective Risk Management process in place

Legend

C - Certification
E - Exempt

75



This page is intentionally left blank



audit
committees

Practical Guidance for  
Local Authorities and Police
2018 Edition

77

Agenda Item 9



CIPFA, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, is the professional body for people in 
public finance. Our 14,000 members work throughout the public services, in national audit agencies, in major 
accountancy firms, and in other bodies where public money needs to be effectively and efficiently managed. 
As the world’s only professional accountancy body to specialise in public services, CIPFA’s qualifications are the 
foundation for a career in public finance. We also champion high performance in public services, translating our 
experience and insight into clear advice and practical services. Globally, CIPFA shows the way in public finance 
by standing up for sound public financial management and good governance.

CIPFA values all feedback it receives on any aspects of its publications and publishing programme. Please 
send your comments to customerservices@cipfa.org.

Our range of high quality advisory, information and consultancy services help public bodies – from small 
councils to large central government departments – to deal with the issues that matter today. And our 
monthly magazine, Public Finance, is the most influential and widely read periodical in the field.

Here is just a taste of what we provide:

�� TISonline �� CIPFA-Penna recruitment services

�� Benchmarking �� Research and statistics

�� Advisory and consultancy �� Seminars and conferences

�� Professional networks �� Education and training

�� Property and asset management services

Call or visit our website to find out more about CIPFA, our products and services – and how we can support 
you and your organisation in these unparalleled times.

020 7543 5600 
customerservices@cipfa.org 
www.cipfa.org

78

mailto:customerservices%40cipfa.org?subject=
mailto:customerservices%40cipfa.org?subject=
http://www.cipfa.org


audit
committees

Practical Guidance for  
Local Authorities and Police
2018 Edition

79



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page ii

Published by:

CIPFA  \  THE CHARTERED INSTITUTE OF PUBLIC FINANCE AND ACCOUNTANCY

77 Mansell Street, London E1 8AN

020 7543 5600  \  customerservices@cipfa.org  \  www.cipfa.org

© March 2018 CIPFA

ISBN 978 1 84508 492 9

Designed and typeset by Ministry of Design, Bath  
(www.ministryofdesign.co.uk)

No responsibility for loss occasioned to any person acting or refraining from action 
as a result of any material in this publication can be accepted by the authors or 
publisher.

While every care has been taken in the preparation of this publication, it may 
contain errors for which the publisher and authors cannot be held responsible.

Apart from any fair dealing for the purposes of research or private study, or 
criticism or review, as permitted under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act, 
1988, this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted, in any form or 
by any means, only with the prior permission in writing of the publishers, or in the 
case of reprographic reproduction in accordance with the terms of licences issued 
by the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd. Enquiries concerning reproduction outside 
those terms should be sent to the publishers at the above mentioned address.80

mailto:customerservices%40cipfa.org?subject=
http://www.cipfa.org
http://www.ministryofdesign.co.uk


Page iii

Acknowledgements

A sincere thanks to all those who have provided content, comment and feedback on this 
publication, including Keeley Lund, Kerry Ace, Alison Dewhirst and Alison Scott. Comments on 
external audit have been provided by David Aldous and Andrew Kendrick at the National Audit 
Office and Jon Hayes at Public Sector Audit Appointments, and we appreciate their input.

Thanks also to the audit committee members who have attended our training courses 
for providing their insight into the challenges, frustrations and rewards of being an audit 
committee member. I hope that this publication can support you in undertaking your 
important work.

Diana Melville 
Governance Advisor, CIPFA

81



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page iv

82



Page v

Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION..................................................................................................................................... 1

CHAPTER 2: CIPFA’S POSITION STATEMENT: AUDIT COMMITTEES IN LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE.. 3

CHAPTER 3: THE PURPOSE OF AUDIT COMMITTEES ............................................................................................. 7

CHAPTER 4: THE CORE FUNCTIONS OF AN AUDIT COMMITTEE.........................................................................11
INTRODUCTION......................................................................................................................................................11

GOOD GOVERNANCE AND THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT............................................................12

INTERNAL AUDIT...................................................................................................................................................13

RISK MANAGEMENT..............................................................................................................................................16

ASSURANCE FRAMEWORKS AND ASSURANCE PLANNING.............................................................................17

VALUE FOR MONEY AND BEST VALUE................................................................................................................17

COUNTERING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION..........................................................................................................18

EXTERNAL AUDIT...................................................................................................................................................19

FINANCIAL REPORTING.......................................................................................................................................22

PARTNERSHIP GOVERNANCE AND COLLABORATION AGREEMENTS ...........................................................23

GOVERNANCE AND ETHICAL VALUES.................................................................................................................24

CHAPTER 5: POSSIBLE WIDER FUNCTIONS OF AN AUDIT COMMITTEE............................................................27
CONSIDERING MATTERS AT THE REQUEST OF STATUTORY OFFICERS OR OTHER COMMITTEES.............27

ETHICS COMMITTEE AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE ROLES..........................................................................28

TREASURY MANAGEMENT...................................................................................................................................28

CHAPTER 6: INDEPENDENCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY .........................................................................................31
INTRODUCTION......................................................................................................................................................32

SECTOR AND DEVOLVED GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE........................................................................................32

STRUCTURE AND INDEPENDENCE......................................................................................................................33

SHARED AUDIT COMMITTEES.............................................................................................................................34

AUDIT COMMITTEES IN PARTNERSHIP.............................................................................................................34

DECISION-MAKING POWERS AND DELEGATIONS............................................................................................34

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS...............................................................................35

ACCOUNTABILITY .................................................................................................................................................37

CHAPTER 7: MEMBERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS.................................................................................................39
COMPOSITION AND OPERATION OF THE COMMITTEE....................................................................................39

KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERIENCE..........................................................................................................................42

DEVELOPING AUDIT COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS..........................................................................................43

COMMON AREAS OF DIFFICULTY FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES..........................................................................44

APPROACHES TO IMPROVEMENT AND EVALUATING EFFECTIVENESS.........................................................47

APPENDIX A: SECTOR AND DEVOLVED GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE.....................................................................49
PART 1 – COMPARISON OF SECTOR AND DEVOLVED GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS AND GUIDANCE ON 

KEY AREAS RELATED TO AUDIT COMMITTEES.....................................................................................50

83



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page vi

PART 2 – GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE BY SECTOR AND DEVOLVED GOVERNMENT ON MATTERS THAT 
MAY BE INCLUDED IN AUDIT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE...................................................53

APPENDIX B: SUGGESTED TERMS OF REFERENCE – LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE...............................59
INTRODUCTION......................................................................................................................................................59

SUGGESTED TERMS OF REFERENCE – LOCAL AUTHORITIES.........................................................................59

SUGGESTED TERMS OF REFERENCE – POLICE..................................................................................................62

APPENDIX C: AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS – KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK...............................65
CORE AREAS OF KNOWLEDGE.............................................................................................................................65

SPECIALIST KNOWLEDGE THAT ADDS VALUE TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE.................................................69

CORE SKILLS ..........................................................................................................................................................70

APPENDIX D: SELF-ASSESSMENT OF GOOD PRACTICE.......................................................................................73

APPENDIX E:EVALUATING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE..................................................77

84



Page 1

CHAPTER 1 

Introduction

This publication sets out CIPFA’s guidance on the function and operation of audit committees 
in local authorities and police bodies, and represents best practice for audit committees in 
local authorities throughout the UK and for police audit committees in England and Wales.

This publication incorporates CIPFA’s Position Statement: Audit Committees in Local 
Authorities and Police (2018) (‘the Position Statement’), which sets out CIPFA’s view of the 
role and functions of an audit committee and replaces the previous 2013 Position Statement. 
Throughout the Position Statement the terms ‘authority’ and ‘authorities’ are used to include 
police and crime commissioners (PCCs) and chief constables as well as local authorities and 
fire and rescue authorities.

The Position Statement emphasises the importance of audit committees being in place in all 
principal local authorities and police bodies. It also recognises that audit committees are a 
key component of governance. 

The purpose of an audit committee is to provide to those charged with governance 
independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, the internal 
control environment and the integrity of the financial reporting and annual governance 
processes. In police bodies ‘those charged with governance’ are the PCC and the chief 
constable. 

Audit committees are an important source of assurance about an organisation’s 
arrangements for managing risk, maintaining an effective control environment and reporting 
on financial and other performance. The way in which an audit committee is organised will 
vary depending on the specific political and management arrangements in place in any 
organisation. This guidance therefore explores how audit committees relate to organisations’ 
different arrangements for managing and governing themselves.

Audit committees in local authorities and police bodies are necessary to satisfy the wider 
requirements for sound financial management and internal control. For example in England, 
the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 state that a local authority is responsible 
“for a sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of its functions 
and the achievement of its aims and objectives; ensures that the financial and operational 
management of the authority is effective and includes effective arrangements for the 
management of risk”. In addition, in England, Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 
requires every local authority to “make arrangements for the proper administration of its 
financial affairs”. 

Regardless of the specific legislative or regulatory framework, the chief financial officer 
(CFO) has overarching responsibility for discharging the requirement for sound financial 
management. To be truly effective, the CFO requires an effective audit committee to provide 
support and challenge. An essential role for the audit committee is to oversee internal audit, 

85

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/contents


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 2

helping to ensure that it is adequate and effective. Both these elements are now enshrined 
in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the supporting Local Government 
Application Note for the United Kingdom Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (LGAN).

There have been a number of significant developments in governance and audit practice 
since 2013 which have emphasised the importance of the audit committee. Key 
developments include: 

�� the new Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (CIPFA/Solace, 
2016)

�� updates to the PSIAS in 2016 and 2017

�� the Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (CIPFA, 2014). 

Legislation has also had an impact, in particular the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014, which introduced changes to the appointment of external auditors. The new combined 
authorities must also establish an audit committee in accordance with statutory regulations. 
For police bodies, the operation of joint audit committees supporting both the PCC and the 
chief constable have now completed a full term and further changes are on the horizon. 

The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables a PCC (following local consultation and approval 
from the secretary of state) to take on the governance of its local fire and rescue service(s) 
to become the fire and rescue authority, known as a police and crime commissioner fire and 
rescue authority (PCC FRA). This would be a separate legal entity from the PCC. 

The PCC FRA would be a corporation sole and a fire and rescue authority. There would 
therefore be the need for appropriate audit committee arrangements. Guidance on this is 
expected to be included in the Financial Management Code of Practice for the Police Forces 
of England and Wales (Home Office, 2013 – due to be updated in 2018). The aim of this 
publication is to support fire and rescue authority and police audit committees in performing 
effectively. 

Best practice dictates that governance, risk management and strong financial controls be 
embedded in the daily and regular business of an organisation. The existence of an audit 
committee does not remove responsibility from senior managers, members and leaders, but 
provides an opportunity and resource to focus on these issues. For police audit committees, 
there is a requirement to have independent members on the audit committee and Welsh 
authorities and English combined authorities must also include at least one independent 
member. CIPFA considers that this is in line with good practice. In establishing their audit 
committees, other authorities should recognise the need to demonstrate good governance 
principles and independence from the executive and other political allegiances.

This guidance is applicable to all principal local authorities and fire and rescue authorities 
in the UK, and to the independent audit committees established to support PCCs and chief 
constables. Where there is specific legislation or guidance relevant for one sector or devolved 
government, this has been highlighted in the publication.

86

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/l/local-government-application-note-for-the-uk-psias-book
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/l/local-government-application-note-for-the-uk-psias-book
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-framework-2016-edition
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/counter-fraud-documentation/code-of-practice-on-managing-the-risk-of-fraud-and-corruption
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice


Page 3

CHAPTER 2

CIPFA’s Position Statement:  
Audit Committees in  

Local Authorities and Police

The scope of this Position Statement includes all principal local authorities in the UK, 
the audit committees for PCCs and chief constables in England and Wales, and the audit 
committees of fire and rescue authorities.

1	 Audit committees are a key component of an authority’s governance framework. Their 
function is to provide an independent and high-level resource to support good governance 
and strong public financial management.

2	 The purpose of an audit committee is to provide to those charged with governance 
independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, the internal 
control environment and the integrity of the financial reporting and governance processes. By 
overseeing both internal and external audit it makes an important contribution to ensuring 
that effective assurance arrangements are in place. 

3	 Authorities and police audit committees should adopt a model that establishes the 
committee as independent and effective. The committee should:

�� act as the principal non-executive, advisory function supporting those charged with 
governance

�� in local authorities, be independent of both the executive and the scrutiny functions and 
include an independent member where not already required to do so by legislation

�� in police bodies, be independent of the executive or operational responsibilities of the 
PCC or chief constable

�� have clear rights of access to other committees/functions, for example, scrutiny and 
service committees, corporate risk management boards and other strategic groups

�� be directly accountable to the authority’s governing body or the PCC and chief constable.

4	 The core functions of an audit committee are to:

�� be satisfied that the authority’s assurance statements, including the annual governance 
statement, properly reflect the risk environment and any actions required to improve it, 
and demonstrate how governance supports the achievement of the authority’s objectives 

�� in relation to the authority’s internal audit functions:

–– oversee its independence, objectivity, performance and professionalism

–– support the effectiveness of the internal audit process

87



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 4

–– promote the effective use of internal audit within the assurance framework

�� consider the effectiveness of the authority’s risk management arrangements and the 
control environment, reviewing the risk profile of the organisation and assurances that 
action is being taken on risk-related issues, including partnerships and collaborations 
with other organisations

�� monitor the effectiveness of the control environment, including arrangements for 
ensuring value for money, supporting standards and ethics and for managing the 
authority’s exposure to the risks of fraud and corruption

�� consider the reports and recommendations of external audit and inspection agencies and 
their implications for governance, risk management or control

�� support effective relationships between external audit and internal audit, inspection 
agencies and other relevant bodies, and encourage the active promotion of the value of 
the audit process.

�� review the financial statements, external auditor’s opinion and reports to members, and 
monitor management action in response to the issues raised by external audit.

5	 An audit committee can also support its authority by undertaking a wider role in other areas 
including:

�� considering governance, risk or control matters at the request of other committees or 
statutory officers

�� working with local standards and ethics committees to support ethical values

�� reviewing and monitoring treasury management arrangements in accordance with 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral 
Guidance Notes (CIPFA, 2017) 

�� providing oversight of other public reports, such as the annual report.  

6 	 Good audit committees are characterised by:

�� a membership that is balanced, objective, independent of mind, knowledgeable and 
properly trained to fulfil their role. The political balance of a formal committee of a 
council will reflect the political balance of the council, however, it is important to achieve 
the right mix of apolitical expertise

�� a membership that is supportive of good governance principles and their practical 
application towards the achievement of organisational objectives

�� a strong independently minded chair – displaying a depth of knowledge, skills and 
interest. There are many personal qualities needed to be an effective chair, but key to 
these are:

–– promoting apolitical open discussion

–– managing meetings to cover all business and encouraging a candid approach from 
all participants

–– an interest in and knowledge of financial and risk management, audit, accounting 
concepts and standards, and the regulatory regime

�� unbiased attitudes – treating auditors, the executive and management fairly

�� the ability to challenge the executive and senior managers when required. 88

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2017-edition-online
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2017-edition-online


Chapter 2 \ CIPFA’s Position Statement: 
Audit Committees in 
Local Authorities and Police


Page 5

7	 To discharge its responsibilities effectively the committee should:

�� meet regularly – at least four times a year, and have a clear policy on those items to be 
considered in private and those to be considered in public

�� be able to meet privately and separately with the external auditor and with the head of 
internal audit

�� include, as regular attendees, the CFO(s), the chief executive, the head of internal audit 
and the appointed external auditor. Other attendees may include the monitoring officer 
(for standards issues) and the head of resources (where such a post exists). These officers 
should also be able to access the committee, or the chair, as required

�� have the right to call any other officers or agencies of the authority as required, while 
recognising the independence of the chief constable in relation to operational policing 
matters

�� report regularly on its work to those charged with governance, and at least annually 
report an assessment of their performance. An annual public report should demonstrate 
how the committee has discharged its responsibilities.

89



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 6

90



Page 7

CHAPTER 3

The purpose of  
audit committees 

Extract from the Position Statement

1	 Audit committees are a key component of an authority’s governance framework. Their function 
is to provide an independent and high level resource to support good governance and strong 
public financial management.

2	 The purpose of an audit committee is to provide to those charged with governance 
independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, the internal 
control environment and the integrity of the financial reporting and governance processes. By 
overseeing internal and external audit it makes an important contribution to ensuring that 
effective assurance arrangements are in place.

The overall aim of good governance is to ensure that:

�� resources are directed in accordance with agreed policy and according to priorities

�� there is sound and inclusive decision making

�� there is clear accountability for the use of those resources in order to achieve desired 
outcomes for service users and communities. 

Governance is defined in Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework 
(CIPFA/Solace, 2016) as follows:

�� Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended 
outcomes for stakeholders are defined and achieved. 

�� To deliver good governance in the public sector, both governing bodies and individuals 
working for public sector entities must try to achieve their entity’s objectives while 
acting in the public interest at all times.

Good governance is ultimately the responsibility of the governing body, as well as those 
with leadership roles and statutory responsibilities in the organisation, including the chief 
executive, the CFO and the monitoring officer. In local government, the governing body is the 
full council or authority and both the PCC and chief constable are responsible as a corporation 
sole. 

The audit committee should play a key role in supporting the discharge of those 
responsibilities by providing a high-level focus on audit, assurance and reporting. In local 
government, this committee may be delegated some governance responsibilities by the 
council; the police audit committee must remain an advisory body to the PCC and the chief 
constable. New policing arrangements were established by the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011. Guidance for police audit committees is contained in the Financial 

91

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-framework-2016-edition
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 8

Management Code of Practice for the Police Forces of England and Wales (Home Office, 2013 
– due to be updated in 2018).

As a key component of an organisation’s governance arrangements, the audit committee has 
the potential to be a valuable resource to the whole authority. Where it operates effectively, 
an audit committee adds value to its authority by supporting improvement across a range of 
objectives. To achieve wide-ranging influence, an audit committee will need commitment and 
energy from the membership together with support and openess from the authority.

The principal areas where the committee can influence and add value are:

�� promoting the principles of good governance and their application to decision making

�� raising awareness of the need for sound internal control and contributing to the 
development of an effective control environment

�� supporting arrangements for the governance of risk and for effective arrangements to 
manage risks

�� advising on the adequacy of the assurance framework and considering whether 
assurance is deployed efficiently and effectively

�� reinforcing the objectivity, importance and independence of internal audit and external 
audit and therefore the effectiveness of the audit functions

�� aiding the achievement of the authority’s goals and objectives through helping ensure 
appropriate governance, risk, control and assurance arrangements

�� supporting the development of robust arrangements for ensuring value for money

�� helping the authority to implement the values of ethical governance, including effective 
arrangements for countering risks of fraud and corruption

�� promoting measures to improve transparency and accountability and effective public 
reporting to the authority’s stakeholders and the local community. 

92

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice


Chapter 3 \ The purpose of 
audit committees

Page 9

The influence that an effective audit committee is able to have in these areas is set out in 
Figure 3.1 below.

Figure 3.1: The influential audit committee

Effective risk 
management

Improving value 
for money

Good 
governance 
and decision

makingEffective 
internal 
controls

Effective audit 
and assurance 

Improving 
public reporting  

and 
accountability

Achievement of 
goals

Embedding 
ethical 

values and 
countering 

fraud

The influential 
audit 

committee
supports:

Source: Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police (CIPFA, 2013)

CIPFA’s view is that audit committee functions can be most effectively delivered by a 
dedicated audit committee. Such a committee provides a key resource to support the 
implementation of good governance standards. It is possible for the functions of an audit 
committee to be undertaken by other bodies, but a dedicated resource is likely to be more 
knowledgeable and effective, having more time to focus on these important issues. 

93



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 10

94



Page 11

CHAPTER 4

The core functions of an  
audit committee

Extract from the Position Statement

4 	 The core functions of an audit committee are to:

�� be satisfied that the authority’s assurance statements, including the annual governance 
statement, properly reflect the risk environment and any actions required to improve it, and 
demonstrate how governance supports the achievement of the authority’s objectives 

�� in relation to the authority’s internal audit functions:

–– oversee its independence, objectivity, performance and professionalism

–– support the effectiveness of the internal audit process

–– promote the effective use of internal audit within the assurance framework

�� consider the effectiveness of the authority’s risk management arrangements and the control 
environment, reviewing the risk profile of the organisation and assurances that action is 
being taken on risk-related issues, including partnerships and collaborations with other 
organisations

�� monitor the effectiveness of the control environment, including arrangements for ensuring 
value for money, supporting standards and ethics and for managing the authority’s exposure 
to the risks of fraud and corruption

�� consider the reports and recommendations of external audit and inspection agencies and 
their implications for governance, risk management or control

�� support effective relationships between external audit and internal audit, inspection agencies 
and other relevant bodies, and encourage the active promotion of the value of the audit 
process

�� review the financial statements, external auditor’s opinion and reports to members, and 
monitor management action in response to the issues raised by external audit.

INTRODUCTION
The core functions that audit committees should undertake reflect both standard practice 
for audit committees across all sectors and specific legislative and professional standards 
requirements for the local authority and the police sectors. Reconciling these sometimes 
different requirements leads to audit committees in local authorities and police bodies having 
the distinctive features outlined in this guidance. 

95



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 12

Principal regulations affecting the functions of the audit committee are outlined in 
Appendix A, and a suggested terms of reference for the committee is included in Appendix 
B. The remainder of this chapter provides further background and explanation for the audit 
committee’s core functions.

GOOD GOVERNANCE AND THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Audit committees provide essential support for the approval of the annual governance 
statement (AGS) and for ensuring that good governance is embedded throughout the 
authority’s day-to-day activities rather than being limited to a once-a-year reporting process. 
The audit committee is able to support this approach by addressing governance principles in 
the course of its regular business.

Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (CIPFA/Solace, 2016) (‘the 
Framework’) sets the standard for governance in UK local government bodies. The Framework 
is supported by guidance notes for each sector as follows: 

�� Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Guidance Notes for English Authorities 
(CIPFA/Solace, 2016)

�� Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Guidance Notes for Scottish 
Authorities (CIPFA/Solace, 2016)

�� Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Guidance Notes for Welsh Authorities 
(CIPFA/Solace, 2016).

�� Delivering Good Governance: Guidance Notes for Policing Bodies in England and Wales 
(CIPFA, 2016). 

The Framework is principles based and informs the approach to good governance adopted by 
PCCs and chief constables as well as local authorities and fire and rescue authorities. CIPFA 
recommends that each authority develops a local code of governance setting out how it 
applies the principles. 

Legislation requires local authorities, fire and rescue authorities and police bodies to prepare 
an AGS and to report publicly on the effectiveness of governance and control (see Appendix A 
for details of the legislative requirements). The AGS should be reviewed and then approved by 
a body of the authority prior to being signed by the leading member and the chief executive 
of an authority and by the PCC and chief constable. Typically, audit committees undertake 
the role of reviewing the AGS prior to approval. Police audit committees should review the AGS 
of both the PCC and the chief constable.

Statutory and professional guidelines will determine when the AGS goes before the audit 
committee for review. For example, English local authorities under the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 must approve and publish the AGS by 31 July at the latest for the financial 
year starting 2017 and thereafter. CIPFA recommends that the AGS is first reviewed by 
members of the audit committee at an earlier stage to allow comments and contributions to 
be made. The AGS must be current at the time it is published, so the audit committee should 
review it before final approval.

To provide a meaningful review of the AGS, the audit committee should be in a position 
to draw on knowledge of the governance arrangements as they are established and on 96

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-framework-2016-edition
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-guidance-notes-for-english-authorities-2016-edition
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-guidance-notes-for-scottish-authorities-2016-edition-online
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-guidance-notes-for-scottish-authorities-2016-edition-online
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-guidance-notes-for-welsh-authorities-2016-edition-online
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-guidance-notes-for-policing-bodies-in-england-and-wales-2016-edition
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/contents/made


chapter 4 \ The core functions of an audit committee


Page 13

assurances of how they have operated in practice during the course of the year. The audit 
committee should undertake the following activities to discharge their responsibilities:

�� review the local code of governance and any changes to the arrangements in the year 
(note it is not the responsibility of the audit committee to establish any local code, but it 
should be consulted)

�� ensure that the AGS is underpinned by a framework of assurance (see later section for 
more details on assurance planning)

�� over the course of the year, receive reports and assurances over the application of the 
governance arrangements in practice

�� monitor implementation of action plans or recommendations to improve governance 
arrangements

�� consider how the organisation applies governance principles in practice during the 
committee’s review of other agenda items.

Given its role in overseeing the local code of governance and the AGS, the audit committee 
has an opportunity to promote the implementation of the principles of good governance 
across the authority: to make things better in the future, not just reviewing what happened 
in the past. For example, the committee may make recommendations for action to senior 
management or refer matters to other committees. The limits to the decision-making powers 
of audit committees are considered in more depth in Chapter 6.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The audit committee has a clear role in relation to oversight of the authority’s internal audit 
function. From 1 April 2013, internal auditors throughout local and central government and 
health have had to follow the PSIAS and the LGAN. All principal local authorities and other 
relevant bodies subject to the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Accounts and Audit 
(Wales) Regulations 2014, the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014 and 
the Local Government (Accounts and Audit) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2015 must make 
provision for internal audit in accordance with the PSIAS and LGAN.

The PSIAS include the Mission of Internal Audit, Code of Ethics, Definition of Internal Auditing 
and the Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, and together these 
highlight the importance of effective internal audit to those in the organisation who are 
responsible for governance. 

In its adoption of the PSIAS and LGAN, each authority or police body should consider which 
committee or individual is the most appropriate to fulfil the role of the board in relation to 
internal audit. In determining the functional reporting arrangements of internal audit, the 
authority will need to bear in mind the need to preserve the independence and objectivity 
of internal audit as required by the PSIAS. It is for these reasons that in the LGAN, CIPFA 
expressed an expectation that the audit committee would fulfil the role of the board in the 
majority of instances. Since police audit committees must remain advisory bodies, their role 
will be to support and review the functional reporting arrangements. 

It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the terms of reference of the audit committee should 
reflect the functional reporting arrangements of internal audit to the audit committee as set 97

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/3362/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/3362/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2014/200/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisr/2015/106/contents/made


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 14

out in the internal audit charter, which is the formal document that defines internal audit’s 
purpose, authority and responsibility.

The role of the audit committee in relation to internal audit is to:

1.	 oversee its independence, objectivity, performance and professionalism

2.	 support the effectiveness of the internal audit process

3.	 promote the effective use of internal audit within the assurance framework.

Within police bodies this is an advisory role for the audit committee. 

The specific activities that these three objectives lead to are considered below.

Oversee independence, objectivity, performance and professionalism
The following activities are the functional reporting arrangements set out in the PSIAS to 
ensure the organisational independence of internal audit. According to the specific internal 
audit charter of the authority, the audit committee could have a role to:

�� review or approve the following:

–– the internal audit charter

–– the risk-based internal audit plan

–– the internal audit budget and resource plan 

�� receive confirmation of the organisational independence of the internal audit  activity

�� consider the appointment and removal of the head of internal audit or the award of a 
contract for internal audit services

�� make appropriate enquiries of both management and the head of internal audit to 
determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations

�� approve and periodically review any safeguards put in place to limit impairments 
to independence and objectivity where the head of internal audit has been asked to 
undertake any additional roles/responsibilities outside of internal auditing

�� receive the annual report, which includes:

–– the annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk 
management and control 

–– a summary of the work on which internal audit has based the opinion

–– a statement on conformance with the PSIAS and the LGAN 

–– the results of the quality assurance and improvement programme, including specific 
detail as required in the PSIAS

��  discuss with the head of internal audit the form of the external assessment of internal 
audit and the qualifications and independence of the assessor.

The head of internal audit or chief internal auditor (referred to in the PSIAS and the LGAN 
as ‘chief audit executive’) must have free and unfettered access to the chair of the audit 
committee. In addition, the chair of the audit committee may serve as sponsor for the 
external assessment, which forms part of the quality assurance and improvement programme 
(QAIP) at least once every five years. 

98



chapter 4 \ The core functions of an audit committee


Page 15

Support the effectiveness of the internal audit process
The audit committee has an important role to play in supporting the process of internal audit 
and outputs from audit work. The following activities form a core part of this: 

�� receiving updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of    
concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work

�� receiving communications from the head of internal audit on the internal audit activity’s 
performance relative to its plan and other matters

�� giving approval to internal audit for any significant additional consulting services not 
already included in the audit plan, prior to internal audit accepting an engagement

�� receiving reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform to the 
PSIAS or LGAN and considering whether the non-conformance is sufficiently significant 
that it must be included in the AGS

�� overseeing the relationship of internal audit with other assurance providers and with 
external audit and any inspectorates

�� receiving regular reports on the results of the QAIP, including the external assessment.

Promote the effective use of internal audit within the assurance 
framework
The audit committee should make best use of the internal audit resource within the 
assurance framework. In particular, the audit committee should seek confirmation from 
internal audit that the audit plan takes into account the requirement to produce an annual 
internal audit opinion that can be used to inform the AGS. Specific activities will include:

�� approving (but not directing) the risk-based plan, considering the use made of other 
sources of assurance

�� receiving reports outlining the action taken where the head of internal audit has 
concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be unacceptable to 
the authority

�� when considering the AGS, taking into account internal audit’s opinion on the 
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the authority’s framework of governance, risk 
management and control.

Those audit committees that operate under the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2014 and the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 must conduct a 
review of the effectiveness of their internal audit annually (Appendix A includes details of the 
relevant regulations). The audit committee should take into account internal audit’s QAIP 
when conducting such a review.

The CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Service Organisations 
(CIPFA, 2010 – due to be updated in 2018) states that engagement between the head of 
internal audit and the audit committee is a crucial component of delivering an effective 
internal audit service.

Audit committee members should keep up to date with changes affecting the professional 
practices and expectations of internal auditors so that they can provide the necessary support.

99

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit-in-public-service-organisations


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 16

RISK MANAGEMENT
In determining the audit committee’s responsibilities towards risk management, authorities 
should have regard to the responsibilities of other committees such as scrutiny committees 
and the specific responsibilities of those charged with governance in relation to risk 
management. Where a local authority establishes a separate risk committee, then its roles 
and responsibilities need to be taken into account in determining the role of the audit 
committee. Police audit committees are directed in the Financial Management Code of 
Practice for the Police Forces of England and Wales (Home Office, 2013 – due to be updated 
in 2018) to advise the PCC and the chief constable on the adoption of appropriate risk 
management arrangements. Welsh local authority and English combined authority audit 
committees are required to review and assess risk management arrangements.

Assurance over risk management will be a key element underpinning the AGS. The audit 
committee also needs a good understanding of the level of assurance risk management 
provides when it reviews the risk-based internal audit plan or reviews other assurances on 
areas of risk.

The role of the audit committee in relation to risk management covers three major areas:

�� First, assurance over the governance of risk, including leadership, integration of risk 
management into wider governance arrangements and the top level ownership and 
accountability for risks. The specific actions this requires include:

–– overseeing the authority’s risk management policy and strategy and their 
implementation in practice 

–– overseeing the integration of risk management into the governance and decision-
making processes of the organisation

–– ensuring that the AGS is an adequate reflection of the risk environment.

�� Second, keeping up to date with the risk profile and the effectiveness of risk 
management actions by:

–– reviewing arrangements to co-ordinate and lead risk management. An example of 
such an arrangement is the existence of a group to examine, challenge and support 
the risk assessment process to ensure consistency

–– reviewing the risk profile and keeping up to date with significant areas of strategic 
risks and major operational or major project risks and seeking assurance that these 
risks are managed effectively and owned appropriately

–– seeking assurance that strategies and policies are supported by adequate risk 
assessments and that risks are being actively managed and monitored

–– following up risks identified by auditors and inspectors to ensure they are integrated 
into the risk management process.

�� Third, monitoring the effectiveness of risk management arrangements and supporting 
the development and embedding of good practice in risk management by:

–– overseeing any evaluation or assessment such as a risk maturity assessment or risk 
benchmarking

–– reviewing evaluation or assurance reports on risk management and monitoring 
progress on improvement plans

100

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice


chapter 4 \ The core functions of an audit committee


Page 17

–– monitoring action plans and development work in the field of risk management 
practice.

Flexibility in the audit committee agenda to adapt to new or heightened risks will ensure that 
the committee is responsive and focused on priority issues.

ASSURANCE FRAMEWORKS AND ASSURANCE PLANNING
Authorities may have developed a description or diagram explaining what assurances exist 
and who is responsible for them. Such descriptions may be described as an assurance 
framework or assurance map. Typically, they outline key areas of the assurances required 
by the audit committee, such as on governance, risks and controls, and they identify the 
assurance providers. These may include internal audit, risk management advisors and 
management. The audit committee should support initiatives to identify and evaluate 
assurance in this way.

Whether or not there is a formally set-down assurance framework, the audit committee has a 
responsibility to understand what assurance is available to support the AGS and to enable the 
committee to meet its terms of reference. The committee should be seeking to ensure that 
assurance is planned and delivered with the following objectives in mind:

�� clarity of what assurance is required

�� clear allocation of responsibility for providing assurance

�� avoiding duplication, bearing in mind the differing objectives of assurance activities

�� improving the efficiency and cost effectiveness of assurance

�� obtaining assurance of appropriate rigour and independence across a range of assurance 
providers.

Having a clear assurance framework in place will assist the committee in a number of areas. 
It supports the annual review of effectiveness for the AGS. It also supports the approval 
of the internal audit risk-based plan as it enables the committee to identify the extent to 
which it will rely on internal audit for its assurance requirements. In reviewing assurance 
arrangements, the committee should bear in mind that the assurance process has a cost to 
the organisation and it should therefore be proportional to the risk. 

VALUE FOR MONEY AND BEST VALUE
Making best use of resources is a key objective for all local authorities and it is part of the 
Framework. One of the behaviours and actions that underpin Principle C of the Framework 
is “delivering defined outcomes on a sustainable basis within the resources that will be 
available”.

Under Sections 2, 3 and 35 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the chief 
constable has statutory responsibility to secure value for money (VfM) and the PCC to hold 
the chief constable to account for this duty. The audit committee’s role is to support both the 
PCC and chief constable to fulfil their responsibilities through the assurance process.

Assurance should focus on both the arrangements to ensure and the progress in achieving 
VfM. An authority should have in place arrangements to obtain assurance over its performance 101

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/contents/enacted


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 18

against VfM objectives and strategies. The role of the audit committee will need to be 
determined in the context of what other committees may be doing. For example, a scrutiny 
committee may oversee service reviews that consider performance against VfM objectives. 

The role of the audit committee is most likely to focus on whether the authority’s overall 
approach to VfM is in line with governance objectives and to receive assurances on this to 
underpin the AGS. The Framework emphasises that the AGS should be focused on outcomes 
and VfM. 

One specific area of activity for the committee will be consideration of the external auditor’s 
wider work as set out in the codes of audit practice and other guidance adopted by national 
audit bodies as follows: 

�� England – statutory value for money conclusion as defined by the National Audit Office

�� Scotland – periodic reviews of best value

�� Wales – Wales Audit Office annual improvement reports

�� Northern Ireland – review of arrangements for the use of resources.

Where the external auditor has issued a qualified conclusion on VfM, the audit committee 
should ensure there is a robust action plan to address the issues raised. In addition, the audit 
committee should consider what other assurances are available in relation to identified VfM 
risks and highlight areas for improvement.

COUNTERING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION
Local authorities have responsibilities for the effective stewardship of public money 
and for safeguarding against losses due to fraud and corruption. Effective counter fraud 
arrangements also link to the ethical standards for members and officers that the public 
expects.

The audit committee should have oversight of the authority’s counter fraud strategy, 
assessing whether it meets recommended practice and governance standards and complies 
with legislation such as the Bribery Act 2010. 

The Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (CIPFA, 2014) (‘the 
Code’) sets out the counter fraud standards for public sector organisations; sector-specific 
strategies such as Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally should also be considered, along 
with the CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker (CFaCT) and Integrity Matters (HMIC, 2015). The 
committee should understand the level of fraud risk to which the authority is exposed and the 
implications for the wider control environment. 

Oversight of counter fraud plans, resources and their effectiveness are key areas for obtaining 
assurance. Specific actions should include:

�� reviewing the counter fraud strategy and considering whether it meets recommended 
practices

�� championing good counter fraud and anti-corruption practice to the wider organisation

�� reviewing the fraud risk profile and estimate of fraud losses or potential harm to the 
organisation and its local community

102

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/counter-fraud-documentation/code-of-practice-on-managing-the-risk-of-fraud-and-corruption
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fraud-and-corruption-tracker
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/integrity-matters/


chapter 4 \ The core functions of an audit committee


Page 19

�� reviewing the annual counter fraud plan of activity and resources, seeking assurance that 
it is in line with the strategy and fraud risk profile

�� monitoring the performance of the counter fraud function

�� overseeing any major areas of fraud identified and monitoring action plans to address 
control weaknesses.

The CIPFA guidance on the AGS included in the Framework recommends that the adequacy 
of counter fraud arrangements are evaluated and reported on in the AGS with reference to the 
Code. The audit committee should have sight of the assurances underpinning this assessment 
and can play an important role in supporting the development of effective counter fraud 
and corruption practice. The audit committee may also refer to the Internal Audit Standards 
Advisory Board’s guidance Internal Audit’s Role in Counter Fraud (2017), which sets out 
internal audit’s responsibility to provide assurance to the organisation on how it manages 
fraud risk.

EXTERNAL AUDIT

Appointment of auditors
Audit committees have a role to play in relation to the appointment of external auditors. 
This role varies between England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, primarily due to 
the change in appointment procedures for English authorities with the closure of the Audit 
Commission and the introduction of new local audit arrangements under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. 

In Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, national audit agencies are responsible for the 
audits of local bodies. In England, authorities have the option to appoint auditors themselves 
via means of an auditor panel (individually or jointly with other bodies) or through Public 
Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), which has been established by the Local Government 
Association (LGA) and specified as an ‘appointing person’ under the 2014 Act. For further 
information on auditor panels and the role of the audit committee, see Guide to Auditor 
Panels (CIPFA, 2015).

The audit committee’s role in appointment is generally to express an opinion on the 
selection and rotation of the external auditor through whichever method is applicable for 
the organisation. The audit committee’s objective is to support auditor independence and 
effective arrangements and relationships with the auditors. 

In England, for all opted-in bodies, PSAA appoints the auditor following consultation with the 
body. Otherwise, the audit committee will work alongside the auditor panel which will oversee 
the local appointment process. Where the audit committee members meet the requirements 
of an auditor panel, as defined in regulations supporting the 2014 Act, then the committee 
is able to operate as an auditor panel itself and make recommendations on the appointment 
of the local auditor. Regard must be had for the 2014 Act and regulations if the committee is 
nominated as an auditor panel.

103

http://www.iasab.org/standards
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/2/contents/enacted
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/g/guide-to-auditor-panels-pdf
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/g/guide-to-auditor-panels-pdf


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 20

Monitoring the external audit process
The audit committee’s role in relation to the external audit process has three principal 
aspects:

1.	 providing assurance that the external auditor team maintains independence following its 
appointment

2.	 receiving and considering the work of external audit

3.	 supporting the quality and effectiveness of the external audit process.

Supporting independence
The independence of auditors is critical for confidence in the audit opinion and audit process. 
For this reason, there is extensive guidance from the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) to 
external auditors on the need to safeguard independence and objectivity. These rules apply 
to all auditors across all sectors. In addition, the national audit bodies issue guidance to 
auditors on safeguarding integrity, objectivity and independence. It is an important role for 
an audit committee to help guard against threats to independence and to satisfy itself that 
the external auditor’s independence is safeguarded. The critical issue of independence will be 
considered when the external auditor is appointed but the audit committee’s role will be to 
monitor on an annual basis or more often when required. 

Each year the external auditor will disclose to the committee an assessment of whether it 
is independent. This disclosure should include any significant facts that could impact, or be 
seen to impact, on independence and objectivity, together with any safeguards put in place. 
Usually this disclosure is included in the audit plan. The audit committee should use this 
opportunity to discuss with the external auditor their assessment of threats to independence 
and any safeguards.

104

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/0bd6ee4e-075c-4b55-a4ad-b8e5037b56c6/Revised-Ethical-Standard-UK-June-2016.pdf


chapter 4 \ The core functions of an audit committee


Page 21

Understanding the potential threats to external independence

Self-interest threat

Where there are or perceived to be financial or other interests that could impact on the actions of 
the external auditor. The potential fees from provision of non-audit or additional services to the 
audited body could fall within this category.

Self-review threat

Where the audit could include review of work performed, services or advice provided by the same 
firm or team.

Management threat

Where the auditor has become involved in or associated with decision making of the audited 
body.

Advocacy threat

Where the auditor has taken on an advocacy role for the audited body or supports the 
management in an adversarial or promotional context.

Familiarity (or trust) threat

Where familiarity or close personal relationships mean that the external auditor is insufficiently 
questioning or accepting in forming audit judgements.

Intimidation threat

When the conduct of the external auditor is influenced by fear or threats by individuals in the 
audited body.

Full details of the threats are set out in the Revised Ethical Standard 2016 (FRC, 2016).

The audit committee should seek information from the external auditor on its policies and 
processes for maintaining independence and monitoring compliance. It should also satisfy 
itself that no issues with compliance with the ethical standard have been raised by the 
contract monitoring undertaken by PSAA or the auditor panel (in England) or from audit 
quality reviews by the FRC. With regard to non-audit services, audit committees should 
monitor the approval of non-audit work and, in England, take into account the oversight of 
either PSAA or the auditor panel as appropriate.

Receiving and considering the work of external audit
The committee should receive the planned work programme to support the opinion and 
receive reports following the completion of external audit work. Where external audit make 
recommendations, the audit committee should discuss the action to be taken with the 
appropriate managers and monitor the agreed action plan. The committee should contribute 
to the authority’s response to the annual audit letter.

Supporting the quality and effectiveness of the external audit process
The audit committee should support the quality and effectiveness of the external audit 
process through:

105

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/0bd6ee4e-075c-4b55-a4ad-b8e5037b56c6/Revised-Ethical-Standard-UK-June-2016.pdf


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 22

�� understanding and commenting on external audit plans, assessment of risks and 
proposed areas of focus, and deployment of audit effort in response to identified risks

�� considering the effectiveness of the external audit process, including: 

–– whether the external auditor has a good understanding of the authority

–– how the external auditor has responded to areas of audit risk

–– actions taken to safeguard independence and objectivity

–– feedback from key people such as the responsible financial officer and the head of 
internal audit

�� reporting to the full council, or the PCC, or the chief constable or other body as 
appropriate on the results of its considerations.

In monitoring the quality of the external audit provision, the audit committee should be 
briefed on any relevant issues around quality that emerge from the regulation of external 
audit, for example, the quality reports from PSAA and the FRC. 

There should be an opportunity for the audit committee to meet privately and separately with 
the external auditor, independent of the presence of those officers with whom the auditor 
must retain a working relationship. 

Inspection reports
Reports from inspection agencies can be a useful source of assurance about the authority’s 
financial management and governance. The audit committee should have access to 
inspection reports as a source of assurance and compare the findings with any relevant 
internal audit and external audit reports. Inspection reports will need to be actioned by the 
corporate or appropriate departmental management team, but the audit committee has a 
role in monitoring such action to ensure that a consistent approach is adopted and that the 
various agencies have one recognisable point of entry into the authority. 

FINANCIAL REPORTING
Local authority financial statements should follow the professional practices set down in 
the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (CIPFA/LASAAC). 
The responsible financial officer must sign the statements to confirm that they have been 
properly prepared and are ready for audit prior to the commencement of the period for the 
exercise of public rights. For English authorities and policing bodies, the latest date by which 
the statements must be signed off is likely to be 31 May, as the 30 working day period for the 
exercise of public rights must include the first ten days in June. 

Under the current regulations, Scottish, Welsh and Northern Irish authorities must all ensure 
that the financial statements are signed off by the CFO by 30 June. The Accounts and Audit 
(Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 require preparation and publication to be completed 
to an earlier timetable with effect from years ending 31 March 2019 onwards. Authorities will 
formally approve the financial statements after the completion of the external audit. 

The date by which the statements must be published is set down by government regulations. 
For 2017/18 onwards, the latest date for publication is 31 July for English authorities. Scottish 
and Welsh authorities must publish by 30 September and Northern Irish authorities must 106

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/91/note/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/91/note/made


chapter 4 \ The core functions of an audit committee


Page 23

publish by 31 October. CIPFA recommends that it is good practice for the accounts and the 
AGS to be reviewed by the audit committee prior to the commencement of the external audit.

Audit committees may undertake a review of the statements and satisfy themselves that 
appropriate steps have been taken to meet statutory and recommended professional 
practices. Their work could include:

�� reviewing the narrative report to ensure consistency with the statements and the   
financial challenges and risks facing the authority in the future

�� reviewing whether the narrative report is readable and understandable by a lay person

�� identifying the key messages from each of the financial statements and evaluating what 
that means for the authority in future years

�� monitoring trends and reviewing for consistency with what is known about financial 
performance over the course of the year

�� reviewing the suitability of accounting policies and treatments

�� seeking explanations for changes in accounting policies and treatments

�� reviewing major judgemental areas, eg provisions or reserves

�� seeking assurances that preparations are in place to facilitate the external audit.

Understanding Local Authority Financial Statements (CIPFA/LASAAC, 2016) includes a 
checklist of questions to ask about a local authority’s statements that audit committee 
members may find particularly helpful. In keeping with its role as an advisory body, the audit 
committee should review the financial statements prior to approval.

Other committees in the governance structure might also scrutinise the authority’s financial 
performance. Care should be taken to avoid duplication and maintain the focus of the audit 
committee on financial reporting and financial governance rather than on wider issues of 
performance and spending priorities.

PARTNERSHIP GOVERNANCE AND COLLABORATION AGREEMENTS 
Authorities commonly have a wide range of partnership and collaborative arrangements, 
including strategic relationships with other public sector organisations, shared service 
arrangements, commercial relationships with private sector partners and a range of service 
delivery arrangements with community groups or social enterprises. 

Authorities may also be the accountable body for local enterprise partnerships (LEPs). PCCs 
may be considering options for collaboration with other relevant emergency services under 
the Policing and Crime Act 2017. Ensuring the adequacy of governance and risk management 
over such arrangements can be complicated, but it is very important as accountability for 
performance and stewardship of the public funds involved remains with the authority. For 
these reasons, the role of the audit committee in relation to these arrangements should be 
clearly defined. 

The audit committee’s role should be to consider the assurance available on whether the 
partnership or collaboration arrangements are satisfactorily established and are operating 
effectively. The committee should satisfy itself that the principles of good governance 
underpin the partnership arrangements. For example, the audit committee should seek 107

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/technical-panels-and-boards/cipfa-lasaac-local-authority-code-board/simplification-and-streamlining-the-presentation-of-local-authority-financial-statements
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/contents/enacted


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 24

assurance that the authority has appropriate arrangements to identify and manage risks, 
ensure good governance and obtain assurance on compliance. The committee may also 
want to know what arrangements have been put in place to maintain accountability to 
stakeholders and ensure transparency of decision making and standards of probity are 
maintained.

Where an authority is developing new partnership or collaboration arrangements, the audit 
committee may wish to receive assurance over governance matters at the project stage and 
seek clarity over its own responsibilities in relation to the governance arrangements of the 
new service delivery organisation.

The audit committee should consider the coverage of assurances that underpin the AGS to 
make sure that partnerships are adequately covered. Where an organisation of which the 
authority is a partner does not have its own audit committee, then the audit committee 
could be nominated to undertake this role. This is most likely for the audit committee of the 
accountable body in order to support the CFO.

In addition to reviewing assurances over partnerships, the committee may choose to develop 
its own partnership arrangements with the audit committees of partner organisations. This 
could involve planning and co-ordinating agendas, or developing forums to share ideas or 
briefings. More established partnerships could lead to the development of a shared audit 
committee between partner authorities or a joint committee. Chapter 6 considers the 
implications of partnerships for audit committee independence and accountability.

GOVERNANCE AND ETHICAL VALUES
Public sector entities are accountable not only for how much they spend but also for the ways 
they use the resources with which they have been entrusted. This is at the heart of Principle A 
of the Framework: 

Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting 
the rule of law. 

With its core role in supporting good governance, support for the ethical framework of the 
authority is also important for the audit committee. In addition, public sector organisations 
have an overarching mission to serve the public interest in adhering to the requirements 
of legislation and government policies. This makes it essential that the entire entity can 
demonstrate the integrity of all its actions and has mechanisms in place that encourage and 
enforce a strong commitment to ethical values and legal compliance at all levels. As part of 
its review of governance arrangements, the audit committee should be satisfied that there are 
adequate arrangements to achieve this.

All authorities should have regard to the Seven Principles of Public Life, known as the Nolan 
Principles. To promote high standards of conduct, the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
has recommended that: 

108



chapter 4 \ The core functions of an audit committee


Page 25

Ethical standards issues should be included as regular items on board agendas or formally 
delegated to audit and risk committees for referral to the board as appropriate. Risks 
associated with poor standards should be included in risk assessments, and, where 
appropriate, risk registers. Mitigating strategies should be developed and monitored. 
Source: Standards Matter: A Review of Best Practice in Promoting Good Behaviour in Public 
Life (Committee on Standards in Public Life, 2013)

As part of the annual governance review, the audit committee should consider how effectively 
the Seven Principles of Public Life are supported.

Whistleblowing arrangements support the development of ethical conduct and greater 
transparency, and also help authorities ensure compliance with the Public Interest Disclosure 
Act 1998. As part of the audit committee’s oversight of the governance framework and 
assurances underpinning the AGS, the audit committee may wish to review the effectiveness 
of the whistleblowing arrangements.

109

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/23/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/23/contents


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 26

110



Page 27

CHAPTER 5

Possible wider functions of an 
audit committee

Extract from the Position Statement
5 	 An audit committee can also support its authority by undertaking a wider role in other areas 

including:

�� considering governance, risk or control matters at the request of other committees or 
statutory officers

�� working with local standards and ethics committees to support ethical values

�� reviewing and monitoring treasury management arrangements in accordance with Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 
(CIPFA, 2017) 

�� providing oversight of other public reports, such as the annual report. 

CONSIDERING MATTERS AT THE REQUEST OF STATUTORY 
OFFICERS OR OTHER COMMITTEES

Occasionally the audit committee may be requested to consider a review of a service, a 
proposed policy or other similar matters. Such requests could come from another committee 
of the organisation or from one of the statutory officers. In scoping the terms of reference 
for a review, the committee should avoid taking on a scrutiny or policy role and ensure the 
matter relates to governance, risk or control. Examples where it may be helpful for the audit 
committee to assist could include:

�� reviewing whether adequate governance, risk management or audit processes are in 
place in relation to a specific service or new policy area

�� providing advice to the executive on possible risks or implications for good governance 
arising from a proposed course of action or decision.

In each case, the aim of the committee should be to make recommendations in line with 
its role set out in the Position Statement – advocating the principles of good governance 
and helping to ensure that there are appropriate governance, risk, control and assurance 
arrangements in place. Audit committee recommendations may support the advice or 
recommendations of the statutory officers but cannot override that advice.

111

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2017-edition-online
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2017-edition-online


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 28

ETHICS COMMITTEE AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE ROLES
The audit committee’s primary role in relation to standards and ethical conduct is to satisfy 
itself that there are appropriate arrangements in place, particularly in support of the AGS. 
Under the Localism Act 2011, English local authorities have a statutory duty to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct and the audit committee should consider assurances 
on the discharge of this responsibility and be satisfied that there are arrangements in 
place. Occasionally the committee takes on a wider role, in the place of other committees. 
Specifically, there should be regard for the role and responsibilities of a standards committee, 
where there is one. 

Where the local authority does have a standards committee, the lead on promoting high 
standards of conduct may be taken by that committee, and the most appropriate role for the 
audit committee would be to consider the effectiveness of the standards committee as part 
of the annual governance review. Where the audit committee takes on the responsibilities 
of the standards committee, there should be a clear distinction between the two roles and 
responsibilities in the terms of reference and meeting agendas.

Ethics in policing has received a lot of attention in the last few years with a number of reviews 
and new standards, including:

�� the Code of Ethics (College of Policing, 2014)

�� Tone from the Top: Leadership, Ethics and Accountability in Policing (Committee on 
Standards in Public Life, 2015)

�� Integrity Matters (HMIC, 2016).

The establishment of an ethics committee to take the lead on this important area and 
to review and monitor practice is now regarded as best practice. In some policing areas 
these are separate committees, but in some areas the audit committees have taken on this 
responsibility.  

There is no specific guidance on the operation of the ethics committee, but it is important to 
distinguish between the roles of the two committees. For the audit committee’s governance 
responsibilities, it is appropriate for the committee to have an understanding of any current 
ethical risks and any initiatives to improve ethical behaviour within the force or PCC’s office. 

The audit committee should be satisfied that there are appropriate arrangements in place to 
support the committee’s overview of governance and the AGS. The ethics committee’s role 
will be to help establish and monitor those arrangements in practice, ensuring that the PCC 
and chief constable fulfill their statutory obligations. Where the audit committee is taking 
on wider ethics committee roles, then it should be clear within its terms of reference and 
meeting agendas how it separates the two roles.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance 
Notes (CIPFA, 2017) requires all local authorities to make arrangements for the scrutiny of 
treasury management. CIPFA does not require the audit committee to undertake that role 
and a local authority may nominate another committee instead. CIPFA is aware, however, 

112

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.college.police.uk/What-we-do/Ethics/Ethics-home/Pages/Code-of-Ethics.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tone-from-the-top-leadership-ethics-and-accountability-in-policing
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/integrity-matters/
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2017-edition-online
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2017-edition-online


Chapter 5 \ Possible wider functions of an audit committee


Page 29

that many authorities have nominated the audit committee to do this, and it is therefore 
appropriate to consider this activity as part of this guidance. The following clause from the 
Code should have been adopted by all local authorities and the appropriate body responsible 
for providing scrutiny nominated:

This organisation nominates (name of responsible body/committee) to be responsible for 
ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.

Where the audit committee has been nominated, then it should be aware that it needs 
to undertake a scrutiny role in accordance with the Code, in addition to any oversight of 
governance, risks and assurance matters relating to treasury management it would consider 
as an audit committee. It is not appropriate for the audit committee to undertake any of the 
other roles outlined in the Code clauses as these are executive and decision-making roles 
rather than a scrutiny role.

Where the committee is undertaking scrutiny then this is likely to involve the following 
actions:

�� developing greater awareness and understanding of treasury matters among the 
committee members

�� reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures to be satisfied that controls 
are satisfactory

�� receiving regular reports on activities, issues and trends to support the committee’s 
understanding of treasury management activities. Note that the committee is not 
responsible for the regular monitoring of activity under clause 3 of the Code so the 
purpose of receiving regular reports should be clear

�� reviewing the treasury risk profile and adequacy of treasury risk management processes

�� reviewing assurances on treasury management (for example, an internal audit report, 
external audit or other review).

Treasury management is a specialist area so it is likely that committee members will require 
training, guidance and support when undertaking scrutiny. Specific areas of knowledge and 
skills are identified in Appendix C.

113



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 30

114



Page 31

CHAPTER 6

Independence and 
accountability 

Extract from the Position Statement

3	 Authorities and police audit committees should adopt a model that establishes the committee 
as independent and effective. The committee should:

�� act as the principal non-executive, advisory function supporting those charged with 
governance

�� in local authorities, be independent of both the executive and the scrutiny functions and 
include an independent member where not already required to do so by legislation

�� in police bodies, be independent of the executive or operational responsibilities of the PCC or 
chief constable

�� have clear rights of access to other committees/functions, for example, scrutiny and service 
committees, corporate risk management boards and other strategic groups

�� be directly accountable to the authority’s governing body or the PCC and chief constable.

7	 To discharge its responsibilities effectively the committee should:

�� meet regularly – at least four times a year, and have a clear policy on those items to be 
considered in private and those to be considered in public

�� include, as regular attendees, the CFO(s), the chief executive, the head of internal audit and 
the appointed external auditor. Other attendees may include the monitoring officer (for 
standards issues) and the head of resources (where such a post exists). These officers should 
also be able to access the committee, or the chair, as required

�� have the right to call any other officers or agencies of the authority as required, while 
recognising the independence of the chief constable in relation to operational policing 
matters

�� report regularly on its work to those charged with governance, and at least annually report 
an assessment of their performance. An annual public report should demonstrate how the 
committee has discharged its responsibilities.

115



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 32

INTRODUCTION
CIPFA is keen that each local authority or police body adopts an audit committee model 
that achieves its purpose and functions successfully. CIPFA’s recommended best practice is 
intended to support the development of effective arrangements and should not be regarded 
merely as a compliance checklist.

For a local authority, in CIPFA’s view, it is best practice for the audit committee to report 
directly to council rather than to another committee, as the council itself most closely 
matches the body of ‘those charged with governance’. In the police sector, both the PCC and 
chief constable are separate corporations sole and so each will fulfil the role of ‘those charged 
with governance’.

In establishing the audit committee within the governance structure of the authority, three 
key elements should be considered:

1.	 any statutory guidance applicable to the sector

2.	 independence from the executive and political allegiances

3.	 a practical assessment of ‘what works’ in the local context.

Each of these elements is considered in more detail in the following sections.

SECTOR AND DEVOLVED GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE
The local authority and police sectors are subject to differing regulations according to 
both sector and devolved national governments. Those affecting audit committees are set 
out in Appendix A. While there is broad similarity in the guidance across the UK, there are 
differences as a result of specific statutory guidance and regulations including:

�� statutory requirements for audit committees in Wales 

�� statutory requirements for combined authorities to establish an audit committee 

�� statutory guidance underpinning the operation of police audit committees in England 
and Wales. 

Local authorities in Wales have a clear statutory role established by the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2011. The Welsh Government has provided statutory guidance on the 
implementation of the measure’s requirements, and local authorities in Wales must have 
regard to this guidance. The Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 2016 requires 
combined authorities to establish an audit committee of which at least one member must 
be appointed as an independent member. The Home Office’s Financial Management Code of 
Practice for the Police Forces of England and Wales (2013 – due to be updated in 2018) (the 
‘FMCP’) requires PCCs and chief constables to establish an independent audit committee. 
This is an advisory committee to both the PCC and the chief constable, both of whom are 
established as a corporation sole.

The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables a PCC in England (following local consultation and 
approval from the secretary of state) to take on the governance of their local fire and rescue 
service(s) to become a PCC FRA. The 2018 edition of the FMCP is likely to include guidance 
concerning audit committees in this event.

116

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents
http://gov.wales/topics/localgovernment/publications/statguide/?lang=en
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/1/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/contents/enacted


Chapter 6 \ Independence and accountability

Page 33

Other regulations include the appropriate accounts and audit regulations for England, 
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, which regulate functions such as internal audit, 
the review of the AGS and the accounts. These functions can be undertaken by the audit 
committee and where it does so, the committee should have regard to the regulations.

Impact of other legislation
The standards committee’s role has been affected by the Localism Act 2011 in England, and 
some authorities have chosen to transfer responsibility for looking at ethical governance 
matters to the audit committee, while retaining a standards panel to oversee investigations. 

Other relevant recommendations
The Exercise by Local Government Auditors of Their Functions in the Year to 31 March 2015, a 
report produced by the Chief Local Government Auditor of the Northern Ireland Audit Office, 
commented that in a small number of councils the audit committee was not operating as a 
full committee. The Chief Local Government Auditor has recommended that audit committees 
should be a full committee reporting directly to council.

STRUCTURE AND INDEPENDENCE

Local authorities
For local authorities, stand-alone audit committees reporting to full council are the most 
common arrangement in the UK. The CIPFA Survey on Audit Committees in Local Authorities 
and Police 2016 found that, across the UK, 85% of councils had audit committees that 
reported to full council, leaving only 15% that reported via cabinet or other committee. The 
survey also showed that the number of stand-alone audit committees had declined from 
58% to 47% alongside a rise in the number of joint committees. Some joint committees’ 
responsibilities were audit and risk or audit and governance, however, others included 
responsibilities such as procurement or health and safety. There had also been a small rise in 
the number of joint audit and standards committees. Another arrangement, more common in 
Scotland, was the integration of audit committee functions into a policy committee. 

Reporting to the executive may appear to be advantageous if it increases the prospect of 
audit committee recommendations being addressed. However, there are two disadvantages 
from a wider governance perspective: first, by not reporting to full council (‘those charged 
with governance’), the audit committee may not be supporting that body in discharging its 
governance responsibilities; and, second, members and citizens may see the audit committee 
as not being independent of the executive. 

Combining audit with other committees may appear to be an attractive arrangement, but 
there is always a danger either that audit committee functions become diluted by the 
pressure of other business or that the proper functions of these bodies become less clear. 
Having a group of members bearing the name ‘audit committee’ will add weight when 
considering audit and related issues. Extending the remit of the audit committee to other 
matters could create confusion about the role of the audit committee and ultimately 
undermine its effectiveness.

117

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
https://www.niauditoffice.gov.uk/publication/local-government-auditors-report-2015
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/corporate-governance-documentation/cipfa-survey-of-audit-committees-in-local-authorities-and-police
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/corporate-governance-documentation/cipfa-survey-of-audit-committees-in-local-authorities-and-police


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 34

Financial scrutiny is a different role from that fulfilled by the audit committee. Financial 
scrutiny committees are likely to undertake reviews of the council’s budget proposals and 
financial performance. The audit committee should not seek to replicate scrutiny undertaken 
but should focus on the oversight of governance, risk and control and the audit process.

However the audit committee is constituted, all members should be aware that the work of 
the audit committee is non-political. Chapter 7 includes a section on the composition of the 
audit committee.

Combined authorities
The Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 2016 requires combined authorities to have 
an audit committee, but there are no requirements about where the committee fits into the 
overall governance structure of the authority. If the combined authority brings together the 
functions of the PCC with the local authority functions, and in time those of the fire authority 
as well, then it might be expected that there would be a single audit committee. 

Police
Police audit committees are recommended by the FMCP to be joint committees, reporting 
both to the PCC and the chief constable. To date, all police audit committees operate in this 
way.

SHARED AUDIT COMMITTEES
Where authorities or policing bodies have entered into significant levels of partnership, a 
shared audit committee may be a practical way forward. This will be particularly appropriate 
where there is a shared management team and single functions for finance, audit and risk.  
In establishing the committee, consideration will need to be given to achieving a balance of 
representation between the partners and how the chair is to be selected.

AUDIT COMMITTEES IN PARTNERSHIP
Where an authority has major areas of governance and risk shared with other public bodies 
in a partnership, it may be appropriate to set up formal arrangements between the respective 
audit committees. This could involve one audit committee being nominated to take the lead 
on matters relating to the partnership. Alternatively, the audit committees could nominate 
representatives to a shared audit committee to oversee the partnership.

DECISION-MAKING POWERS AND DELEGATIONS
All audit committees are non-executive bodies whose role is to make recommendations 
rather than to decide policies directly. The impact of the committee is through influence 
and persuasion rather than direct decision making. The committee’s effectiveness does not 
depend on the delegation of powers.

The constitution of a local authority may include direct delegations to its audit committee, 
for example to approve the AGS or financial statements on behalf of the authority, as well as 
undertaking the review. In establishing whether the audit committee is to have any delegated 118

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/1/contents/enacted


Chapter 6 \ Independence and accountability

Page 35

decision-making powers, the local authority should take into account the number and role of 
independent members on the committee. In doing this, it will need to take into account the issue 
of voting rights outlined in Chapter 7. CIPFA recommends that delegation of decision-making 
powers on matters not directly related to the work of the audit committee should be avoided. 

Police audit committees in England and Wales can never be delegated decision-making or 
approval powers by the PCC or the chief constable. 

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

Agenda management and frequency of meetings
The frequency and timing of meetings is a matter for each authority to determine, based on 
its corporate governance arrangements, together with consideration of how the committee 
can operate effectively and fulfil its purpose. To fit with planning, monitoring and annual 
reporting arrangements, most organisations will find they will require at least four meetings 
a year. Aspects of the audit committee agenda will be determined by statutory requirements 
related to the accounts and matters related to the financial year. Outside these agenda items, 
the audit committee should aim to manage its agenda according to its assurance needs to 
fulfil its terms of reference. 

Where an audit committee is addressing the full range of governance, risk, control and audit 
functions, care should be taken to balance the frequency of meetings against the need 
to give the business of the committee sufficient focused attention without lengthy and 
unproductive meetings. Equally, the audit committee should review whether the inclusion of 
each item on its agenda results in added value and whether some time-consuming aspects 
of audit committee business could be more effectively addressed elsewhere. In making these 
judgements, the audit committee should operate at a resolutely strategic level. Care should 
be taken to avoid straying into matters of operational detail that should be resolved by 
service managers. The skilful chairing of meetings with well-planned agendas should provide 
the final mechanism for avoiding this danger. 

Supporting the audit committee and key relationships
Effective administrative support for the audit committee will clearly be important as for 
any committee of the authority. If the committee is to take an active part in the authority’s 
business, it should be administered as effectively as any other committee meeting. The 
regular attendance of key senior management figures is important – both to maintain the 
credibility of the committee and to ensure that members are adequately supported by 
appropriate professionals.

The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government (CIPFA, 2016) and the CIPFA 
Statement on the Role of Chief Financial Officers in Policing (2018) emphasise the importance 
of having an effective audit committee to support the CFO. Police audit committees will need 
to work with the CFO of both the PCC and the chief constable. The CFO in a local authority 
must lead the promotion and delivery by the whole authority of good financial management 
so that public money is safeguarded at all times and used appropriately, economically, 
efficiently and effectively.

119

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/cipfa-statement-on-the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-of-the-police-and-crime-commissioner-and-the-chief-finance-officer-of-the-chief-constable
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/cipfa-statement-on-the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-of-the-police-and-crime-commissioner-and-the-chief-finance-officer-of-the-chief-constable


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 36

The CFO should therefore be a key point of contact for audit committee members and it is 
essential that the CFO has direct access to the committee. It is also a responsibility of the CFO 
to support the authority’s internal audit arrangements and ensure that the audit committee 
receives any necessary advice and information, so that both functions can operate effectively. 
The audit committee should then be in a position to provide effective support to the CFO.

The head of internal audit should also have a good relationship with the committee and be 
a key point of contact. Internal audit reports or updates will be a regular feature of audit 
committee agendas, so the head of internal audit should be expected to attend all meetings. 

A public sector requirement within the PSIAS states:

The chief audit executive must also establish effective communication with, and have free and 
unfettered access to, the chief executive (or equivalent) and the chair of the audit committee. 

The head of internal audit’s relationship with the audit committee, especially the chair, 
is crucial. They should be mutually supportive in their aim to be objective and to provide 
challenge and support across the organisation and improve governance, risk management and 
internal control. The head of internal audit must work closely with the audit committee chair so 
that they are clear about their respective roles and make best use of the available resources.

To be effective, an audit committee will need to engage with a wider range of officers than 
representatives of finance and internal audit, essential though they are. While it is for each 
audit committee to determine who attends its meetings, the following examples demonstrate 
the wide range of officers who can attend and add value to audit committee meetings:

�� chief executive or equivalent – for the AGS and other governance-related issues

�� monitoring officer – for the AGS and ethical governance issues

�� risk management officer – for discussions around the risk registers and risk reports

�� head of counter fraud – for agenda items on fraud risks and counter fraud activity

�� service senior managers – for audit, risk, or governance discussions on their service   
areas (while recognising the operational independence of the chief constable on 
operational policing matters)

�� scrutiny, ethics or standards committee representatives – it may be helpful to invite 
representatives along to explain their work programme or recent reports.

Consideration should also be given to supporting the audit committee outside formal 
meetings. There may be a need to keep committee members briefed on issues that are on 
the agenda, and other matters may be too detailed for inclusion on the agenda. For example, 
internal audit reports may be provided in full to committee members but may be included 
on the meeting agenda only where there are significant risks to be discussed. This issue may 
be of particular importance for police audit committees where the members are not routinely 
involved in other meetings and do not have the same rights of access to information as do 
local authority councillors. Arrangements to provide the members with an appropriate level 
of information and updates and a protocol for managing information requests should be 
discussed and agreed.

Private meetings with external auditors and with internal auditors are a common feature of 
audit committees in the private sector and in other parts of the public sector. The aim of this 

120



Chapter 6 \ Independence and accountability

Page 37

is to ensure that there are opportunities to raise any concerns. In local authorities this has 
proved difficult to replicate because of the requirements for committee meetings to be held in 
public. Some authorities have approached this by specifying that such meetings are informal. 
Authorities should aim to provide full opportunities for auditors, external and internal, to have 
access to the chair of the audit committee.

ACCOUNTABILITY 
Given its role in the governance structure and in promoting the principles of good governance, 
the audit committee should be clear how it supports one of the key principles: accountability. 
It is also important that the audit committee is, in its turn, held to account on the extent to 
which it has fulfilled its purpose. For an audit committee, accountability has to be considered 
under three aspects, each of which is considered below:

1.	 supporting the authority’s accountability to the public and stakeholders

2.	 supporting accountability within the authority

3.	 holding the audit committee to account.

Supporting the authority’s accountability to the public and 
stakeholders
The committee has a key role in reviewing the public reports of the authority and in helping 
the authority to discharge its responsibilities in this area. Committee meetings will normally 
be held in public, with the exception of exempt items, so this also contributes to the 
accountability of the authority to the public and stakeholders. 

The Home Office publishes an Accountability System Statement for Policing and Crime 
Reduction which identifies the formal accountability relationships of policing bodies. The 
statement does not identify a formal accountability role for the police audit committee, 
which reflects its role as an advisory body supporting the PCC and chief constable. For police 
audit committees, therefore, the committee provides support for accountability to the public 
and other stakeholders but does not directly discharge that responsibility itself.

A wider group of stakeholders, such as partner organisations or the police and crime panel, 
may have an interest in the work of the committee, although there is no direct accountability 
relationship between the panel and the audit committee. Holding open meetings and 
publishing agendas and minutes will support wider communication and transparency.

Supporting accountability within the authority
Through review of internal and external audit reports, monitoring of risk registers and 
other key strategies, the audit committee will hold to account those responsible for the 
implementation of recommendations and action plans. In addition, by overseeing the 
process of evaluating and improving governance, risk management and control, the audit 
committee helps those responsible for governance to ensure that accountability throughout 
the authority is working well.

The audit committee is most effective in supporting internal accountability when it discusses 
governance, risk or control issues with the responsible managers directly. In the most recent 

121

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/accountability-system-statement-for-policing-and-crime-reduction


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 38

CIPFA survey, this was an area that heads of internal audit identified for improvement in their 
audit committees.

Holding the audit committee to account
The audit committee should be held to account on a regular basis by the group to which it 
is accountable. For a local authority audit committee, this will be the council. For a police 
audit committee, it will be both the PCC and the chief constable. The aspects that should be 
specifically considered include:

�� whether the committee has fulfilled its agreed terms of reference

�� whether the committee has adopted recommended practice

�� whether the development needs of committee members have been assessed and 
whether committee members are accessing briefing and training opportunities

�� whether the committee has assessed its own effectiveness or been the subject of a 
review and the conclusions and actions from that review

�� what impact the committee has on the improvement of governance, risk and control 
within the authority.

The preparation of an annual report by the committee can be a helpful way to address 
the key areas where the committee should be held to account. The annual report should 
be presented to those charged with governance: council or PCC and chief constable as 
appropriate. In addition, publication of the report will assist other stakeholders to understand 
the work of the committee.

It can be difficult to ensure that those not directly involved in the work of the committee 
achieve an understanding of its role. Where there is a lack of understanding about the work 
of the committee, then the process of holding the committee to account may not operate 
effectively. This is considered further in Chapter 7. 

122



Page 39

CHAPTER 7

Membership and effectiveness

Extract from the Position Statement

6	 Good audit committees are characterised by:

�� a membership that is balanced, objective, independent of mind, knowledgeable and properly 
trained to fulfil their role. The political balance of a formal committee of an authority will 
reflect the political balance of the council, however, it is important to achieve the right mix of 
apolitical expertise

�� a membership that is supportive of good governance principles and their practical application 
towards the achievement of organisational objectives

�� a strong independently minded chair – displaying a depth of knowledge, skills and interest. 
There are many personal qualities needed to be an effective chair, but key to these are:

–– promoting apolitical open discussion

–– managing meetings to cover all business and encouraging a candid approach from all 
participants

–– an interest in and knowledge of financial and risk management, audit, accounting 
concepts and standards, and the regulatory regime

�� unbiased attitudes – treating auditors, the executive and management fairly

�� the ability to challenge the executive and senior managers when required. 

COMPOSITION AND OPERATION OF THE COMMITTEE
The composition of the committee will be a key factor in achieving the characteristics of a 
good audit committee.

Audit committees in Welsh local authorities and combined authorities in England and 
in police audit committees in England and Wales are subject to specific rules on the 
composition of the audit committee as follows:

�� The composition of the audit committee for Welsh local authorities is subject to the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011, which requires local authority audit committees to 
have at least one lay member. Up to one-third of the committee membership may be lay 
members. Only one of the committee’s members may be from the council’s executive 
and this must not be the leader or the elected mayor.

�� Police audit committees should comprise between three and five members who are 
independent of the PCC and the force as required by the Financial Management Code 
of Practice for the Police Forces of England and Wales (Home Office, 2013 – due to be 
updated in 2018).

123

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 40

�� Combined authorities in England are required to establish an audit committee by the 
Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 2016. The Act and the subsequent Combined 
Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit 
Committees) Order 2017 require combined authority audit committees to include at 
least one independent member. The definition of independent is set out in the statutory 
guidance.

In other parts of the local authority sector there are no statutory requirements that determine 
the composition of the audit committee. In Northern Ireland, the Chief Local Government 
Auditor has recommended that suitable independent members are appointed to all local 
authority audit committees. In the most recent report, ten out of eleven local authority 
committees had appointed at least one independent member to the committee. 

CIPFA endorses the approach of mandating the inclusion of a lay or independent member 
and recommends that those authorities, for whom it is not a requirement, actively explore the 
appointment of an independent member to the committee. 

In other sectors, the audit committee can be small – fewer than six members. Guidance on 
Audit Committees (FRC, 2016) says that an audit committee should have at least three non-
executive directors. The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee Handbook (HM Treasury, 2016) 
states that a committee should have at least three members of which there should be two 
non-executive board members, one of whom will chair the committee; executive members are 
explicitly excluded.

In the local authority sector where membership of the committee is drawn from elected 
representatives, the depth of knowledge and experience that is desirable may be harder to 
achieve with a small number, however, there is a risk that creating a large committee will 
mean that it is harder to create the necessary focus. There is no consistency in the local 
government sector on the size of the committee. CIPFA’s 2016 survey of audit committees 
found that size of the committee ranged from five to fifteen or more, although 47% had 
between six and eight members, with 2% having fewer and 50% having more. The survey 
showed that the average size of the committee had increased since CIPFA’s 2011 survey.

Elected members of local authorities are members of the council and thus are part of the 
body charged with governance. Elected members bring knowledge of the organisation, its 
objectives and policies to the audit committee. Members who are also involved in scrutiny or 
standards offer additional knowledge of activity, risks and challenges affecting those areas. 

Having executive members on the committee is discouraged as it could deter the committee 
from being able to challenge or hold to account the executive on governance, risk and control 
matters. This approach is consistent with audit committee practice in other parts of the 
public sector and in the private sector. Inviting an executive member onto the committee 
should be avoided unless the committee has other compensating arrangements to ensure 
independence, for example, a majority of independent members or an independent chair. The 
executive member should not chair the committee. The leader of the cabinet, administration 
or the elected mayor should not be a member of the audit committee. However, the audit 
committee can invite members of the executive to attend to discuss issues within its remit 
and to brief the committee on the actions they are taking.

124

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/1/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/contents/made
https://www.niauditoffice.gov.uk/publications/local-government-annual-report-2017
https://www.frc.org.uk/directors/corporate-governance-and-stewardship/uk-corporate-governance-code/frc-guidance-for-boards-and-board-committees
https://www.frc.org.uk/directors/corporate-governance-and-stewardship/uk-corporate-governance-code/frc-guidance-for-boards-and-board-committees
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/audit-committee-handbook
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/corporate-governance-documentation/cipfa-survey-of-audit-committees-in-local-authorities-and-police


Chapter 7 \ Membership and effectiveness


Page 41

Any audit committee that is a properly constituted committee of the council will need 
to abide by the rules concerning political balance, as outlined in Section 15 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. Under the statutory guidance, combined authorities are 
required to reflect the political balance of the constituent authorities as far as is practicable. 
One factor that is important for the success of the committee is ensuring a non-political 
approach to meetings and discussions. When establishing a joint audit committee, the 
political balance of both authorities will need to be considered. 

Good practice shows that co-option of independent members is beneficial to the audit 
committee. It is a requirement for police audit committees, English combined authorities 
and for local authorities in Wales, and it is usual practice for non-executives to be committee 
members in health and central government audit committees. The injection of an external 
view can often bring a new approach to committee discussions. Authorities that have chosen 
to recruit independent members have done so for a number of reasons:

�� to bring additional knowledge and expertise to the committee

�� to reinforce the political neutrality and independence of the committee

�� to maintain continuity of committee membership where membership is affected by the 
electoral cycle.

There are some potential pitfalls to the use of independent members which should also be 
borne in mind:

�� over-reliance on the independent members by other committee members can lead to a 
lack of engagement across the full committee

�� lack of organisational knowledge or ‘context’ among the independent members when 
considering risk registers or audit reports

�� effort is required from both independent members and officers/staff to establish an 
effective working relationship and establish appropriate protocols for briefings and 
access to information. 

These factors should be taken into account when developing the committee structure and 
plans put in place to provide an appropriate level of support to the audit committee member.

Voting rights of independent members
Local authorities should have regard to Section 13 of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 which relates to the voting rights of non-elected committee members. Where the audit 
committee is operating as an advisory committee under the Local Government Act 1972, 
making recommendations rather than policy, then all members of the committee should 
be able to vote on that recommendation. If the council wishes to delegate decisions to the 
committee, for example the adoption of the financial statements, then the independent 
member will not be able to vote on those matters for decision. The minutes of the meeting 
should make clear in what capacity the committee is voting.

Recruitment process
The job description of the independent member should be drawn up and agreed before 
commencing recruitment. The requirement for relevant knowledge or expertise should be 

125

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/contents


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 42

clearly determined. Vacancies should be publicly advertised, as is good practice for any 
public appointment. Candidates should be able to demonstrate their political independence 
and their suitability should be checked. Only the independent members for combined 
authorities have to satisfy specific definitions of their independence. Appropriate enquiries 
will need to be made as part of the recruitment process to ensure that any applicants satisfy 
the requirements, and continuation of compliance should be monitored during the term of 
appointment.

Independent members’ appointments should be for a fixed term and be formally approved 
by the local authority’s council or the PCC and the chief constable. Provision should be made 
for early termination and extension to avoid lack of clarity in the future. While operating as 
a member of the audit committee, the independent member should follow the same code of 
conduct as elected members and a register of interests should be maintained.

The primary considerations when considering audit committee membership should be 
maximising the committee’s knowledge base and skills, being able to demonstrate objectivity 
and independence, and having a membership that will work together. 

KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERIENCE
There is a range of knowledge and experience that audit committee members can bring to 
the committee and which will enable it to perform effectively. No one committee member 
would be expected to be expert in all areas, but there are some core areas of knowledge that 
committee members will need to acquire. There will also be a need for regular briefings or 
training to help committee members keep up to date or extend their knowledge.

Appendix C sets out a knowledge and skills framework for audit committee members and the 
committee chair. This can be used to guide members on their training needs and to evaluate 
the overall knowledge and skills of the committee. It can also be used when recruiting 
independent members. A distinction is made between core areas of knowledge that all audit 
committee members should seek to acquire and a range of specialisms that can add value to 
the committee. 

The audit committee should review risks, controls and assurances that cover the whole 
operation of the authority so knowledge of specific service areas will be helpful. Other areas of 
specialist knowledge and experience, for example in accountancy, audit, governance and risk 
management, will add value to the committee.

Skills and competencies
A number of skills are beneficial for the audit committee member to have. There are also 
specific skills that the audit committee chair will need. Many of these skills are not unique to 
the role of audit committee member and experience in other member or non-executive roles 
will have helped to build these skills. Many authorities have training and development plans 
for elected members, which may include similar skill or competency training opportunities. 
Evidence of appropriate skills and knowledge should also be sought where independent 
members are being recruited to the committee.

126



Chapter 7 \ Membership and effectiveness


Page 43

Self-assessment and training
Audit committee members should be willing to review their knowledge and skills, for example, 
as part of a self-assessment process or training needs analysis. Regardless of the knowledge 
and skills a member has when joining the committee, there needs to be a commitment to 
participate in training and development to ensure that knowledge is kept up to date. The 
authority should establish a programme of support that involves induction training, regular 
briefings and updates as well as formal training programmes. This may require the allocation  
of a budget to provide appropriate support.

Role of the chair
Police audit committees and some authority audit committees may advertise specifically 
for an independent chair. Following appointment, it would be expected that the person 
would remain as chair for their appointed period. Where the chair is an elected councilor, 
the appointment is likely to be made during the annual council and may only be for that 
committee cycle. Whether undertaken during recruitment or the annual committee cycle, 
ideally the selection of the chair will take into account the characteristics required of an 
effective chair. These include:

�� an ability to plan the work of the committee over the year and beyond

�� skills of managing meetings

�� an ability to bring an objective, apolitical attitude

�� a core knowledge and skills required of audit committee members

�� a clear focus on the role of the committee and ambition to lead the committee in line 
with good governance principles

�� a focus on improvement and securing agreement on actions.

The tenure of the audit committee chair remains a matter for the authority. In making this 
decision, it should be recognised that a period of continuity can be helpful, particularly for 
the development of greater knowledge and expertise, while rotation also helps to deliver a 
new perspective.

DEVELOPING AUDIT COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS
An audit committee’s effectiveness should be judged by the contribution it makes to, and the 
beneficial impact it has on, the authority’s business. Since it is primarily an advisory body, 
it can be more difficult to identify how the audit committee has made a difference. Evidence 
of effectiveness will usually be characterised as ‘influence’, ‘persuasion’ and ‘support’. A good 
standard of performance against recommended practice, together with a knowledgeable and 
experienced membership, are essential requirements for delivering effectiveness.

Using the recommended practice in this publication should help the authority to achieve 
a good standard of performance. The evaluation at Appendix D will support an assessment 
against recommended practice to inform and support the audit committee. Authorities are 
encouraged not to regard meeting recommended practice as a tick-box activity, and they 
should recognise that achieving recommended practice does not mean necessarily that the 
committee is effective. 127



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 44

The selection of audit committee members, their knowledge, skills and experience are an 
essential component of an effective committee. Regular briefings and training are essential to 
keep members up to date in their role. Members will become more effective with experience 
so it is helpful to have some continuity of membership on the committee.

The approach and priorities of the audit committee will need to adapt to the risks and 
challenges facing the authority and reflect the maturity of its governance, risk and control 
arrangements. For example, in a new authority or one that has gone through significant 
structural change, there may be little continuity of governance and control arrangements. As 
a result, the audit committee will focus on the establishment of appropriate arrangements. 

Where an authority has been found to have significant weaknesses in its governance or 
control arrangements, perhaps identified through an inspection or audit, then the audit 
committee will support the implementation of recommendations or action plans. Where there 
are barriers to that improvement, the committee may need to adopt a more questioning or 
challenging role to help break down those barriers. In those authorities where governance, 
risk and control are satisfactory overall, the audit committee may give greater focus to new 
risks and developments, but will also want to seek assurance that satisfactory performance 
does not lead to complacency and lack of innovation. 

COMMON AREAS OF DIFFICULTY FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES
It is not uncommon for audit committees to face difficulties or barriers to fulfilling their 
potential effectiveness. CIPFA’s survey of audit committees in 2016 identified the principal 
barriers faced by both local authority and police audit committees. For local authorities, the 
top three were: 

1.	 limited knowledge and experience of the members

2.	 the committee not being seen as a priority by other members

3.	 the intrusion of political interests. 

For police audit committees, the top three barriers were: 

1.	 the committee was not considered a priority by the PCC and chief constable

2.	 the committee was not considered a priority by senior management

3.	 poor relationships between committee members and staff. 

The barriers reflect the different make-up of local authority and police committees. 

Some of these may be common issues that audit committees in any sector may face; others 
may be unique to the local authority or police setting. The following assessment may be of 
value in helping audit committee members or those supporting the committee to recognise 
and address the challenges.

128



Chapter 7 \ Membership and effectiveness


Page 45

Areas of difficulty Possible causes Possible improvement options

Lack of experience and 
continuity of knowledge among 
audit committee members

�� Where turnover of 
membership is very 
frequent, it will be difficult 
for the committee to build 
up experience

�� Enhanced level of support and 
training to members will be 
required

�� To enhance continuity the 
authority could consider 
recruitment of independent 
members

Audit committee members 
do not feel confident in their 
knowledge of particular areas

�� Lack of training and support �� Enhanced level of support and 
training to members

Independent members lack 
knowledge of the organisation 
and lack connections with key 
managers

�� Poor induction

�� Limited opportunities to 
engage with the organisation 
outside formal meetings

�� Improve induction

�� Identify appropriate 
meetings, briefings or 
other opportunities that 
independent members could 
attend to help develop better 
understanding

Poor management of audit 
committee meetings means 
that work is unfocused or fails 
to reach a clear conclusion

�� Lack of experience or skill in 
managing meetings by the 
chair

�� Committee members are 
unsure about their role

�� Poor support from the 
committee secretary

�� Training and support

�� Develop a mentoring/
coaching programme

�� Chair seeks feedback from 
meeting participants

�� Consider skills and experience 
in the selection of the chair

�� Provide training and guidance 
to committee members on 
their role

�� Improve committee support

The audit committee spends 
too much time on minor areas 
rather than strategic or wide-
ranging issues

�� Agenda management fails to 
prioritise key areas

�� The chair does not intervene 
to keep focus at an 
appropriate level

�� Review the process of agenda 
development

�� Review the terms of reference 
and provide training

�� The chair seeks feedback from 
meeting participants

�� Provide the chair with 
committee management 
training

The audit committee is little 
known or understood in many 
parts of the authority

�� The audit committee fails to 
engage with many parts of 
the authority

�� Attendance is often limited 
to the CFO and the head of 
internal audit

�� Expand attendance at audit 
committee meetings. For 
example, invite heads of 
service when major risks 
or control issues are being 
discussed

129



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 46

Areas of difficulty Possible causes Possible improvement options

The audit committee is little 
known or understood by those 
not on the committee

�� Lack of feedback or reporting 
arrangements

�� Invite newly elected members 
to attend audit committee 
meetings

�� Review reporting 
arrangements

�� Consider an annual report that 
sets out how the committee 
has fulfilled its responsibilities

Recommendations made by 
the audit committee are not 
actioned

�� Poor relationship between 
the committee and the 
executive or senior officers

�� The audit committee’s 
recommendations are not 
adequately aligned to 
organisational objectives 

�� A senior officer provides 
internal facilitation to support 
improved relationships

�� Improve knowledge and skills 
among audit committee 
members

�� Ensure better engagement 
with appropriate managers 
or the executive at an earlier 
stage

The audit committee fails to 
make recommendations or 
follow up on issues of concern

�� A weak or inexperienced 
chair

�� Members are inexperienced 
or do not fully understand 
their role

�� Poor briefing arrangements 
prior to meetings

�� Committee reports fail to 
adequately identify the 
action required by the 
committee

�� Provide guidance and support

�� Improve briefing to the chair 
prior to the meeting

�� Ensure reports contain clear 
recommendations

The audit committee strays 
beyond its terms of reference, 
for example undertaking a 
scrutiny role

�� The terms of reference do 
not adequately scope the 
work of the committee

�� Misunderstanding about the 
role of the committee

�� Inadequate guidance from 
committee secretary to the 
chair on its role

�� Review the terms of reference 
and provide training and 
guidance

130



Chapter 7 \ Membership and effectiveness


Page 47

Areas of difficulty Possible causes Possible improvement options

Political points of view interfere 
with the work of the audit 
committee

�� Lack of understanding about 
the role of the committee

�� Seek feedback from those 
interacting with the 
committee or external 
assessment

�� Provide support for or training 
for the chair

�� Consider the inclusion or role 
of independent members

A breakdown in the relationship 
between committee members 
and the executive, PCC or 
chief constable or with senior 
management

�� Lack of understanding about 
the role of the committee

�� Differing perceptions on the 
value of the committee

�� Personality clashes

�� Review the terms of reference 
and provide training and 
guidance

�� A senior officer provides 
internal facilitation to support 
improved relationships

�� Seek an external assessment 
or facilitation

�� Change the chair or 
membership, if the 
constitution or opportunity 
arises

APPROACHES TO IMPROVEMENT AND EVALUATING 
EFFECTIVENESS

The areas included on audit committee agendas are regularly impacted by new legislation, 
professional guidance and research, so even knowledgeable and experienced audit 
committee members need access to briefings or training to remain effective. Where areas 
for development have been identified in the operation of the committee, then a more 
comprehensive action plan may be required. 

Seeking feedback on the operation of the committee may be helpful to supplement a self-
assessment. Those interacting regularly with the committee or relying on its output would be 
the principal sources of feedback. Where the committee is struggling, an external assessment 
may be an appropriate way to evaluate the committee and to develop an action plan for 
improvement.

Appendix E contains an assessment tool to help audit committee members to consider where 
it is most effective and where there may be scope to do more. To be considered effective, 
the audit committee should be able to identify evidence of its impact or influence linked to 
specific improvements.

131



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 48

132



Page 49

APPENDIX A

Sector and devolved 
government guidance

133



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 50

PA
RT

 1
 –

 C
O

M
PA

R
IS

O
N

 O
F 

SE
CT

O
R

 A
N

D
 D

EV
O

LV
ED

 G
O

VE
R

N
M

EN
T 

R
EG

U
LA

TI
O

N
S 

A
N

D
 G

U
ID

A
N

CE
 O

N
 

K
EY

 A
R

EA
S 

R
EL

AT
ED

 T
O

 A
U

D
IT

 C
O

M
M

IT
TE

ES

Gu
id

an
ce

 a
re

a
En

gl
an

d

Co
m

bi
ne

d 
au

th
or

it
ie

s 

W
al

es
 

Lo
ca

l  
au

th
or

it
ie

s

En
gl

an
d 

an
d 

W
al

es

Po
lic

e 

En
gl

an
d,

 N
or

th
er

n 
Ir

el
an

d 
an

d 
Sc

ot
la

nd
 

Lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
ri

ti
es

 

Es
ta

bl
is

hm
en

t o
f 

au
di

t c
om

m
itt

ee
�
�

Re
qu

ire
d

�
�

Re
qu

ire
d

�
�

Re
qu

ire
d

�
�

It
 is

 re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
th

at
 th

is
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 a
 c

om
bi

ne
d 

bo
dy

 fo
r b

ot
h 

PC
C 

an
d 

ch
ie

f c
on

st
ab

le

N
o 

gu
id

an
ce

Co
m

po
si

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
au

di
t 

co
m

m
itt

ee

�
�

Co
m

m
itt

ee
s 

m
us

t h
av

e 
at

 le
as

t o
ne

 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t p
er

so
n 

as
 d

efi
ne

d 
by

 
gu

id
an

ce

�
�

Th
e 

co
m

m
itt

ee
 s

ho
ul

d 
re

fle
ct

 th
e 

po
lit

ic
al

 b
al

an
ce

 o
f t

he
 c

on
st

itu
en

t 
au

th
or

iti
es

, a
s 

fa
r a

s 
is

 re
as

on
ab

ly
 

pr
ac

tic
al

�
�

Th
e 

co
m

m
itt

ee
 m

ay
 n

ot
 in

cl
ud

e 
an

 
of

fic
er

 o
f t

he
 c

om
bi

ne
d 

au
th

or
ity

 o
r a

 
co

ns
tit

ue
nt

 c
ou

nc
il

�
�

Co
m

m
itt

ee
s 

m
us

t h
av

e 
at

 le
as

t 
on

e 
la

y 
m

em
be

r. 
Up

 to
 o

ne
-t

hi
rd

 
of

 th
e 

co
m

m
itt

ee
 m

em
be

rs
hi

p 
m

ay
 b

e 
la

y 
m

em
be

rs
. O

nl
y 

on
e 

of
 th

e 
co

m
m

itt
ee

’s
 m

em
be

rs
 

m
ay

 b
e 

fr
om

 th
e 

co
un

ci
l’s

 
ex

ec
ut

iv
e 

an
d 

th
is

 m
us

t n
ot

 b
e 

th
e 

le
ad

er
 o

r t
he

 e
le

ct
ed

 m
ay

or

�
�

Po
lic

e 
au

di
t c

om
m

itt
ee

s 
sh

ou
ld

 
co

m
pr

is
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

th
re

e 
an

d 
fiv

e 
m

em
be

rs
 w

ho
 a

re
 in

de
pe

nd
en

t o
f t

he
 

PC
C 

an
d 

th
e 

fo
rc

e 
(w

he
re

 a
pp

lic
ab

le
)

N
o 

gu
id

an
ce

134



Appendix A \ Sector and devolved government guidance


Page 51

Gu
id

an
ce

 a
re

a
En

gl
an

d

Co
m

bi
ne

d 
au

th
or

it
ie

s 

W
al

es
 

Lo
ca

l  
au

th
or

it
ie

s

En
gl

an
d 

an
d 

W
al

es

Po
lic

e 

En
gl

an
d,

 N
or

th
er

n 
Ir

el
an

d 
an

d 
Sc

ot
la

nd
 

Lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
ri

ti
es

 

Sp
ec

ifi
ed

 
fu

nc
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 
au

di
t c

om
m

itt
ee

a)
 	

Re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 s

cr
ut

in
is

e 
th

e 
au

th
or

ity
's 

fin
an

ci
al

 a
ff

ai
rs

b)
 	

Re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 a

ss
es

s 
th

e 
au

th
or

ity
's 

ris
k 

m
an

ag
em

en
t, 

in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 a
nd

 
co

rp
or

at
e 

go
ve

rn
an

ce
 a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

c)
 	

Re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 a

ss
es

s 
th

e 
ec

on
om

y,
 

ef
fic

ie
nc

y 
an

d 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s 

w
ith

 
w

hi
ch

 re
so

ur
ce

s 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

us
ed

 in
 

di
sc

ha
rg

in
g 

th
e 

au
th

or
ity

's 
fu

nc
tio

ns

d)
 	

M
ak

e 
re

po
rt

s 
an

d 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 to

 
th

e 
co

m
bi

ne
d 

au
th

or
ity

a)
 	

Re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 s

cr
ut

in
is

e 
th

e 
au

th
or

ity
's 

fin
an

ci
al

 a
ff

ai
rs

b)
 	

M
ak

e 
re

po
rt

s 
an

d 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 in

 re
la

tio
n 

to
 

th
e 

au
th

or
ity

's 
fin

an
ci

al
 a

ff
ai

rs

c)
 	

Re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 a

ss
es

s 
th

e 
ris

k 
m

an
ag

em
en

t, 
in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
 

an
d 

co
rp

or
at

e 
go

ve
rn

an
ce

 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
 o

f t
he

 a
ut

ho
rit

y

d)
 	

M
ak

e 
re

po
rt

s 
an

d 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 to

 th
e 

au
th

or
ity

 o
n 

th
e 

ad
eq

ua
cy

 
an

d 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s 

of
 th

os
e 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

e)
 	

Ov
er

se
e 

th
e 

au
th

or
ity

's 
in

te
rn

al
 a

nd
 e

xt
er

na
l a

ud
it 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

f) 
	

Re
vi

ew
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

au
th

or
ity

Co
ns

id
er

 th
e 

in
te

rn
al

 a
nd

 e
xt

er
na

l a
ud

it 
re

po
rt

s 
of

 b
ot

h 
th

e 
PC

C 
an

d 
th

e 
ch

ie
f 

co
ns

ta
bl

e

Ad
vi

se
 th

e 
PC

C 
an

d 
th

e 
ch

ie
f c

on
st

ab
le

 
ac

co
rd

in
g 

to
 g

oo
d 

go
ve

rn
an

ce
 p

rin
ci

pl
es

 
an

d 
ad

op
t a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 ri

sk
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 p
ro

pe
r 

pr
ac

tic
es

N
o 

gu
id

an
ce

Re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

ie
s 

of
 th

e 
au

di
t 

co
m

m
itt

ee
 

in
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 
ex

te
rn

al
 a

ud
it

�
�

N
o 

gu
id

an
ce

�
�

Ov
er

se
e 

ex
te

rn
al

 a
ud

it 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
�
�

Re
vi

ew
 e

xt
er

na
l a

ud
it 

re
po

rt
s

N
o 

gu
id

an
ce

135



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 52

Gu
id

an
ce

 a
re

a
En

gl
an

d

Co
m

bi
ne

d 
au

th
or

it
ie

s 

W
al

es
 

Lo
ca

l  
au

th
or

it
ie

s

En
gl

an
d 

an
d 

W
al

es

Po
lic

e 

En
gl

an
d,

 N
or

th
er

n 
Ir

el
an

d 
an

d 
Sc

ot
la

nd
 

Lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
ri

ti
es

 

Sp
ec

ifi
c 

gu
id

an
ce

�
�

Ci
tie

s 
an

d 
Lo

ca
l G

ov
er

nm
en

t 
De

vo
lu

tio
n 

Ac
t 2

01
6

�
�

Co
m

bi
ne

d 
Au

th
or

iti
es

 (O
ve

rv
ie

w
 

an
d 

Sc
ru

tin
y 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
s,

 A
cc

es
s 

to
 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

Au
di

t C
om

m
itt

ee
s)

 
Or

de
r 2

01
6

�
�

Lo
ca

l G
ov

er
nm

en
t (

W
al

es
) 

M
ea

su
re

 2
01

1 
St

at
ut

or
y 

Gu
id

an
ce

 fr
om

 th
e 

Lo
ca

l 
Go

ve
rn

m
en

t M
ea

su
re

 2
01

1

Fi
na

nc
ia

l M
an

ag
em

en
t C

od
e 

of
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

fo
r t

he
 P

ol
ic

e 
Fo

rc
es

 o
f E

ng
la

nd
 a

nd
 W

al
es

 
(H

om
e 

Of
fic

e,
 2

01
3 

– 
du

e 
to

 b
e 

up
da

te
d 

in
 2

01
8)

N
/A

136

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/1/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/1/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2016/9780111151754/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2016/9780111151754/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2016/9780111151754/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2016/9780111151754/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents
http://gov.wales/topics/localgovernment/publications/statguide/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/localgovernment/publications/statguide/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/localgovernment/publications/statguide/?lang=en
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice


Appendix A \ Sector and devolved government guidance


Page 53

PART 2 – GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE BY SECTOR AND DEVOLVED 
GOVERNMENT ON MATTERS THAT MAY BE INCLUDED IN AUDIT 
COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE

Accounts and Audit Regulations are statutory instruments issued by the UK or the 
devolved governments. The various regulations impose requirements on ‘relevant bodies’, 
eg a local authority, a fire and rescue authority or police body, in relation to governance, 
internal control, financial reporting and internal audit.

The Accounts and Audit Regulations do not specify that these requirements must be 
met by an audit committee. However, where it is the audit committee of a relevant 
body that undertakes or reviews the specified task, the audit committee must meet the 
requirements of the regulations and take them into account in agreeing their terms of 
reference.

The following is a summary for each sector and/or region of the sets of regulations 
affecting them, highlighting key regulations. The regulations are subject to periodic 
update by the appropriate government body and audit committee members should be 
made aware of any changes by their organisation.

Local authorities in England (including combined authorities and fire 
and rescue authorities)

Relevant government 
guidance

Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015

Governance and 
risk management 
arrangements

Regulation 3 requires that:

A relevant authority must ensure that it has a sound system of 
internal control which –

(a) 	facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the 
achievement of its aims and objectives;

(b) 	ensures that the financial and operational management of the 
authority is effective; and

(c) 	 includes effective arrangements for the management of risk

Authority’s financial 
affairs and financial 
statements

Regulation 4 relates to accounting records and control systems

Regulations 7, 8, 9 and 10 relate to the statement of accounts

Review of effectiveness of 
system of internal control 

Regulation 6 requires members of the body to consider the findings of 
the review of the effectiveness of the body’s system of internal control

Approval of annual 
governance statements

Regulation 6 relates to the approval of an AGS prepared in accordance 
with proper practices in relation to accounts 

Internal audit Regulation 5 requires a relevant body to undertake an effective internal 
audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal 
auditing standards or guidance

137

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/contents/made


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 54

Local authorities in Wales

Relevant government 
guidance

Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2014 and the Accounts and 
Audit (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018

Governance and 
risk management 
arrangements

Regulation 5 requires the following:

5.—(1) The relevant body must ensure that there is a sound system of 
internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of that body’s 
functions and whichincludes—

a) 	 arrangements for the management of risk, and

b) 	 adequate and effective financial management

Financial affairs and 
financial statements

Regulation 6 relates to accounting records and control systems

Regulations 8 and 10 relate to the statement of accounts

Review of effectiveness of 
system of internal control 

Regulation 5 requires the body to conduct a review at least once in a 
year of the effectiveness of its system of internal control and consider 
the findings of the review

Approval of annual 
governance statements

Regulation 5 requires the body to approve a statement on internal 
control prepared in accordance with proper practices

Internal audit Regulation 7 requires a local government body to maintain an 
adequate and effective system of internal audit of its accounting 
records and of its system of internal control

Review of effectiveness of 
internal audit

Regulation 7 requires that a larger relevant body must, at least once in 
each year, conduct a review of the effectiveness of its internal audit

In addition, the Local Government Measure (Wales) 2011 has an 
explicit requirement for the audit committee to oversee the authority’s 
internal audit arrangements

Local authorities in Scotland

Relevant government 
guidance

Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014

Governance and risk 
management arrangements

Regulation 5 requires the following:

A local authority is responsible for ensuring that the authority has a 
sound system of internal control which –

(a) 	facilitates the effective exercise of the authority’s functions; and

(b) 	includes arrangements for the management of risk

Financial affairs and 
financial statements

Regulation 5 requires the following:

A local authority is responsible for ensuring that the financial 
management of the authority is adequate and effective

Regulation 6 relates to accounting records and control systems

Regulations 8, 10 and 11 relate to the statement of accounts

Review of effectiveness of 
system of internal control 

Regulation 5 requires the authority to:

conduct a review at least once in each financial year of the 
effectiveness of its system of internal control.

138

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/3362/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/91/note/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/91/note/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2014/200/contents/made


Appendix A \ Sector and devolved government guidance


Page 55

Approval of annual 
governance statements

Regulation 5 relates to the approval of an AGS prepared in accordance 
with proper practices in relation to internal control

Internal audit Regulation 7 requires a local authority to operate a professional and 
objective internal auditing service in accordance with recognised 
standards and practices in relation to internal auditing

Review of effectiveness of 
internal audit

Regulation 7 requires a local authority to assess the efficiency 
and effectiveness of its internal auditing in accordance with the 
recognised standards and practices

Local authorities in Northern Ireland

Relevant government 
guidance

Local Government (Accounts and Audit) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 
2015

Governance and 
risk management 
arrangements

Regulation 4 requires a local government body to ensure that the 
financial management of the local government body is adequate and 
effective and that it has a sound system of internal control which 
facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and which includes 
arrangements for the management of risk

Authority’s financial 
affairs and financial 
statements

Regulation 5 relates to accounting records and control systems

Regulations 7 and 8 relate to the statement of accounts

Review of effectiveness of 
system of internal control 

Regulation 4 requires a review of the effectiveness of the body’s system 
of internal control and to approve a statement on internal control, 
prepared in accordance with proper practices in relation to internal 
control

Approval of annual 
governance statements

Regulation 4 requires the body to approve a statement on internal 
control, prepared in accordance with proper practices in relation to 
internal control

The accompanying guidance from the Department of the Environment 
identifies the CIPFA/Solace 2007 Framework and 2012 Addendum 
as proper practices – these have now been replaced by the 2016 
Framework

Internal audit Regulation 6 requires the local government body to undertake an 
adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records and 
of its system of risk management, internal control and governance 
processes using internal auditing standards in force from time to time

The accompanying guidance from the Department of the Environment 
identifies the PSIAS as the appropriate internal audit standard

139

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisr/2015/106/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisr/2015/106/contents/made
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-framework-2016-edition
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-framework-2016-edition


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 56

Police in England

Relevant government 
guidance

Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 – see also the 
statutory guidance Financial Management Code of Practice for the 
Police Forces of England and Wales (FMCP) (Home Office, 2013 – due to 
be updated in 2018)

Governance and 
risk management 
arrangements

Regulation 3 requires the following:

A relevant authority must ensure that it has a sound system of 
internal control which –

(a) 	facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the 
achievement of its aims and objectives;

(b) 	ensures that the financial and operational management of the 
authority is effective; and

(c) 	 includes effective arrangements for the management of risk. 

Authority’s financial 
affairs and financial 
statements

Regulation 4 relates to accounting records and control systems

Regulations 7, 8, 9 and 10 relate to the statement of accounts

Review of effectiveness of 
system of internal control 

Regulation 6 requires members of the body to consider the findings of 
the review of the effectiveness of the body’s system of internal control

Approval of annual 
governance statements

Regulation 6 relates to the approval of an AGS prepared in accordance 
with proper practices in relation to accounts 

Internal audit Regulation 5 requires a relevant body to undertake an effective internal 
audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal 
auditing standards or guidance

Police in Wales

Relevant government 
guidance

Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2014 and the Accounts and 
Audit (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 – see also the FMCP

Governance and 
risk management 
arrangements

Regulation 5 requires the following:

A local authority is responsible for ensuring that the authority has a 
sound system of internal control which –

(a)	 facilitates the effective exercise of the authority’s functions; and

(b) 	includes arrangements for the management of risk.

Financial affairs and 
financial statements

Regulation 6 relates to accounting records and control systems

Regulations 8 and 10 relate to the statement of accounts

Review of effectiveness of 
system of internal control 

Regulation 5 requires that the body to conduct a review at least once 
in a year of the effectiveness of its system of internal control and 
consider the findings of the review

Approval of annual 
governance statements

Regulation 5 requires the body to approve a statement on internal 
control prepared in accordance with proper practices

140

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/91/note/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/91/note/made


Appendix A \ Sector and devolved government guidance


Page 57

Internal audit Regulation 7 requires a local government body to maintain an 
adequate and effective system of internal audit of its accounting 
records and of its system of internal control

Review of effectiveness of 
internal audit

Regulation 7 requires that a larger relevant body must, at least once in 
each year, conduct a review of the effectiveness of its internal audit 

In addition, the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 has an 
explicit requirement for the audit committee to oversee the authority’s 
internal audit arrangements

141



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 58

142



Page 59

APPENDIX B

Suggested terms of reference – 
local authorities and police

INTRODUCTION
This appendix contains two sets of suggested terms of reference, one for local authorities 
and one for police. The principal difference between them is that the police audit 
committee must ensure that its terms of reference are in accordance with the Financial 
Management Code of Practice for the Police Forces of England and Wales (Home Office, 
2013 – due to be updated in 2018) and remain an advisory body.

In developing the terms of reference for an organisation, care should be taken to ensure 
that the specific regulations appropriate for the authority are taken into account. 
Appendix A sets out these requirements. In addition, where the terms of reference refer 
to internal audit, regard should be had for how the internal audit charter has allocated 
responsibilities to the committee. Some of the internal audit responsibilities identified in 
the terms of reference may not be carried out by the audit committee but by others.

SUGGESTED TERMS OF REFERENCE – LOCAL AUTHORITIES

Governance
The terms of reference should set out the committee’s position in the governance structure of 
the authority.

Statement of purpose
1	 Our audit committee is a key component of [name of authority]’s corporate governance. 

It provides an independent and high-level focus on the audit, assurance and reporting 
arrangements that underpin good governance and financial standards.

2	 The purpose of our audit committee is to provide independent assurance to the members 
[or identify others charged with governance in your authority] of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the internal control environment. It provides independent 
review of [name of authority]’s governance, risk management and control frameworks 
and oversees the financial reporting and annual governance processes. It oversees 
internal audit and external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance 
arrangements are in place.

143

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-management-code-of-practice


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 60

Governance, risk and control
3	 To review the council’s corporate governance arrangements against the good governance 

framework, including the ethical framework and consider the local code of governance.

4	 To review the AGS prior to approval and consider whether it properly reflects the risk 
environment and supporting assurances, taking into account internal audit’s opinion on 
the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s framework of governance, risk 
management and control.

5	 To consider the council’s arrangements to secure value for money and review assurances 
and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements.

6	 To consider the council’s framework of assurance and ensure that it adequately 
addresses the risks and priorities of the council.

7	 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the council.

8	 To monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the committee.

9	 To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the 
implementation of agreed actions.

10	 To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the council from fraud and 
corruption.

11	 To monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources.

12	 To review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant partnerships or 
collaborations.

To fulfil the requirements of the Local Authority Measure within their terms of reference, 
local authorities in Wales should identify those aspects which are specified in the Measure. 
See Appendix A for details. CIPFA considers that the requirement to review and make 
recommendations on the authority’s financial affairs will be fulfilled by reference to items 5, 
9 and 10 in these suggested terms of reference as well as those under financial reporting.

Internal audit
13	 To approve the internal audit charter. 

14	 To review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers of internal 
audit services and to make recommendations.

15	 To approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including internal audit’s resource 
requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and any work required to 
place reliance upon those other sources.

16	 To approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and resource 
requirements.

17	 To make appropriate enquiries of both management and the head of internal audit to 
determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations.

18	 To consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from additional roles 
or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the head of internal audit. To approve 
and periodically review safeguards to limit such impairments.

144



Appendix B \ Suggested terms of reference – local authorities and police


Page 61

19	 To consider reports from the head of internal audit on internal audit’s performance 
during the year, including the performance of external providers of internal audit 
services. These will include:

a)	 updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of concern and 
action in hand as a result of internal audit work

b)	 regular reports on the results of the QAIP

c)	 reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform to the PSIAS 
and LGAN, considering whether the non-conformance is significant enough that it 
must be included in the AGS. 

20	 To consider the head of internal audit’s annual report:

a)	 The statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and LGAN and the results 
of the QAIP that support the statement – these will indicate the reliability of the 
conclusions of internal audit.

b)	 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control together with the summary of the work 
supporting the opinion – these will assist the committee in reviewing the AGS. 

21	 To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested.

22	 To receive reports outlining the action taken where the head of internal audit has 
concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be unacceptable to 
the authority or there are concerns about progress with the implementation of agreed 
actions.

23	 To contribute to the QAIP and in particular, to the external quality assessment of internal 
audit that takes place at least once every five years.

24	 To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the AGS, where 
required to do so by the Accounts and Audit Regulations (see Appendix A).

25	 To provide free and unfettered access to the audit committee chair for the head of 
internal audit, including the opportunity for a private meeting with the committee.

External audit
26	 To support the independence of external audit through consideration of the external 

auditor’s annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues raised by 
PSAA or the authority’s auditor panel as appropriate.

27	 To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports and the report to those 
charged with governance.

28	 To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.

29	 To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value 
for money.

30	 To commission work from internal and external audit.

31	 To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between external and 
internal audit and other inspection agencies or relevant bodies.

145



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 62

Financial reporting
32	 To review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider whether appropriate 

accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns arising from the 
financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the 
council.

33	 To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on issues 
arising from the audit of the accounts.  

Accountability arrangements
34	 To report to those charged with governance on the committee’s findings, conclusions and 

recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of their governance, risk 
management and internal control frameworks, financial reporting arrangements, and 
internal and external audit functions.

35	 To report to full council on a regular basis on the committee’s performance in relation to 
the terms of reference and the effectiveness of the committee in meeting its purpose.

36	 To publish an annual report on the work of the committee.

SUGGESTED TERMS OF REFERENCE – POLICE
There is no formal requirement as to how the audit committee relates to the governance 
structures of the PCC and the chief constable, but it is recommended that this is clearly 
set out in the terms of reference.

Statement of purpose
1	 Our [audit] [joint audit] committee is a key component of [name of body]’s corporate 

governance. It provides an independent and high-level focus on the audit, assurance and 
reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and financial standards.

2	 The purpose of our [audit] [joint audit] committee is to provide independent advice and 
recommendation to [select from ‘the police and crime commissioner’ (or name), ‘the 
chief constable’ (or name)] on the adequacy of the governance and risk management 
frameworks, the internal control environment, and financial reporting, thereby helping 
to ensure efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in place. To this end the 
committee is enabled and required to have oversight of, and to provide independent 
review of, the effectiveness of [name of body]’s governance, risk management and 
control frameworks, its financial reporting and annual governance processes, and 
internal audit and external audit.

3	 These terms of reference will summarise the core functions of the committee in relation 
to the office of the police and crime commissioner (OPCC) and to the constabulary 
and describe the protocols in place to enable it to operate independently, robustly and 
effectively.

146



Appendix B \ Suggested terms of reference – local authorities and police


Page 63

Governance, risk and control
The committee will provide advice and recommendations to the PCC or chief constable in 
relation to the following areas:

4	 Review the corporate governance arrangements against the good governance framework, 
including the ethical framework and consider the local code of governance.

5	 Review the annual governance statement[s] prior to approval and consider whether 
[it] [they] properly [reflects] [reflect] the governance, risk and control environment and 
supporting assurances and identify any actions required for improvement.

6	 Consider the arrangements to secure value for money and review assurances and 
assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements.

7	 Consider the framework of assurance and ensure that it adequately addresses the risks 
and priorities of the OPCC/the constabulary.

8	 Monitor the effective development and operation of risk management, review the risk 
profile, and monitor progress of the PCC/the chief constable in addressing risk-related 
issues reported to them.

9	 Consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the implementation 
of agreed actions.

10	 Review arrangements for the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm from fraud and 
corruption and monitor the effectiveness of the counter fraud strategy, actions and resources.

11	 To review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant partnerships or 
collaborations.

Internal audit 
The committee will provide advice and recommendations to the PCC or chief constable in 
relation to the following areas:

12	 Annually review the internal audit charter and resources.

13	 Review the internal audit plan and any proposed revisions to the internal audit plan.

14	 Oversee the appointment and consider the adequacy of the performance of the internal 
audit service and its independence.

15	 Consider the head of internal audit’s annual report and opinion, and a regular summary of 
the progress of internal audit activity against the audit plan, and the level of assurance it 
can give over corporate governance arrangements.

16	 To consider the head of internal audit’s statement of the level of conformance with the 
PSIAS and LGAN and the results of the QAIP that support the statement – these will 
indicate the reliability of the conclusions of internal audit.

17	 Consider summaries of internal audit reports and such detailed reports as the 
committee may request from the PCC/the chief constable, including issues raised or 
recommendations made by the internal audit service, management response and progress 
with agreed actions.

18	 Consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the AGS, where required 
to do so by the Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2014 (see Appendix A).

147

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/3362/contents/made


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 64

19	 To consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from additional roles 
or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the head of internal audit. To make 
recommendations on safeguards to limit such impairments and periodically review their 
operation.

External audit
The committee will provide advice and recommendations to the PCC or chief constable in 
relation to the following areas:

20	 Support the independence of external audit through consideration of the external 
auditor’s annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues raised by 
either PSAA or the auditor panel as appropriate.

21	 Comment on the scope and depth of external audit work, its independence and whether 
it gives satisfactory value for money.

22	 Consider the external auditor’s annual management letter, relevant reports and the 
report to those charged with governance.

23	 Consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.

24	 Advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between external and 
internal audit and other inspection agencies or relevant bodies.

Financial reporting
The committee will provide advice and recommendations to the PCC or chief constable in 
relation to the following areas: 

25	 Review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider whether appropriate 
accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns arising from 
the financial statements or from the audit of the financial statements that need to be 
brought to the attention of the PCC and/or the chief constable.

26	 Consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on issues arising 
from the audit of the financial statements. 

Accountability arrangements
The committee will do the following: 

27	 On a timely basis report to the PCC and the chief constable with its advice and 
recommendations in relation to any matters that it considers relevant to governance, risk 
management and financial management.

28	 Report to the PCC and the chief constable on its findings, conclusions and 
recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of their governance, risk 
management and internal control frameworks, financial reporting arrangements, and 
internal and external audit functions.

29	 Review its performance against its terms of reference and objectives on an annual basis 
and report the results of this review to the PCC and the chief constable.

30	 Publish an annual report on the work of the committee.

148



Page 65

APPENDIX C

Audit committee members 
– knowledge and skills 

framework

CORE AREAS OF KNOWLEDGE
Knowledge area Details of core knowledge required How the audit committee member is 

able to apply the knowledge

Organisational 
knowledge

�� An overview of the governance 
structures of the authority and 
decision-making processes

�� Knowledge of the organisational 
objectives and major functions of the 
authority

�� This knowledge will be core to most 
activities of the audit committee 
including review of the AGS, internal 
and external audit reports and risk 
registers

Audit committee 
role and functions 
(Chapters 3 and 6)

�� An understanding of the audit 
committee’s role and place within the 
governance structures. Familiarity with 
the committee’s terms of reference 
and accountability arrangements

�� Knowledge of the purpose and role of 
the audit committee

�� This knowledge will enable the audit 
committee to prioritise its work in 
order to ensure it discharges its 
responsibilities under its terms of 
reference and to avoid overlapping 
the work of others

Governance (Chapter 
4)

�� Knowledge of the seven principles of 
the CIPFA/Solace Framework and the 
requirements of the AGS

�� Knowledge of the local code of 
governance

�� The committee will review the local 
code of governance and consider how 
governance arrangements align to the 
principles in the framework

�� The committee will plan the 
assurances it is to receive in order to 
adequately support the AGS

�� The committee will review the AGS 
and consider how the authority 
is meeting the principles of good 
governance

149



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 66

Knowledge area Details of core knowledge required How the audit committee member is 
able to apply the knowledge

Internal audit 
(Chapter 4)

�� An awareness of the key principles of 
the PSIAS and the LGAN 

�� Knowledge of the arrangements for 
delivery of the internal audit service in 
the authority and how the role of the 
head of internal audit is fulfilled

�� The audit committee has oversight 
of the internal audit function and will 
monitor its adherence to professional 
internal audit standards

�� The audit committee will review 
the assurances from internal audit 
work and will review the risk-based 
audit plan. The committee will also 
receive the annual report, including 
an opinion and information on 
conformance with professional 
standards

�� In relying on the work of internal 
audit, the committee will need to be 
confident that professional standards 
are being followed

�� The audit committee chair is likely 
to be interviewed as part of the 
external quality assessment and the 
committee will receive the outcome 
of the assessment and action plan

Financial 
management and 
accounting (Chapter 
4)

�� Awareness of the financial statements 
that a local authority must produce 
and the principles it must follow to 
produce them

�� Understanding of good financial 
management principles

�� Knowledge of how the organisation 
meets the requirements of the role 
of the CFO, as required by The Role 
of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 
Government (CIPFA, 2016) and the 
CIPFA Statement on the Role of Chief 
Financial Officers in Policing (2018)

�� Reviewing the financial statements 
prior to publication, asking questions

�� Receiving the external audit report 
and opinion on the financial audit

�� Reviewing both external and internal 
audit recommendations relating to 
financial management and controls

�� The audit committee should consider 
the role of the CFO and how this is 
met when reviewing the AGS

External audit 
(Chapter 4)

�� Knowledge of the role and functions of 
the external auditor and who currently 
undertakes this role

�� Knowledge of the key reports and 
assurances that external audit will 
provide

�� Knowledge about arrangements for the 
appointment of auditors and quality 
monitoring undertaken

�� The audit committee should meet 
with the external auditor regularly 
and receive their reports and opinions

�� Monitoring external audit 
recommendations and maximising 
benefit from audit process

�� The audit committee should monitor 
the relationship between the external 
auditor and the authority and support 
the delivery of an effective service

150

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/cipfa-statement-on-the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-of-the-police-and-crime-commissioner-and-the-chief-finance-officer-of-the-chief-constable
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/cipfa-statement-on-the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-of-the-police-and-crime-commissioner-and-the-chief-finance-officer-of-the-chief-constable


Appendix C \ Audit committee members – knowledge and skills framework


Page 67

Knowledge area Details of core knowledge required How the audit committee member is 
able to apply the knowledge

Risk management 
(Chapter 4)

�� Understanding of the principles of risk 
management, including linkage to 
good governance and decision making

�� Knowledge of the risk management 
policy and strategy of the organisation

�� Understanding of risk governance 
arrangements, including the role of 
members and of the audit committee

�� In reviewing the AGS, the committee 
will consider the robustness of 
the authority’s risk management 
arrangements and should also have 
awareness of the major risks the 
authority faces

�� Keeping up to date with the risk 
profile is necessary to support 
the review of a number of audit 
committee agenda items, including 
the risk-based internal audit 
plan, external audit plans and the 
explanatory foreword of the accounts. 
Typically, risk registers will be used to 
inform the committee

�� The committee should also review 
reports and action plans to develop 
the application of risk management 
practice

Counter fraud 
(Chapter 4)

�� An understanding of the main areas of 
fraud and corruption risk to which the 
organisation is exposed

�� Knowledge of the principles of good 
fraud risk management practice in 
accordance with the Code of Practice 
on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption (CIPFA, 2014)

�� Knowledge of the organisation’s 
arrangements for tackling fraud

�� Knowledge of fraud risks and good 
fraud risk management practice 
will be helpful when the committee 
reviews the organisation’s fraud 
strategy and receives reports on the 
effectiveness of that strategy

�� An assessment of arrangements 
should support the AGS and 
knowledge of good fraud risk 
management practice will support 
the audit committee member in 
reviewing that assessment

Values of good 
governance (Chapter 
5)

�� Knowledge of the Seven Principles of 
Public Life

�� Knowledge of the authority’s key 
arrangements to uphold ethical 
standards for both members and staff

�� Knowledge of the whistleblowing 
arrangements in the authority

�� The audit committee member 
will draw on this knowledge when 
reviewing governance issues and the 
AGS

�� Oversight of the effectiveness of 
whistleblowing will be considered as 
part of the AGS. The audit committee 
member should know to whom 
concerns should be reported

151

http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/counter-fraud-documentation/code-of-practice-on-managing-the-risk-of-fraud-and-corruption
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/counter-fraud-documentation/code-of-practice-on-managing-the-risk-of-fraud-and-corruption
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/counter-fraud-documentation/code-of-practice-on-managing-the-risk-of-fraud-and-corruption


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 68

Knowledge area Details of core knowledge required How the audit committee member is 
able to apply the knowledge

Treasury 
management (only 
if it is within the 
terms of reference 
of the committee 
to provide scrutiny) 
(Chapter 5)

�� Effective Scrutiny of Treasury 
Management is an assessment tool 
for reviewing the arrangements for 
undertaking scrutiny of treasury 
management. The key knowledge 
areas identified are:

–– regulatory requirements

–– treasury risks

–– the organisation’s treasury 
management strategy

–– the organisation’s policies and 
procedures in relation to treasury 
management

�� See also Treasure Your Assets (CfPS, 
2017) 

�� Core knowledge on treasury 
management is essential for the 
committee undertaking the role of 
scrutiny

152

http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/corporate-governance-documentation/assessment-of-effective-scrutiny
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/corporate-governance-documentation/assessment-of-effective-scrutiny
http://www.cfps.org.uk/treasure-your-assets/


Appendix C \ Audit committee members – knowledge and skills framework


Page 69

SPECIALIST KNOWLEDGE THAT ADDS VALUE TO THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE
This section may be of particular benefit when recruiting independent members.

Knowledge area Details of supplementary knowledge How the audit committee member is 
able to add value to the committee

Accountancy �� Professional qualification in 
accountancy

�� More able to engage with the review 
of the accounts and financial 
management issues coming before the 
committee

�� Having an understanding of the 
professional requirements and 
standards that the finance function 
must meet will provide helpful context 
for discussion of risks and resource 
issues

�� More able to engage with the external 
auditors and understand the results of 
audit work

Internal audit �� Professional qualification in  
internal audit

�� This would offer in-depth knowledge 
of professional standards of internal 
audit and good practice in internal 
auditing

�� The committee would be more able to 
provide oversight of internal audit and 
review the output of audit reports

Risk management �� Risk management qualification

�� Practical experience of applying risk 
management

�� Knowledge of risks and opportunities 
associated with major areas of 
activity

�� Enhanced knowledge of risk 
management will inform the 
committee’s oversight of the 
development of risk management 
practice

�� Enhanced knowledge of risks and 
opportunities will be helpful when 
reviewing risk registers

Governance and legal �� Legal qualification and knowledge 
of specific areas of interest to 
the committee, for example 
constitutional arrangements, data 
protection or contract law

�� Legal knowledge may add value when 
the committee considers areas of legal 
risk or governance issues

Service knowledge 
relevant to the 
functions of the 
organisation

�� Direct experience of managing or 
working in a service area similar to 
that operated by the authority

�� Previous scrutiny committee 
experience

�� Knowledge of relevant legislation, 
risks and challenges associated with 
major service areas will help the 
audit committee to understand the 
operational context

153



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 70

Knowledge area Details of supplementary knowledge How the audit committee member is 
able to add value to the committee

Programme and 
project management

�� Project management qualifications 
or practical knowledge of project 
management principles

�� Expert knowledge in this area will be 
helpful when considering project risk 
management or internal audit reviews

IT systems and IT 
governance

�� Knowledge gained from management 
or development work in IT

�� Knowledge in this area will be helpful 
when considering IT governance 
arrangements or audit reviews of risks 
and controls

CORE SKILLS 

Skills Key elements How the audit committee member is 
able to apply the skill

Strategic thinking 
and understanding of 
materiality

�� Able to focus on material issues and 
overall position, rather than being 
side tracked by detail

�� When reviewing audit reports, findings 
will include areas of higher risk or 
materiality to the organisation, 
but may also highlight more minor 
errors or control failures. The audit 
committee member will need to pitch 
their review at an appropriate level 
to avoid spending too much time on 
detail

Questioning and 
constructive challenge

�� Able to frame questions that draw 
out relevant facts and explanations

�� Challenging performance and 
seeking explanations while avoiding 
hostility or grandstanding

�� The audit committee will review 
reports and recommendations to 
address weaknesses in internal control. 
The audit committee member will 
seek to understand the reasons for 
weaknesses and ensure a solution is 
found

Focus on improvement �� Ensuring there is a clear plan 
of action and allocation of 
responsibility

�� The outcome of the audit committee 
will be to secure improvements to 
the governance, risk management 
or control of the organisation, 
including clearly defined actions and 
responsibilities

�� Where errors or control failures have 
occurred, then the audit committee 
should seek assurances that 
appropriate action has been taken

Able to balance 
practicality against 
theory

�� Able to understand the practical 
implications of recommendations to 
understand how they might work in 
practice

�� The audit committee should seek 
assurances that planned actions are 
practical and realistic

154



Appendix C \ Audit committee members – knowledge and skills framework


Page 71

Skills Key elements How the audit committee member is 
able to apply the skill

Clear communication 
skills and focus on the 
needs of users

�� Support the use of plain English in 
communications, avoiding jargon, 
acronyms, etc

�� The audit committee will seek to 
ensure that external documents such 
as the AGS and the narrative report in 
the accounts are well written for a  
non-expert audience

Objectivity �� Evaluate information on the basis 
of evidence presented and avoiding 
bias or subjectivity

�� The audit committee will receive 
assurance reports and review risk 
registers. There may be differences of 
opinion about the significance of risk 
and the appropriate control responses 
and the committee member will need 
to weigh up differing views

Meeting management 
skills

�� Chair the meetings effectively: 
summarise issues raised, ensure all 
participants are able to contribute, 
focus on the outcome and actions 
from the meeting

�� These skills are essential for the audit 
committee chair to help ensure that 
meetings stay on track and address 
the items on the agenda. The skills are 
desirable for all other members

155



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 72

156



Page 73

APPENDIX D

Self-assessment of  
good practice

This appendix provides a high-level review that incorporates the key principles set out in 
CIPFA’s Position Statement and this publication. Where an audit committee has a high 
degree of performance against the good practice principles, then it is an indicator that the 
committee is soundly based and has in place a knowledgeable membership. These are the 
essential factors in developing an effective audit committee. 

A regular self-assessment can be used to support the planning of the audit committee work 
programme and training plans. It can also inform an annual report. 

Good practice questions Yes Partly No

Audit committee purpose and governance  

1 Does the authority have a dedicated audit committee?

2 Does the audit committee report directly to full council? 
(applicable to local government only)

3 Do the terms of reference clearly set out the purpose of the 
committee in accordance with CIPFA’s Position Statement?

4 Is the role and purpose of the audit committee understood and 
accepted across the authority?

5 Does the audit committee provide support to the authority in 
meeting the requirements of good governance?

6 Are the arrangements to hold the committee to account for its 
performance operating satisfactorily?

Functions of the committee

7 Do the committee’s terms of reference explicitly address all the 
core areas identified in CIPFA’s Position Statement?

�� good governance

�� assurance framework, including partnerships and collaboration 
arrangements

�� internal audit

�� external audit

�� financial reporting

�� risk management

�� value for money or best value
157



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 74

Good practice questions Yes Partly No

�� counter fraud and corruption

�� supporting the ethical framework

8 Is an annual evaluation undertaken to assess whether the 
committee is fulfilling its terms of reference and that adequate 
consideration has been given to all core areas?

9 Has the audit committee considered the wider areas identified in 
CIPFA’s Position Statement and whether it would be appropriate 
for the committee to undertake them?

10 Where coverage of core areas has been found to be limited, are 
plans in place to address this?

11 Has the committee maintained its advisory role by not taking 
on any decision-making powers that are not in line with its core 
purpose?

Membership and support

12 Has an effective audit committee structure and composition of the 
committee been selected?

This should include:

�� separation from the executive

�� an appropriate mix of knowledge and skills among the 
membership

�� a size of committee that is not unwieldy

�� consideration has been given to the inclusion of at least one 
independent member (where it is not already a mandatory 
requirement)

13 Have independent members appointed to the committee been 
recruited in an open and transparent way and approved by the 
full council or the PCC and chief constable as appropriate for the 
organisation?

14 Does the chair of the committee have appropriate knowledge and 
skills?

15 Are arrangements in place to support the committee with 
briefings and training?

16 Has the membership of the committee been assessed against the 
core knowledge and skills framework and found to be satisfactory?

17 Does the committee have good working relations with key people 
and organisations, including external audit, internal audit and the 
CFO?

18 Is adequate secretariat and administrative support to the 
committee provided?

158



Appendix D \ Self-assessment of 
good practice

Page 75

Good practice questions Yes Partly No

Effectiveness of the committee

19 Has the committee obtained feedback on its performance from 
those interacting with the committee or relying on its work?

20 Are meetings effective with a good level of discussion and 
engagement from all the members?

21 Does the committee engage with a wide range of leaders and 
managers, including discussion of audit findings, risks and action 
plans with the responsible officers?

22 Does the committee make recommendations for the improvement 
of governance, risk and control and are these acted on?

23 Has the committee evaluated whether and how it is adding value 
to the organisation?

24 Does the committee have an action plan to improve any areas of 
weakness?

25 Does the committee publish an annual report to account for its 
performance and explain its work?

159



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 76

160



Page 77

APPENDIX E

Evaluating the effectiveness of 
the audit committee

Assessment key

5 Clear evidence is available from a number of sources that the committee is actively supporting 
improvements across all aspects of this area. The improvements made are clearly identifiable.

4 Clear evidence from some sources that the committee is actively and effectively supporting 
improvement across some aspects of this area.

3 The committee has had mixed experience in supporting improvement in this area. There is some 
evidence that demonstrates their impact but there are also significant gaps.

2 There is some evidence that the committee has supported improvements, but the impact of this 
support is limited.

1 No evidence can be found that the audit committee has supported improvements in this area.

Areas where the audit 
committee can add 
value by supporting 
improvement

Examples of how the audit 
committee can add value and 
provide evidence of effectiveness

Self-evaluation, 
examples, areas 
of strength and 
weakness

Overall assessment: 
5 – 1 
See key above

Promoting the principles 
of good governance 
and their application to 
decision making

�� Supporting the development of 
a local code of governance

�� Providing robust review of 
the AGS and the assurances 
underpinning it

�� Working with key members/PCC 
and chief constable to improve 
their understanding of the AGS 
and their contribution to it

�� Supporting reviews/audits of 
governance arrangements

�� Participating in self-
assessments of governance 
arrangements

�� Working with partner audit 
committees to review 
governance arrangements in 
partnerships

161



AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 78

Areas where the audit 
committee can add 
value by supporting 
improvement

Examples of how the audit 
committee can add value and 
provide evidence of effectiveness

Self-evaluation, 
examples, areas 
of strength and 
weakness

Overall assessment: 
5 – 1 
See key above

Contributing to the 
development of an 
effective control 
environment

�� Actively monitoring 
the implementation of 
recommendations from auditors

�� Encouraging ownership of the 
internal control framework by 
appropriate managers

�� Raising significant concerns 
over controls with appropriate 
senior managers

Supporting the 
establishment of 
arrangements for 
the governance of 
risk and for effective 
arrangements to manage 
risks

�� Reviewing risk management 
arrangements and their 
effectiveness, eg risk 
management benchmarking

�� Monitoring improvements

�� Holding risk owners to account 
for major/strategic risks

Advising on the 
adequacy of the 
assurance framework 
and considering whether 
assurance is deployed 
efficiently and effectively

�� Specifying its assurance needs, 
identifying gaps or overlaps in 
assurance

�� Seeking to streamline assurance 
gathering and reporting

�� Reviewing the effectiveness of 
assurance providers, eg internal 
audit, risk management, 
external audit

Supporting the quality 
of the internal audit 
activity, particularly 
by underpinning 
its organisational 
independence

�� Reviewing the audit charter 
and functional reporting 
arrangements

�� Assessing the effectiveness of 
internal audit arrangements, 
providing constructive challenge 
and supporting improvements

�� Actively supporting the quality 
assurance and improvement 
programme of internal audit

162



Appendix E \ Evaluating the effectiveness of the audit committee

Page 79

Areas where the audit 
committee can add 
value by supporting 
improvement

Examples of how the audit 
committee can add value and 
provide evidence of effectiveness

Self-evaluation, 
examples, areas 
of strength and 
weakness

Overall assessment: 
5 – 1 
See key above

Aiding the achievement 
of the authority’s goals 
and objectives through 
helping to ensure 
appropriate governance, 
risk, control and 
assurance arrangements

�� Reviewing how the governance 
arrangements support the 
achievement of sustainable 
outcomes

�� Reviewing major projects and 
programmes to ensure that 
governance and assurance 
arrangements are in place

�� Reviewing the effectiveness 
of performance management 
arrangements

Supporting the 
development of robust 
arrangements for 
ensuring value for money

�� Ensuring that assurance on 
value for money arrangements 
is included in the assurances 
received by the audit committee

�� Considering how performance in 
value for money is evaluated as 
part of the AGS

Helping the authority to 
implement the values 
of good governance, 
including effective 
arrangements for 
countering fraud and 
corruption risks

�� Reviewing arrangements 
against the standards set out 
in the Code of Practice on 
Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption (CIPFA, 2014)

�� Reviewing fraud risks and 
the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s strategy to 
address those risks

�� Assessing the effectiveness 
of ethical governance 
arrangements for both staff and 
governors

163

http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/counter-fraud-documentation/code-of-practice-on-managing-the-risk-of-fraud-and-corruption
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/counter-fraud-documentation/code-of-practice-on-managing-the-risk-of-fraud-and-corruption
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/better-governance-forum/counter-fraud-documentation/code-of-practice-on-managing-the-risk-of-fraud-and-corruption


AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE \ 2018 EDITION

Page 80

Areas where the audit 
committee can add 
value by supporting 
improvement

Examples of how the audit 
committee can add value and 
provide evidence of effectiveness

Self-evaluation, 
examples, areas 
of strength and 
weakness

Overall assessment: 
5 – 1 
See key above

Promoting effective 
public reporting to the 
authority’s stakeholders 
and local community 
and measures to improve 
transparency and 
accountability

�� Improving how the authority 
discharges its responsibilities 
for public reporting; for 
example, better targeting at the 
audience, plain English

�� Reviewing whether decision 
making through partnership 
organisations remains 
transparent and publicly 
accessible and encourages 
greater transparency

�� Publishing an annual report 
from the committee

164



WORK PROGRAMME – AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

DIRECTORS  Duncan Sharkey (Managing Director)
 Adele Taylor (Director of Resources)

LINK OFFICERS & HEADS 
OF SERVICES 

 Catherine Hickman (Lead Specialist Audit and Investigation)
 Steve Mappley (Insurance and Risk Manager)
 Ruth Watkins (Chief Accountant)
 Andrew Vallance (Head of Finance)
 Karen Shepherd (Head of Governance)

MEETING: 16th FEBRUARY 2021

ITEM RESPONSIBLE OFFICER
Key Risk Report Steve Mappley, Insurance and Risk Manager
2021/22 Audit and Investigation Plan Catherine Hickman, Lead Specialist Audit and 

Investigation
Work Programme Panel clerk

ITEMS SUGGESTED BUT NOT YET PROGRAMMED

ITEM RESPONSIBLE OFFICER
2020/21 Annual Audit and Investigation Report Catherine Hickman, Lead Specialist 

Audit and Investigation
Audited Annual Statement of Accounts Andrew Vallance, Head of Finance
External Audit IAS260 Andrew Vallance, Head of Finance
Fraud Policies Refresh Catherine Hickman, Lead Specialist 

Audit and Investigation

165

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	4 Mid year Treasury Management Update
	5 Draft Treasury Management Strategy & Prudential Indicator Report 2021/22
	6 Draft Capital Strategy 2021/22 - 2025/26
	8 2020/21 Interim Audit and Investigation Progress Report
	9 Effectiveness of Audit Committees
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
	CONTENTS
	CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
	CHAPTER 2: CIPFA’S POSITION STATEMENT: AUDIT COMMITTEES IN 
LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE
	CHAPTER 3: THE PURPOSE OF AUDIT COMMITTEES 
	CHAPTER 4: THE CORE FUNCTIONS OF AN AUDIT COMMITTEE
	INTRODUCTION
	GOOD GOVERNANCE AND THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
	INTERNAL AUDIT
	RISK MANAGEMENT
	ASSURANCE FRAMEWORKS AND ASSURANCE PLANNING
	VALUE FOR MONEY AND BEST VALUE
	COUNTERING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION
	EXTERNAL AUDIT
	FINANCIAL REPORTING
	PARTNERSHIP GOVERNANCE AND COLLABORATION AGREEMENTS 
	GOVERNANCE AND ETHICAL VALUES

	CHAPTER 5: POSSIBLE WIDER FUNCTIONS OF AN AUDIT COMMITTEE
	CONSIDERING MATTERS AT THE REQUEST OF STATUTORY OFFICERS OR OTHER COMMITTEES
	ETHICS COMMITTEE AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE ROLES
	TREASURY MANAGEMENT

	CHAPTER 6: INDEPENDENCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
	INTRODUCTION
	SECTOR AND DEVOLVED GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE
	STRUCTURE AND INDEPENDENCE
	SHARED AUDIT COMMITTEES
	AUDIT COMMITTEES IN PARTNERSHIP
	DECISION-MAKING POWERS AND DELEGATIONS
	ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS
	ACCOUNTABILITY 

	CHAPTER 7: MEMBERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS
	COMPOSITION AND OPERATION OF THE COMMITTEE
	KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERIENCE
	DEVELOPING AUDIT COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS
	COMMON AREAS OF DIFFICULTY FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES
	APPROACHES TO IMPROVEMENT AND EVALUATING EFFECTIVENESS

	APPENDIX A: SECTOR AND DEVOLVED GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE
	PART 1 – COMPARISON OF SECTOR AND DEVOLVED GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS AND GUIDANCE ON KEY AREAS RELATED TO AUDIT COMMITTEES
	PART 2 – GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE BY SECTOR AND DEVOLVED GOVERNMENT ON MATTERS THAT MAY BE INCLUDED IN AUDIT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFE

	APPENDIX B: SUGGESTED TERMS OF REFERENCE – LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE
	INTRODUCTION
	SUGGESTED TERMS OF REFERENCE – LOCAL AUTHORITIES
	SUGGESTED TERMS OF REFERENCE – POLICE

	APPENDIX C: AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS – KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK
	CORE AREAS OF KNOWLEDGE
	SPECIALIST KNOWLEDGE THAT ADDS VALUE TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
	CORE SKILLS 

	APPENDIX D: SELF-ASSESSMENT OF GOOD PRACTICE
	APPENDIX E: EVALUATING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

	10 Work Programme

